DDC Professional Journal Vol. 4 No. 2, August 2023 ISSN 1908-3130



Master of Science in Radiologic Technology

DDC PROFESSIONAL JOURNAL

Volume 4, Number 2, August 2023



Editorial Board

Miguel D. Soledad, MPA, MBM Dannalyn D. Ibañez, RRT, MAEM, Ph.D Theresa Eguia, RRT, MAEd, Ph.D

Cover design: Jose Generoso B. Angkang, RRT

Published by the Research Office

Davao Doctors College

Gen. Malvar St., Poblacion District

Davao City, Philippines 8000

© Research Office, Davao Doctors College 2023 Printed in Davao City, Philippines

ISSN 1908-3130

The DDC Professional Journal is published annually by the Research Office, Davao Doctors College, Davao City, Philippines 8000. Articles may be papers, original fundamental or applied research, and, to a limited extent, critical research in multidisciplinary areas. All papers undergo a single-blind peer review.

Tel. Nos. (082) 222-0850 to 53 local 115

Fax No. (082) 221-1074

Email: research@davaodoctors.edu.ph

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Lived Experiences of Radiologists in Teleradiology Services in Davao Region: A Phenomenological Study Christian Ferrer S. Peñas	5
Underlying Reasons for Non-selection of Interventional Radiology: A Multiple Case Study among Selected Radiologic Technologists in Davao Region Saidamin A. Odin	16
Career Choice Influence and Role Perception in Relation to the Intention of Grade 12 Stem Students to Enroll in Radiologic Technology Program Heizel Mae Endrina	24
Attitude Towards Radiation Protection and Self-Efficacy in Relation to Radiation Safety Behavior of Radiologic Technologists Working in Region XII Jackylou A. Baladic	36
Knowledge and Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologist to Emerging and Re-Emerging Diseases in Region XII Karen Joy A. Crespo	46
Patients' Health-Related Behavior and Level of Satisfaction Undergoing Mammogram Procedure Ruth O. Salise	60
Unraveling the Phenomenon of Radiation Safety: A Study of Radiologic Technologists' Perspective and Practices Jennifer P. Babaran	78
Silent Battle Cries: Travails of Radiologic Technologists Working Condition During Covid-19 Charlene Dayanara H. Caro	91
Occupational Stress and Organizational Commitment of Overseas Filipino Radiographers: Basis for Personal and Professional Development Plan Mikaela J. Mercado	106
An Exploratory Sequential Mix Method Approach on the Underlying Dimensions of Meaningful Learning: Extracted from the Lens of Radiologic Technology Students Emmanuel M. Astaca-an	126

Lived Experiences of Radiologists in Teleradiology Services in Davao Region: A Phenomenological Study

Christian Ferrer S. Peñas, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

Teleradiology is expected to play a more significant part in healthcare delivery in the years to come as it continues to develop. This qualitative phenomenology study aimed to learn more about the participants' lived experiences in teleradiology service, particularly in the Davao region. Data were generated through a semi-structured interview with seven (7) radiologists. By analyzing the participants' talk through poststructural discourse analysis, the study identified three essential themes on their difficulties encountered: (1) Network Issues characterized by the core ideas of loss of connection and server error, (2) Operator-skill related challenges that are depicted by lack of training and poor scanning/positioning technique, and (3) Technical-related issue with the following core ideas of data privacy and variability of imaging modalities and image viewers. Three essential themes on their coping strategies were generated: (1) Secure network stability characterized by the core ideas of looking for alternatives and establishing a stable connection, (2) Coordination and personnel development characterized by the following ideas of technologist training and personnel communication, and the last emergent theme (3) Operational-related strategies that are characterized by the core ideas of patient recall and consider on-site. The insights surfaced three essential themes: (1) Establish a systemic approach, (2) Benefits and drawbacks of teleradiology, and (3) Postgraduate training that is depicted by the creation of guidelines and standard procedure, advantages, and limitations of teleradiology, and the provision of proper training for technologists, respectively. Lastly, the recommendation of the study is delineated in terms of methodology.

Keywords: Teleradiology, Social Sciences, Descriptive Phenomenology, Davao Region

Corresponding email: cferrerpenas@gmail.com

Introduction

Teleradiology is the most recognized and well-known subfield of telemedicine, one of the subfields of information technology. *Teleradiology* can be defined as sending medical images from one facility, like a hospital, to another clinic or hospital (Maher et al., 2018). In teleradiology, radiological pictures are transmitted from one site to another via telecommunications infrastructure. However, teleradiology installation may be fraught with difficulties. According to a study by Rosenkrantz et al. (2019) on the practice of teleradiology in the United States, access to electronic health records (62.8%), quality control (53.8%), and technician proximity (48.4%) were the most obstacles for teleradiology. Technical interpretation standards (33.3%) were the approach that was most frequently thought to be effective for enhancing teleradiology. Radiologists in smaller practices were less likely to use teleradiology or it for a smaller percentage of their workload, were less likely to benefit from teleradiology's coverage advantages, and reported more difficult implementation issues, particularly concerning electronic health records and prior examination access.

One hundred two radiologists (56% men, 44% women) took part in the study by Al-daheri et al. in 2023. Regarding the general state of teleradiology, 69.6% of participants said it is a valuable tool for image interpretation. However, 44% needed to determine how teleradiology would affect patient confidentiality. Furthermore, teleradiology cannot address issues highlighted in complex cases that call for the physical presence of patients. Additionally, it might not allow for adequate discussion of medical images with other professionals.

Moreover, other teleradiology-related occurrences have also happened in other places. A study conducted by Essop (2020) across the rural areas in South Africa, where teleradiology was deployed, demonstrates that at the site, radiologic technologists and referring doctors are doing added tasks not mentioned in the teleradiology service-level agreement (SLA). They feel ill-prepared to carry out these roles. Another painful reality was conducted in Iran by Sadoughi et al. (2017) also concluded that data security, regulating and restricting access to patients' clinical information during the teleradiology process, the possibility of legal protection for radiologists, the formation of executive teams in the organization and providing financial support to them, and the invitation of executive managers as the prominent supporters of teleradiology were some other factors affecting the success of its implementation.

In the Philippines, most institutions have been compelled to begin or accelerate their digital transformation. Terms like telemedicine and teleradiology are getting more frequently used. Given this push and the benefits we have already observed, the optimum moment to learn about and allocate funds to teleradiology may be right now (Lee et al., 2020). However, it cannot be easy to establish telemedicine in underserved areas of a country like the Philippines (Dela Cruz et al., 2021). According to the study conducted by Tolentino (2021), The Universal Health Care (UHC) Act of the Philippines, also known as Republic Act 11223, is funded to the tune of Php 209.26 B from various sources, according to the

Budget Briefer of the Department of Health -Philippines. As mentioned above, the incorporation of telemedicine and increased efficiency in the nation's numerous health processes are encouraged under section 36.5 of the law. However, telemedicine and other associated medical practices are not given a specific budgetary allocation in the General Appropriations Act 2021. The UHC Act was only recently signed on February 20, 2019, and is still in its infancy. Other services, including telemedicine and teleradiology, may receive a different priority level because essential services and policies will be implemented first.

In light of the above situation, the researcher is interested in determining the lived experiences of radiologists in employing teleradiology services in the Davao region. Since there have been few studies about teleradiology in the Philippines for a while, it is finally time to bring this subject to light. The outcome of this research is directed at authorities to help recognize and develop interventions for the challenges of teleradiology.

Methods

This qualitative research utilized a descriptive phenomenological study approach in understanding exploring and the lived experiences of radiologists in teleradiology services in the Davao region. Qualitative research is an iterative process wherein the scientific community's understanding is increased by creating new, meaningful distinctions as a result of getting closer to the subject under study (Asper & Corte, 2019). It explores and provides deeper insights into real-world problems and gathers participants' experiences, perceptions, and behavior (Tenny et al., 2022). To better comprehend ideas, opinions, or experiences, qualitative research entails gathering and evaluating non-numerical data (such as text, video, or audio). It can be used to get comprehensive insights into a situation or come up with fresh research concepts (Bhandari, 2023).

This research study was conducted in selected public/private hospitals and clinics that utilize teleradiology services across the Davao region.

Participants

The participants of the study embodied the following criteria that include the following: (a) presently working in a public/private hospital or clinic in the Davao region, (b) at least six (6) months of teleradiology service experience, and (c) can be a male or female radiologist. In this study, people who had experience with or understanding of an interesting phenomenon were identified and chosen (Creswell & Clark, 2011). Thus, the key participants of the study were the radiologists working in the Davao region. The researcher adopted Creswell's (2013) recommendation from his book that a phenomenology study be carried out with a heterogeneous group with a minimum of 3 and a maximum of 15 participants. Thus, the researcher had at least seven (7) radiologists who have experience in teleradiology services in the chosen clinics/hospitals.

Furthermore, because we are unable to generalize to all radiologists working in the Davao region, purposive sampling was utilized to select the respondents. Additionally, the snowball sampling technique was used in this study. Through snowball sampling, the participant is known to the researcher, and this identified participant will act as a referral source for other radiologists who meet the criteria.

Data Sources

The data needed for the study was taken from the informants through a Key Informant Interview (KII), guided by questions from the interview protocol. Interviews were conducted among the radiologists. Interviews enabled the researchers to discover the experience of a person (Kvale, 1996). However, the study's data and supporting information came from various online journal articles and books, especially for the introduction and review of linked literature.

Ethical Consideration

In the conduct of the study, the study aimed to explore and understand the lived experiences of radiologists in teleradiology services in the Davao region. The results of this study will provide support to radiologists to enable efficient clinical practice and interpret high-quality radiographs by better understanding their difficulties with teleradiology. The community will be informed of the research's findings, specifically to those who will benefit the most.

In terms of risks and benefits, the interview may cover the participants' own experiences, which involve personal thoughts, rest assured the study will only be utilized for research reasons.

The benefits of this study can aid the researchers in starting intervention efforts that can address the experiences they have had.

The respondent's participation in this study is voluntary. If the respondents are uncomfortable in any manner, they have the option to decline participation. Furthermore, even if the respondents initially chose to take part, they are free to leave the study at any moment without incurring any fees. Any information submitted by respondents will not be included in the data gathered if they decide to leave the study.

In the gathering, retention, and processing of personal data, researchers followed the criteria of transparency, legitimate purpose, and proportionality (Data Privacy Act of 2012). The respondents will be offered the option to remain anonymous to protect their privacy and confidentiality. Even if the respondents provided names and other identifying information, none of it will be included in the printed research report. The information collected for this study will be handled in the strictest confidence. Any information mentioned in the material, should this research study ever be published, will not in any way identify the respondent's name. Also, the researcher politely denies requests for information regarding the data acquired from anyone unrelated to the study. Only the researchers will have access to the data, which will be kept completely private. After the study, if the participants so request, a copy of the findings may be given to them. Finally, after the study, all of the raw data will be properly disposed away.

Data Analysis

Thematic analysis was done manually in analyzing the results of the series of interviews conducted. Thematic Analysis was considered the most appropriate for any study that seeks to discover using interpretations. It provides a

systematic element to data analysis. It allows the researcher to associate an analysis of the frequency of a theme with one of the whole contents. This will add precision and complexity and strengthen the overall meaning of the research. Qualitative research necessitates comprehending and gathering many elements and facts. The thematic analysis offers a chance to comprehend any issue's potential from a wider perspective (Marks and Yardley 2004). Namey et al. (2008) said, "Thematic Moves beyond counting explicit words or phrases and focuses on identifying and describing both implicit and explicit ideas. Codes developed for ideas or themes are then applied or linked to raw data as summary markers for later analysis, which may include comparing the relative frequencies of themes or topics within a data set, looking for code cooccurrence, or graphically displaying code relationships." (p.138)

Thematic Analysis allowed the determine precisely researcher to the relationships between concepts and compare them with the replicated data. By using, thematic analysis there is the possibility to link the various concepts and opinions of the learners and compare these with the data that has been gathered in different situations at different times during the project. All possibilities for interpretation are possible. In the process of thematic content analysis, the researcher will also be guided by Creswell's Method of Data Analysis.

Results and Discussion

The study identified three essential themes on their difficulties encountered: (1) Network Issues characterized by the core ideas of loss of connection and server error, (2) Operatorskill related challenges that are depicted by lack of training and poor scanning/positioning technique, and (3) Technical-related issue with the following core ideas of data privacy and variability of imaging modalities and image viewers. *Network Issues*. The participants expressed that internet connectivity plays a significant role in medical imaging, particularly when teleradiology is used. When slow connection speeds interfere with transmitting image-heavy studies, the workflow can quickly become frustrating and affect patient care. Therefore, the use of teleradiology is severely hampered by the lack of dependable internet connectivity and low broadband connectivity in rural locations. The challenge in the need for high-speed and reliable internet connectivity, particularly in rural or remote areas with limited broadband access can limit the ability of teleradiology services and may require additional investment in network infrastructure (Zafar, 2023). Aside from the possible loss of connection, the participants also articulated that they were also challenged by the error of the server. Servers received images from different modalities. It is difficult to transfer images from one station to another when the server is fully offline or infected with a virus.

Operator's Skill-related Challenges. The study also shows that the operator's skillrelated challenges are also a test to the participants. Since the radiologist is no longer onsite, most of the procedures are conducted by the radiologic technologist. Radiographers' confidence in carrying out specific procedures can be impacted by a lack of training. In radiology, more than with any other imaging modality, the medical use of ultrasound is highly operator-dependent. A failure to keep up with diagnostic and technological changes provides the possibility of misinterpretation, errors, and poor repeatability when utilizing the equipment. Diagnostic error may only be avoided with thorough training, which includes understanding both the limitations and the potential of ultrasound equipment (Salvesen et al., 2019). Aside from the lack of training, they also find difficulty technologists' poor in image acquisition and positioning techniques. Even trained and experienced technologists have Difficult examinations limitations. and procedures are poorly performed. From the interviews, it was clear that participants were concerned that radiographers couldn't handle complex imaging. This requires a technologist to be aware of the various positions and techniques required to isolate and provide a sharper view of a body area being photographed. Aside from improving the visibility of an anatomical region, varied projections can also aid in anatomizing an anomaly or locating a foreign body.

Technical-related Issues. The participants shared that loss of image quality due to improper image viewing is one of the identified difficulties. As claimed by Eizo (2022), when building a teleradiology-ready environment, it is critical to examine the accuracy of the monitor used to view medical images. In addition, consumer displays are unlikely to provide the consistency and precision necessary for physicians and radiologists to perform complete patient diagnoses. (Neill, 2019). Furthermore, a poor-quality image does not provide adequate diagnostic information and may lead to a missed or incorrect diagnosis. Aside from loss of image quality due to improper image viewing, another difficulty that the participant identified is the variability of image modality used. The problems that the participants face vary depending on the modality used by the technologist. The participants expressed the difficulty of reading ultrasound procedures compared to X-rays since ultrasound is highly operator-dependent. Due to the nature of teleradiology, the participants also expressed their worries about the data privacy of patients. Because networks can be infiltrated by hackers, there is a chance that patient information could be accessed. Although security and privacy have been included in teleradiology practice almost since its start, there is still much research being conducted in this field in quest of improvements. Furthermore, according to Ruotsalainen (2019), Any teleradiology system's security and privacy protection must be carefully developed, and appropriate security and privacyenhancing techniques must be used.

Coping Strategies

Three essential themes on their coping strategies were generated: (1) Secure network stability characterized by the core ideas of looking for alternatives and establishing a stable connection, (2) Coordination and personnel development characterized by the following ideas technologist training and personnel of communication, and the last emergent theme (3) Operational-related strategies that are characterized by the core ideas of patient recall and consider on-site.

Secure Network Stability. The participants look for alternatives to continue having access to the internet for continuous reading of medical images. Moreover, they have been able to adapt by figuring out how to make sure an internet connection is available while they are traveling or even at home for efficient workflow. As mentioned earlier, teleradiology is entirely dependent technology on and connectivity. Should there be a lack of access to the internet, teleradiology is no longer an option and patients will remain undiagnosed or even untreated without an on-site radiologist (Kethrapal 2022).

Coordination and Personnel Development. Since teleradiology is when images are evaluated remotely by a radiologist who is not present at the location where the images are generated, they must communicate with the involved personnel to close the gap and address any other issues that may emerge. When it comes to scanning procedures, equipment failure, or server downtime, the participants established a channel of communication with the relevant staff. As mentioned by Smith et al. (2019), communication is essential at all stages of the teleradiology workflow, from the initial request to the final report. They also discuss the different types of communication that are used in teleradiology, such as voice, text, and video. One participant conveyed that sometimes when images are unclear, sending videos is an option.

Some of the participants also expressed that one of the coping strategies is technologist training. Radiologists perform a variety of tasks throughout the day, whether they work in a private practice, a community or academic institution, or even a hybrid situation. Teaching is one of the most crucial responsibilities in the transfer of knowledge, and the ongoing replenishment of the health, vibrancy, and advancement of the field (Saul, 2018). According to Brink et al. (2018), to maintain the accuracy of radiographic pictures and the security of patients, radiologists must train radiographers. They also talk about how difficult it is to train radiographers because it takes so much time and resources. In addition, it was stated by Smith et al. (2019), that radiologists have the expertise and experience to train radiographers in the most effective way possible.

Operational-related Strategies. A change in operational strategy was one of how they overcame their challenges. When certain issues arise in reading transmitted images such as unclear images or positioning errors, the participants stated that they need to recall the patient. According to Green et al. (2020), the risk of patient recall in teleradiology can be reduced by using strategies such as using radiologists who are located close to the patient's hospital, using teleradiology for simple imaging studies, and providing radiologists with access to patient medical records and other clinical information.

Aside from patient recall, another strategy that the radiologist utilized was on-site scanning and consideration. The participants stated that they prefer to attend on-site when situations appear to be too challenging for radiographers to obtain images using several modalities. The on-site considerations were commonly for ultrasonography examinations, where the participants expressed that ultrasound is operator-dependent, and needs accurate scanning for accurate diagnosis. ("....If there are chances that I can miss something, I'm always telling them to refer to a radiologist who can do it personally.") (Jong-seong).

Insights

The insights surfaced three essential themes: (1) Establish a systemic approach, (2) Benefits and drawbacks of teleradiology, and (3) Post-graduate training that is depicted by the creation of guidelines and standard procedure, advantages, and limitations of teleradiology, and the provision of proper training for technologists, respectively. Lastly, the recommendation of the study is delineated in terms of methodology.

Establish a **Systemic** Approach. Establishing a systemic approach is one of the insights and recommendations from their experiences. The participants' experiences allowed them to consider how standardizing guidelines for using teleradiology would increase its effectiveness and perhaps even help it overcome some of its limitations. According to the findings of the studies by Marti-Bonmati et al. and Pattynama, establishing legal requirements, establishing the necessary standards, and providing an adequate infrastructure to meet these standards boosts both service providers' and recipients' confidence in using these technologies (2018). To them: ("...Right now, there is no definite rule in teleradiology and as a whole, radiologists have their protocols on how they scan the patient, per institution it's different... I think it's better to have unified guidelines to have better practice as a whole of society. I think that's what the society of PCR needs to do..."). (Jongseong).

Post-graduate Training. This is characterized by a core idea for the provision of proper training for technologists. According to the participants, the technologist's skills have an impact on the precision and effectiveness of teleradiology. The majority of participants believe that the technologists should have the necessary training because they rely on and put their trust in them. ("I recommend radtechs to receive proper training, which should go beyond simple scanning and focus more on developing their skills. So that it's not challenging for us radiologists to interpret when challenging circumstances emerge.") (Nikki).

Furthermore, as mentioned by Mwansa et al. (2020), the radiography undergraduate degree only focuses on the fundamentals of several diagnostic imaging modalities and general radiography. At the postgraduate level, the emphasis is on educating radiographers in specialized diagnostic imaging fields like mammography, nuclear medicine, computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and ultrasonography. The authors acknowledge that the creation of postgraduate programs would allow radiographers to specialize and acquire cutting-edge knowledge and skills in fields where there is a need for healthcare and where they have an interest. They would be prepared to take on new, more challenging responsibilities and broaden their areas of expertise. and is expected to raise the standard of diagnostic imaging services.

Benefits and **Drawbacks** of Teleradiology. An insight by the participants shows that teleradiology has its benefits and drawbacks. This essential theme is characterized by the core idea: the advantages and limitations of teleradiology. Although teleradiology is not without its limitations, as technology develops it is likely to have an even greater impact on how radiology is done. To the participants, ("Teleradiology, has pros and cons. Of course, one of its advantages is that you don't need to travel to distant areas anymore. And It's convenient, more convenient because we can read the images anywhere. More like a workfrom-home setup. The challenge is those things I mentioned earlier, the quality of the images, if the quality is good then we can read it more accurately.) (Nikki)

According to Alahmari (2019), in addition to its many benefits for health care in general, teleradiology also has some drawbacks. The benefits of teleradiology can be summed up as follows: it helps provide radiology services for rural areas, addresses the shortage of radiologists, offers a second opinion to a local radiologist, offers readings from a specialized radiologist in a particular field (pediatric radiology, neuroradiology, cardiovascular imaging, etc.), addresses the issue of scan interpretation delays, reduces the workload of other radiologists, provides quick service, lowers costs, and helps with medical professional recruitment. Some of its limitations are the cost of teleradiology system installation, teleradiology system upkeep,

Recommendations

The findings of the study are a valuable source of information for the radiology community and for all allied health professionals. In addition, it will help policymakers better comprehend and understand the experiences of the participants in using teleradiology. Furthermore, based on the results, the following recommendations were suggested by the researcher:

Formulation of policy, regulations, and unified guidelines for the use of teleradiology. A unified guideline should be enforced to ensure that teleradiology services are provided effectively. This may include establishing clear communication protocols between the sending and receiving sites. This comprises protocols for how to request studies, how to transmit images, and how to communicate with the radiologists. Furthermore, a policy must also be created concerning network encryption to protect patient privacy and security. This will help to protect patients and ensure that they receive high-quality care.

The provision of education and skill-based training for healthcare providers. Healthcare

technical difficulties, the legal jurisdiction of teleradiology system, medical license and certified practitioners in various countries, foreign and non-certified practitioners, accreditation of teleradiology service, the need for teleradiologist training, and the restricted access to clinicians.

providers who utilize teleradiology services should be educated and trained in the appropriate use of teleradiology technology. This will help ensure that they can provide safe and effective care. Developing and conducting specialized training programs in other imaging modalities for the radiologic technologist is also recommended to improve the necessary skills.

Support research. Research is needed to understand the benefits and risks of teleradiology better. This research will help to inform policymakers and healthcare providers about how to use teleradiology best to improve patient care. Since this study is qualitative, the researcher also recommends conducting quantitative research.

Future Researchers. This research study can be used as a future reference by other researchers further to explain the radiologist's lived experiences in teleradiology services. In addition, the recommendation made above may be the basis for new research to produce a more thorough conclusion. As stated in the study's limitations, since this was a qualitative study, it was only possible to generalize some radiologists' experiences in the Davao region. Future research may use a larger sample size and respondents from other settings with similar experiences to those identified in this study.

References

Abodahab, Ahmad & Tharwat, Mohammed & Alserafi, Ahmad & Fawzy, Khaled. (2021). Implementations of PACS and Teleradiology Systems in Sohag University - Abstract.

Alahmari, Abdulwahab. (2019). Teleradiology pros and cons: Editorial. 2. 28-29. 10.36811/ojrmi.2019.110004.

- Alaoui, A. & Collmann, Jeffery & Nguyen, Dan & Lindisch, David & Subbiah, R. & Green, Albert & Johnson, Jeffrey & Mun, Seong. (2003). Implementing a secure Teleradiology system using the internet. International Congress Series. 1256. 803-808. 10.1016/S0531-5131(03)00412-6.
- Al-Dahery ST, Alsharif WM, Alamri FH, Nawawi SA, Mofti WK, Alhazmi FH, Alshamrani KM, Suliman AG, Qurashi AA. The role of teleradiology during COVID-19 outbreak: Saudi radiologists' perspectives. Saudi Med J. 2023 Feb;44(2):202-210. doi: 10.15537/smj.2023.44.2.20220793. PMID: 36773982; PMCID: PMC9987691.
- American Journal of Roentgenology. 2020;215: 1411-1416. 10.2214/AJR.20.23007 https://www.ajronline.org/doi/full/10.2214/ AJR.20.23007?journalCode=ajr&mobileUi =0
- Bashshur RL, Krupinski EA, Thrall JH, Bashshur N. The Empirical Foundations of Teleradiology and Related Applications: A Review of the Evidence. Telemed J E Health. 2016 Nov;22(11):868-898. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0149. Epub 2016 Sep 1. PMID: 27585301; PMCID: PMC5107673.
- Coates, G. (2021, May 13). The Pros and Cons of Teleradiology | Poulos and Coates, LLP. Poulos and Coates, LLP. Retrieved November 21, 2022, from https://pouloscoates.com/the-pros and-consof-teleradiology/
- Dela Cruz, Luna & Tolentino, Lean Karlo. (2021). Telemedicine Implementation Challenges in Underserved Areas of the Philippines. International Journal of Emerging Technology and Advanced Engineering. 11. 60-70. 10.46338/ijetae0721_08.
- Elizabeth A Krupinski (2014) Teleradiology: current perspectives, Reports in Medical Imaging, 7: 514, DOI: 10.2147/RMI.S4814 0

- Essop H, Kekana M. The experiences of teleradiology end users regarding role extension in a rural district of the North West province: A qualitative analysis. Afr J Prm Health Care Fam Med. 2020;12(1), a2227. https://doi.org/10.4102/phcfm.v12i1.2227
- Ewing B, Holmes D. Evaluation of Current and Former Teleradiology Systems in Africa: AReview. Ann Glob Health. 2022 Jun 24;88(1):43. doi: 10.5334/aogh.3711. PMID:35814283; PMCID: PMC9231578.
- Gallagher, S. (2022). Graduate radiographers' experience of learning MRI practice: A pilot study using constructivist grounded theory methodology. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 54(1), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2022.10.198
- Gupta S, Johnson EM, Peacock JG, Jiang L, McBee MP, Sneider MB, Krupinski EA. Radiology, Mobile Devices, and Internet of Things (IoT). J Digit Imaging. 2020 Jun;33(3):735-746. doi: 10.1007/s10278-019-00311-2. PMID: 31898039; PMCID: PMC7256153.
- H. (2022, November 18). *The Role of Teleradiology in Emergency Radiology Provision*. HealthManagement. Retrieved November 21, 2022, from https://healthmanagement.org/c/healthmana gement/issuearticle/the-role-ofteleradiology-in-emergency-radiologyprovision
- Hanna, T. N., Steenburg, S. D., Rosenkrantz, A. B., Pyatt, R. S., Duszak, R., & Friedberg, E. B. (2020). Emerging Challenges and *Opportunities* **Evolution** in the ofTeleradiology. American Journal of Roentgenology, 1-6. doi:10.2214/ajr.20.23007
- Krupinski E. Teleradiology: current perspectives. *Reports in Medical Imaging*. 2014;7:5-14 https://doi.org/10.2147/RMI.S48140
- Legido-Quigley H, et al. Challenges facing teleradiology services across borders in the

European union: A qualitative study. Health Policy and Technology (2014)

- Leonard, M.W., Graham, S., & Bonacum, D. (2004). The human factor: the critical importance of effective teamwork and communication in providing safe care. *Quality and Safety in Health Care, 13*, i85 - i90.
- Managing radiology departments during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Eur Radiol* **31**, 601–604 (2021).
- Maher, Ali & Bahadori, Mohammadkarim & Davarpanah, Mina & Ravangard, Ramin. (2018). Factors Affecting the Establishment of Teleradiology Services: A Case Study of Iran. Shiraz E Medical Journal. In Press. 10.5812/semj.69184.
- Martín-Noguerol, T., Lopez-Ortega, R., Ros, P.R. *et al.* Teleworking beyond teleradiology: managing radiology departments during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Eur Radiol* **31**, 601–604 (2021).
- Mwansa, E., Sichone, J. M., Kafwimbi, S., & Bwanga, O. (2020). Establishment of Postgraduate Education and Training in the Specialised Areas of Diagnostic Imaging in Zambia. *International Journal of Medical Reviews*, 7(3), 102–107. https://doi.org/10.30491/ijmr.2020.228411. 1095
- Nittari G, Khuman R, Baldoni S, Pallotta G, Battineni G, Sirignano A, Amenta F, Ricci G. Telemedicine Practice: Review of the Current Ethical and Legal Challenges. Telemed J E Health. 2020 Dec;26(12):1427-1437. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2019.0158. Epub 2020 Feb 12. PMID: 32049608; PMCID: PMC7757597.
- Özmen, M. N., Dicle, O., Şenol, U., & Aydıngöz, Ü. (2021). TSR guidelines for the practice of teleradiology: 2021 update. *Diagnostic and interventional radiology* (Ankara, *Turkey*), 27(4), 504–510. https://doi.org/10.5152/dir.2021.20570

- Poteet BA. Veterinary teleradiology. Vet Radiol Ultrasound. 2008 Jan-Feb;49(1 Suppl 1):S33-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8261.2007.00331.x. PMID: 18283984.
- Ranschaert ER, Binkhuysen FH. European Teleradiology now and in the future: results of an online survey. Insights Imaging. 2013 Feb;4(1):93-102. doi: 10.1007/s13244-012-0210-z. Epub 2012 Dec 18. Erratum in: Insights Imaging. 2013 Jun;4(3):399. PMID: 23247775; PMCID: PMC3579992.
- Rosenkrantz, A. B., Hanna, T. N., Steenburg, S. D., Tarrant, M. J., Pyatt, R. S., & Friedberg, E.
 B. (2019). The Current State of Teleradiology Across the United States: A National Survey of Radiologists' Habits, Attitudes, and Perceptions on Teleradiology Practice. Journal of the American College of Radiology. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2019.05.053
- Ruotsalainen P. Privacy and security in teleradiology. Eur J Radiol. 2010 Jan;73(1):31-5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2009.10.018. Epub 2009 Nov 13. PMID: 19914020.
- Saint-Clair, F. (2019, September 30). Advantages of Teleradiology. Dicom Systems. Retrieved November 21, 2022, from https://dcmsys.com/2019/09/29/advantagesof-teleradiology/
- Salvesen, K. Å., Lees, C., & Tutschek, B. (2010). Basic European ultrasound training in obstetrics and gynecology: where are we and where do we go from here? Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology, 36(5), 525–529. doi:10.1002/uog.8851
- Saul, D. (2018). What it means 'to teach' as a radiologist in the modern era: a personal perspective. *Pediatric Radiology*, 48, 1381-1387.
- Sudhan Rackimuthu, Mohammad Mehedi Hasan, Ishita Ray, Abdul Moiz Sahito, Pranshu Chawla, Diya Ghosh, Teleradiology in India

during the COVID-19 pandemic: merits, pitfalls and future perspectives, *Health Policy and Planning*, Volume 37, Issue 9, November 2022, Pages 1203–1206,

Tafti A, Byerly DW. X-ray Radiographic Patient Positioning. [Updated 2022 Dec 11]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK5 65865/

Teleradiology standard operating procedure manual. Mafikeng: North West Department of Health; 2013

Underlying Reasons for Non-selection of Interventional Radiology: A Multiple Case Study among Selected Radiologic Technologists in Davao Region

Saidamin A. Odin, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

This multiple case study was conducted to explore the underlying reasons why Radiologic Technologists (RTs) in the Davao Region are not pursuing Interventional Radiology. The study identified five essential themes in their current situation working as Radiologic Technologists that include: Self-Fulfillment characterized by the core idea of job appreciation, an engaging work environment that is depicted by a positive workforce and bearable workloads; Professionally Competent Workforce with a core idea of a Knowledgeable Radiologic Technologists and Standard Adherent Equipment characterized by calibrated equipment and; Positive Disposition on Patients characterized by the core idea, comforting behavior. Four essential themes under The Underlying Reasons Radiologic Technologists did not pursue Interventional Radiology were generated namely: Lack of Exposure, Occupational Exhausting, Professional Incompetence; and Insufficient Hospital Resources. The first essential theme is characterized by insufficient field exposure, the second is formed by the core ideas of higher risk of radiation exposure and Long-Standing Time, and the third theme is characterized by lack of knowledge lack of training, and Limited Access to Equipment for the last theme. The insights surfaced three essential themes, success stories, expert mentoring, and professional enhancement. Success stories are reflected by positive narratives, learning from seasoned and expert RT for expert mentoring, and Provisions of Actual Skill Tests and Attendance on Seminars for Professional Enhancement. Recommendations include Provisions of Training to Capacitate RTs, Upskilling, Positive Narratives, and Curricular Implementation Review and Weakness of the Study.

Keywords: Interventional Radiology, Radiologic Technology, Multiple Case Study, Davao Region

Corresponding email: damshaker2019@gmail.com

Introduction

Interventional radiology is a specialization in radiology that is relatively new yet has significantly contributed to recent medical advances. It is at the forefront of technological innovation and medical advancement (The British Society of Interventional Radiology 2020). IR treatments are often noninvasive and can be targeted through digital subtraction angiography, ultrasound, CT scans, or MRI (Alnajjar et al., 2019). The Society of Interventional Radiology states that an expert in this field can diagnose and treat various conditions using minimally invasive, cuttingedge imaging techniques (Abohimed et al., 2020). Additionally, rapid technological evolution has prompted the optimization of imaging modalities, which are now the basis for diagnosing and treating many illnesses in different fields (Emin et al., 2019). However, as the uses of IR have grown, there has been an increased demand for human resources in the field, resulting in greater complexity of resources required (Alnajjar et al., 2019).

In the context of the Davao Region, Philippines, the availability of a sufficient number of IR specialists is a pressing concern. Furthermore, there is limited interest among radiologic technologists (RTs) in pursuing IR as a specialization, highlighting the need to investigate the factors influencing their career decisions. This study aims to explore the factors that discourage RTs in the Davao Region from pursuing a career in interventional radiology. By understanding these factors, future RTs can make informed career choices, and policymakers in the radiology department can develop strategies to encourage more RTs to specialize in IR.

The research problem centers around the shortage of IR specialists and the limited interest among RTs in pursuing IR in the Davao Region. Understanding the underlying reasons for this lack of interest is crucial for addressing the workforce shortage and ensuring the availability of high-quality IR services. The theoretical lens guiding this study encompasses the theory of

Methods

This qualitative study employed an iterative approach to understanding the research phenomenon in-depth. A multiple case study design was used, focusing on the Davao Region, Philippines. Ten radiologic technologists who did planned behavior and the Competence Motivation Theory. The theory of planned behavior suggests that individuals' intentions and subsequent behaviors are influenced by attitudes, social norms, and perceived behavioral control (Ajzen, 1991). The Competence Motivation Theory posits that individuals are motivated to take action to acquire or display competence (Harter, 1978). By exploring the reasons why RTs do not choose IR, this study aligns with these theoretical perspectives.

The significance of this study lies in its potential to benefit various stakeholders. Radiologic Technologists can gain insights into the benefits and challenges of specializing in IR, informing their career decisions and professional development. Medical students and residents can make more informed specialty choices based on the factors influencing RTs' career decisions. Patients can benefit from improved accessibility and availability of IR services resulting from a better understanding of the current state of IR. The Department of Health (DOH) can identify gaps in IR services and design interventions to address the shortage of IR specialists. Hospital administrators can plan their workforce needs for IR services more effectively. By addressing the shortage of IR specialists and encouraging more RTs to specialize in IR, this study aims to contribute to the improvement of healthcare delivery and ultimately enhance patient outcomes in the Davao Region.

not specialize in interventional radiology were selected as participants. Face-to-face in-depth interviews were conducted as the primary data collection method. Thematic analysis was applied to analyze the interview data and identify patterns and themes. Ethical considerations were followed to protect participants' rights and privacy throughout the research process.

Results and Discussion

The demographic profile of the people who participated in the interview has led the researcher to use code names to protect the participants' anonymity. Ten (10) individuals agreed to participate in the in-depth interview voluntarily, on their own time.

Case number 1 is a 28-year-old male radiologic technologist working at Hospital A. The second case has been working at Hospital B a male 25 years old. Case numbers 3 and 4 have been working in Hospital D, a 26 and a 27-yearold female radiologic technologist, respectively. Three cases have been in Hospital C, a 26- and 29-year-old female RT and a 29 male RT. The oldest case has been working in Hospital A, a 31year-old male RT.

The data from radiologic technologists in Davao City revealed several significant themes regarding their work environment and job satisfaction. The first theme, "Self-Fulfillment," highlighted the radiologic technologists' gratitude and fulfillment in serving others R1, R2, R3, and R10 (Akinwale & George, 2020). Job satisfaction and fulfillment have been linked to improved patient outcomes and healthcare delivery (Badrianto & Ekhsan, 2020).

"Currently, I am a radiologic technologist at a hospital in Davao City, and I am happy with my job and working environment". (R1).

"As a CT and MRI radiologic technologist, I'm delighted with my career and workplace". (R2)

"I'm grateful for my current situation and the chance to serve others". (R3)

"I am thankful for the opportunity I have to help people in my current situation". (R10)

The second theme, "Engaging Work Environment," emphasized the positive and engaging nature of the radiologic technologists' workplace R4, R7, and R9 (Ramli, 2019). This finding underscores the importance of fostering a work environment that promotes engagement, job satisfaction, and fulfillment (Sun & Bunchapattanasakda, 2019).

"So, I like working with them. I like where my position is I have to help patients and at the same time, display my expertise as a radiographer or radiologic technology". (R4)

"Okay, I've been working here at a Hospital in Davao City. Working here is good. I handle multiple modalities like C-arm, X-ray, and Bone Marrow Density (BMD) scan machines". (R7)

"I handle my workload well under pressure to provide exceptional care to all patients. I'm proud of my work and my colleagues' praise". (R9).

The third theme, "Goal-Oriented Workforce," highlighted the significance of effective communication, supportive colleagues, and a culture of compassion R5, R6, R10 (Ayofe & Martha, 2022). Open communication and a focus on patient care contribute to a goal-oriented workforce, which is essential for achieving organizational objectives and providing high-quality patient care (Naghshineh, 2022).

"I've been complimented on my meticulousness and clear communication". (R5)

"I work with very nice seniors and workmates who have been guiding me, and I was directly assigned to work in ultrasound". (R6)

"This experience reaffirmed to me the value of open lines of communication and compassion in my line of work, and I am grateful to be part of a company that places such a premium on patient care". (R10)

The fourth theme, "Standard Adherent Equipment," emphasized the importance of using equipment that adheres to clinical standards and instills confidence in the results (R2, R4). Access to necessary equipment and resources increases perceived behavioral control and motivation (Halabi et al., 2021).

The company ensures that our facilities are still in adherence to standards. R2

We always ensure that our equipment is good and reflects reliable results as part of our SOP.R4

The fifth theme, "Professionally Competent Workforce," highlighted the pride and expertise of radiologic technologists R8, and R9 (Purwanto, 2020). A professionally competent workforce is crucial for optimal patient outcomes and collaboration in healthcare settings (Halabi et al., 2021).

"I enjoy my job. It is my responsibility to operate and maintain imaging equipment, prepare patients for scans, and work closely with radiologists and other medical professionals in my role as an imaging technologist". (R8)

"On one occasion, I was called upon to perform an urgent ultrasound on a severely unwell patient. That was a critical moment, but I was able to keep my cool and give the doctor the information he needed to make a correct diagnosis without losing concentration. When the doctor and the rest of the medical staff praised my professionalism, I knew I had done a good job as an ultrasound technologist". (R9)

In conclusion, the findings emphasize the importance of creating a supportive, engaging, and goal-oriented work environment to promote job satisfaction and fulfillment among radiologic technologists and healthcare professionals. These factors contribute to better patient outcomes and improved healthcare delivery.

The study findings reveal that radiologic technologists in Davao City face challenges related to lack of exposure, occupational exhaustion, professional incompetence, and insufficient hospital resources when considering

a career in interventional radiology. Lack of exposure emerged as a significant issue impacting career paths, with limited opportunities to observe and gain practical experience in interventional radiology. Occupational exhaustion was linked to the physically demanding nature of the job, including prolonged standing during procedures and radiation exposure. Professional incompetence was attributed to insufficient learning and training, leading to a lack of knowledge and skills. Insufficient hospital resources, such as budget constraints and technological limitations, hindered access to specialist equipment for interventional radiography.

"Because of my limited background and exposure to the discipline, I did not give much thought to pursuing a career in interventional radiology. I was interested in radiography and had taken the necessary classes and done the required clinical rotations, but most of my experience was limited to diagnostic imaging". (R2)

"The main reasons are a lack of experience and limited opportunities. Because not all hospitals have an IR department, it can be difficult to gain experience in this modality, which in turn limits the opportunities available to pursue it (R7)

The findings emphasize the importance of increasing exposure to interventional radiology for radiologic technologists. Hospitals can establish dedicated interventional radiology departments and provide opportunities for clinical rotations, continuing education courses, and on-the-job training. This will enable technologists to gain practical experience and expand their career options. (Taslakian et al., 2019; Lucchini et al., 2018) Occupational exhaustion in interventional radiology requires attention to ensure the well-being of healthcare professionals and optimal patient care. Implementing self-care strategies, managing work-life balance, and following safety protocols are essential to mitigate the negative effects of occupational exhaustion. (Sovold et al., 2019; Shoman et al., 2021)

"My other reason may not pursuing interventional radiology is the physically demanding nature of the work. Procedures can be long and require prolonged standing, which can be tiring and uncomfortable. Additionally, despite radiation protection measures like shields and aprons, the amount of radiation exposure can be high, with technologists potentially exposed for several hours each day. These factors may deter me from considering IR as a career path". (*R*7)

"Because of the risks involved, the need to be on call 24/7, and the scarcity of employment prospects ". (R8).

To address professional incompetence, ongoing learning and growth opportunities should be provided to radiologic technologists pursuing interventional radiology. This includes access to practical experience, equipment, and mentorship programs to enhance their competence and job satisfaction. (Amsalu et al., 2020; Echenique & Wempe, 2019).

"The lack of accessible educational and professional development options has discouraged me from pursuing a career in interventional radiology". (R1)

"During my training, I had no opportunities to gain real-world experience. That is to say, I had no opportunity to put into practice what I had learned in class regarding the necessary approaches and instruments". (R10)

"We didn't get hands-on experience with the equipment and procedures, which is essential for

establishing specialized skills and confidence". (R3)

Insufficient hospital resources pose challenges for interventional radiology practice. Budget constraints, staffing limitations, and technological barriers need to be addressed to ensure adequate access to specialist equipment and resources. Collaboration between hospitals and educational institutions can help overcome these limitations. (Niati et al., 2021).

"At my place of employment, I had only a limited amount of access to the specialist equipment and resources that were necessary for interventional radiography". (R5)

In summary, addressing the challenges of lack of exposure, occupational exhaustion, professional incompetence, and insufficient hospital resources is crucial for promoting career opportunities and ensuring high-quality patient care in interventional radiology. Implementing strategies such as increasing exposure opportunities, prioritizing healthcare professionals' well-being, providing ongoing learning opportunities, and improving hospital resources are key steps toward overcoming these challenges.

The study highlights the importance of expert mentoring, success stories. and professional enhancement promoting in interventional radiology and attracting technologists and interns to the field. Ramsden et al. (2022) support the use of evidence-based strategies, including sharing success stories, to attract healthcare workers. The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) and the Competence Motivation Theory (CMT) provide insights into shaping attitudes, influencing behavioral intentions, and enhancing perceived control and competence satisfaction.

Success stories can shape positive attitudes toward interventional radiography (Ramsden et al., 2022). Highlighting success stories of influential individuals and those who have overcome obstacles can influence subjective norms and enhance perceived behavioral control (Ramsden et al., 2022).

Recruiting technologists and interns requires demonstrating Interventional Radiography's benefits and potential. Share success stories and provide training. R3

There must be strong captivating programs that would encourage others to pursue IR. R4

The program must have exceptional stories to tell so others will be persuaded to pursue IR. R7

The limited RTs pursuing IR may be because we have known few here in the region and their stories are not well shared. Sometimes this can encourage others. R8

mentoring is crucial Expert for developing skills and competence in technologists. Mentors can provide feedback and support, set challenging goals, and foster autonomy and competence satisfaction (CMT) (Ramsden et al., 2022). Various learning opportunities, such as simulation training, handson experience, and research projects, help students and trainees acquire the necessary skills for interventional radiology (Ramsden et al., 2022).

"Provide adequate experience and skill development to encourage students and trainees to choose IR. Mentorship, internships, continuing education, workshops, and conferences are examples. These possibilities can assist in training the future generation of interventional technologists". (R2)

"Students and trainees may participate in simulation training, observation, hands-on training, clinical rotations, and research projects. By providing a variety of chances, students and trainees can acquire the skills and information necessary to become competent IR technologists". (R3)

Professional enhancement involves continuous learning and development. The TPB suggests providing information about the benefits of continuous learning, creating a supportive learning environment, and setting clear goals (Ramsden et al., 2022). The CMT emphasizes the importance of motivation, goal-setting, feedback, and recognition (Ramsden et al., 2022). Structured and standardized training programs are essential for IR technologists (Simamora & Fathi, 2019). Mentorship, job satisfaction, technological advancements, and the visual nature of the work also attract individuals to the field (Goldman et al., 2019).

"Interventional radiology can be promoted by giving didactic lectures, clinical observation, hands-on training, mentoring, and ongoing education. We can also advertise IR's perks, career growth, collaboration with other healthcare professionals, and job prospects, especially in high-demand or shortage areas". (R9)

"Student and trainee IR technologists can acquire the necessary information and skills through exposure to a variety of learning opportunities, including Simulated training, observation, hands-on experience, clinical rotations, and research projects. plus demonstrating the technology's worth and relating the successes others have had with it". (R10) "I mentioned the need for specialized training in interventional radiography. Radiologic technologists who wish to pursue this field must complete a formal education program and obtain certification from a recognized authority". (R5)

In conclusion, success stories, expert mentoring, and professional enhancement are

References:

- Abohimed, H., Aldhaheri, F., Almansoori, T., & Alzaabi, A. (2020).
- Akinwale, A., & George, O. (2020). Employees whose jobs they enjoy perform better in a variety of ways.
- Alnajjar, H. M., & Alani, W. A. (2019).
- Amsalu, E., Boru, B., Getahun, T., Getie, A., Tegene, E., & Teklie, H. (2020). Assessing professional competence of radiologic technology graduates of Addis Ababa University: employers' perspectives. Advances in Medical Education and Practice, 11, 237-245.
- Ayofe, M. O., & Martha, O. (2022). Developing a high-performance work environment in Nigerian organizations: A strategic approach to achieving organizational goals. International Journal of Economics, Commerce, and Management, 10(1), 72-81.
- Badrianto, F. R., & Ekhsan, A. (2020). Job satisfaction and the effective implementation of organizational goals. [Insert full citation]
- Echenique, A. M., & Wempe, A. (2019). Strategies to promote professional growth in radiologic technology: a literature review. Radiologic Technology, 91(1), 34-41.

vital for promoting interventional radiology. These strategies shape attitudes, influence behavioral intentions, and enhance skills and competence. Structured training programs and supportive learning environments are necessary to attract and retain technologists in the field.

- Emin, G., Ishaque, N., Ahmed, S., Hakeem, A., & Ali, S. A. (2019).
- Halabi, S., Ferreira, P. D., Raposo, V., & Rodrigues, A. (2021). Equipment maintenance in hospitals: A study in Portuguese hospitals. International Journal of Engineering Research & Technology, 10(1), 47-57.
- Lucchini, R. G., Dorman, D. C., Elder, A., Verger, P., Gelein, R., & Lippmann, M. (2018). Occupational exposure to nanoparticles: What do we know?. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 60(10), e555-e569.
- Naghshineh, N. (2022). The role of healthcare employees in achieving organizational goals. Retrieved from [insert reference link]
- Niati, M. E., Omoniyi, D. B., & Yang, H. (2021). Evaluation of operational and environmental risks in radiology departments using fuzzy analytic hierarchy process. Radiation Protection Dosimetry, 198(4), 396-407.
- Purwanto, S. (2020). The relationship between professionalism and work motivation. International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications,
- Shoman, Y. F., Diab, M. M., Nabil, M. I., & Salem, H. A. (2021). Occupational burnout among healthcare providers in acute care

settings: a systematic review. Journal of Nursing Management, 29(6), 1308-1321.

- Sovold, M., Småstuen, M. C., Mathiesen, E. B., & Sandvik, L. (2019). Occupational stressors and its organizational and individual determinants: a nationwide study of Norwegian ambulance personnel. BMC Emergency Medicine, 19(1), 12.
- Taslakian, B., Kalenderian, M., Jamaleddine, G., & Shabb, N. S. (2019). Radiologic technologists' knowledge, awareness, and training on radiation protection. Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences, 50(4), 542-548.
- The British Society of Interventional Radiology. (2020).

Career Choice Influence and Role Perception in Relation to the Intention of Grade 12 Stem Students to Enroll in Radiologic Technology Program

Heizel Mae Endrina, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

The shortage of healthcare workers is a global issue. The importance of the intention of students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program cannot be underestimated in the bigger picture of the state of health and wellness of the local populace. Hence, this study aimed to determine the relationship between career choice influence and role perception regarding the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program in Digos City. A total of 253 students enrolled in two selected educational institutions were the respondents of the study. A quantitative method utilizing a descriptive-predictive design was employed. Furthermore, the statistical approaches utilized in the study were Mean, Pearson Product-Moment Correlation, Linear Regression Analysis, and Moderated Regression Analysis. The findings showed that Grade 12 STEM students' overall role perception was high, and their intention to enroll was moderate. Moreover, the results yielded that role perception had a positive correlational relationship with the intention of Grade 12 students to enroll. Career choice influence (parents, gender, and peers) has a moderating effect on the relationship between role perception and students' intention to enroll, and only school influence revealed no moderating effect. The present study has revealed fresh perspectives that can aid school administrators and guidance counselors in devising an educational framework that would augment the number of students enrolling in the Radiologic Technology program.

Keywords: Radiologic Technologist, Social Studies, Descriptive-Predictive, Digos City

Corresponding email: heizelendrina@gmail.com

Introduction

A growing labor shortage in the healthcare sector is the most significant threat to patient safety in the nation. According to the findings of Liu et al. (2017), the number of health professionals needed globally will increase to 80 million by 2030. At the same time, the number of health workers available is predicted to increase to 65 million, creating a net global shortage of 15 million health workers. Additionally, a lack of Radiologic technologists existed even before the COVID-19 outbreak. In 2019, X-ray techs were 8.5% understaffed in radiology departments across the United States (Laniado, 2021). The role of Radiologic Technologists in the current times cannot be underrated. As the world is constantly plagued with medical health challenges in various forms, the need to attract Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) students to enroll in medical-

related courses, particularly in Radiologic Technology, is seen to help ease the burden the future state of health condition of the nation (Hallett & De, 2020).

Radiography has the lowest enrollment of any program offered at the University Kuala Lumpur-Royal College of Medicine Perak (Maulana et al., 2018). Based on the study of Markovich (2022), the problem of low enrollment among students in the Radiologic Technology program can be traced to many misconceptions about the course. This perspective is linked to a need for more understanding of the nature of the profession, its various study options and specialties, and, most importantly, incorrect information regarding the exposure and hazards involved with working in an environment with ionizing radiation. This notion significantly influences people's decisions to pursue careers in Radiologic technology and directly contributes to the labor market's current low supply (Markovich, 2022).

Meanwhile, career choice influence is vital in increasing the number of students enrolling in Radiology Technology courses (Matalon, 2019). Career choice influences the students to take up a course they will enroll in tertiary level. Among the notable influence that links to student enrollment in a specific program is peer influence (Okwulehie, 2018). This phenomenon has a significant influence on a multitude of students when making decisions their prospective career regarding paths. Conversely, parental influence is a significant factor in determining the program of study that students choose to pursue (Humanika, 2019).

In addition to the influence of career choice, the perception of the role of the Radiologic Technology course also plays a significant role in students' decision to enroll in the program. Students noted that their choice is driven by their understanding of the role of Radiology Technologist in terms of their breadth of professional outlook on their work and their projected professional image, among others. These have created an impression that the program offers a lucrative value for work in the future (Almodovar et al., 2018).

The importance of the intention of STEM students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program must be considered in the bigger picture of the state of health and wellness of the local populace. In the above context, the researcher would like to explore the variables covered in this study to uncover the roles of these two variables in identifying which influences the intention of the students to enroll in the program. More so, the results of this study are aimed at contributing meaningfully to the body of knowledge regarding the variables of this research, as the researcher has yet to come across a similar study undertaken in the local setting and during the pandemic. The information gained in this study is an add-on to the existing available literature on role perception, career choice influence, and intention to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program, thereby filling the knowledge gap regarding the variables under study.

Methods

The descriptive-predictive method was used to determine the relationship between career choice influence and role perception concerning the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program in Digos City. The respondents of the study were the Grade 12 STEM students enrolled in two academic institutions in Digos City with a sample size of 253. A Raosoft calculator was employed to determine the sample size, and convenience sampling was used to select the respondents. Only the Grade 12 under the academic strand of STEM and who are of legal age, specifically 18 years old and above. Participants who did not meet the established criteria were excluded from the study.

On the day of data collection, the study

used a web-based survey method as per the feedback received from both the instructors and students, which was found to be the most favored approach in gathering empirical data required for this research. The survey questionnaire consists of a total of 62 items and is divided into three parts. The Part I items are made up to determine the role perception of the respondents, Part II, is designed to collect information related to students' intention to enroll in the Radiologic Technology profession, and Part III, determines if career choice influence moderates the intention of the STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program. Before the administration of survey questionnaires, the instrument was subjected to validation and reliability testing. Three (3) experts in the field were asked to validate the research instrument. After this, the researcher conducted a pilot study wherein twenty-two respondents were requested to answer the survey questionnaire followed by a Cronbach's Alpha reliability analysis or

consistency testing.

In the analysis of data, the following statistical tool was employed: Mean was used to measure the degree of role perception and intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program. On the other hand, Pearson Product Moment Correlation was employed to determine the relationship between role perception and the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program. However, the assumption of randomization failed in this statistical tool. Furthermore, Linear Regression Analysis was used to examine the correlation between role perception and the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll. Finally, Moderated Regression Analysis was used to investigate whether career choice influence moderates the relationship between role perception and the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in Radiologic Technology in Digos City.

Results and Discussion

Table 1. Summary of the Level of Role Perception of Grade 12 STEM Students

Role Perception	Mean	SD	Description
Possess skills for a wide professional remit	4.223	0.669	Very High
Perception of own professional status	4.137	0.652	High
Degree of professional interdependence	4.008	0.693	High
Level of rapport with patients and colleagues	3.975	0.656	High
Breadth of professional outlook	3.920	0.720	High
Projected professional image	3.912	0.797	High
Degree of patient interaction	3.895	0.679	High
Overall mean and SD	4.010	0.695	High

It can be assessed in Table 1 that combining the seven facets of role perception: breadth of professional outlook (3.920), degree of patient interaction (3.895), projected professional image (3.912), perception of own professional status (4.137), possessing skills for a wide professional remit (4.223), level of rapport with patients and colleagues (3.975) and degree of professional interdependence (4.008) indicates that the Grade 12 students have a high level of perceived role of the Radiologic Technology with an overall mean of 4.01. This denotes that the majority of the participants hold a favorable perception regarding the role, professional responsibility, and technical competencies of Radiologic Technologists both in hospital and clinical settings. The present study bears a resemblance to the research carried out by Andales et al. (2017), which revealed that students exhibit a level of familiarity with the responsibilities of Radiologic Technologists in hospital situations. The aforementioned discovery was substantiated by Dalmacio et al. (2017), as they observed that students in Senior High School demonstrated a considerable comprehension of the functions and obligations of Radiologic Technology as a profession.

 Table 2. Summary of the Level of Intention of Grade 12 STEM Students to Enroll in the Radiologic Technology

 Program in Digos City

Intention to Enroll	Mean	SD	Description
Opportunity to Advance	3.137	1.115	Moderate
Prestige or Status	3.123	1.145	Moderate
Job Security	3.101	1.083	Moderate
Advisory Received	2.983	1.088	Moderate
Financial Assistance	2.971	1.113	Moderate
Salary	2.834	1.139	Moderate
Grit Personality	2.833	1.117	Moderate
Overall Mean and SD	3.002	1.114	Moderate

Table 2 presents the level of the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in the radiologic technology program in Digos City. The study reveals that the seven indicators used to measure the level of intention exhibit an average score of 3.00, indicating a moderate level. The overall standard deviation of the indicators is 1.114. This indicates that Grade 12 STEM students exhibit a neutral level of agreement regarding their intention to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program. Among the seven indicators, the statements under the indicator *opportunity to advance* have the highest category mean (M=3.13) with a qualitative description of moderate, which implied that they neutrally intend to enroll due to better training opportunities and professional advancement activities. The lowest category mean is the items covered by the indicator of *grit personality* (M=2.83), which denotes that the respondents moderately demonstrated passion and determination to enroll. The moderate interpretation of all category means suggests that each indicator had a

significant bearing on participants' intention to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program. In a similar manner, Twumasi et al. (2018) conducted a study that found that in cultures that prioritize individualism, young individuals are influenced by intrinsic factors such as personal interest, personality traits, and self-efficacy, as well as extrinsic factors such as job security and high salaries, when selecting a profession. Additionally, interpersonal factors such as parental guidance play a lesser role in this decision-making process. Furthermore, these individuals are encouraged to make their own career decisions independently.

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE		INT	TENTION TO EN	ROLL
				Decision on
	r	p-value	Remarks	Но
ROLE PERCEPTION				
	0.417	<.001	Significant	Rejected

 Table 3. Test of Relationship between Role Perception and Intention of Grade 12 STEM Students to Enroll in Radiologic Technology Program

Table 3 shows the test of correlation between role perception and the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program. The data revealed that the relationship between role perception and the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program is significant, as can be gleaned from the p-value that is less than 0.05 (p < .05 = < .001) and correlation coefficient, r=0.417. This means that role perception has a positive significant relationship with the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program. This suggests that the increase in the role perception would also likely increases the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program.

This aligns with the findings of Sit et al. (2020), which suggest that students' enrollment decisions are significantly impacted by their perceptions and the quantity of information accessible to them. It is common practice for students to be presented with a selection of potential career paths before making a definitive decision regarding their professional aspirations. The decision-making process of students regarding their career choices is often influenced by their perception of the ideal job and the subjects they studied in secondary school, as opposed to being informed about alternative professions. This lack of adequate information about alternative career paths can lead to limited career options for students (Anake et al., 2017).

	Unstandardized	Std. Error	Standardized	t-value	p-value
(Intercept)	0.109	0.432		0.252	0.801
Percent	0.775	0.107	0.417	7.263	< .001

Table 4. Influence of Role Perception to the Intention of Grade 12 students to enroll in the Radiologic

Technology Program

Table 4 presents the results of regression analysis whose purpose is to show the significant predictor of the intention of Grade 12 STEM students. The results indicate that role perception was found to be a significant predictor of the Intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program.

In particular, it shows that the influence of role perception on the Grade 12 STEM students has generated a p-value that is less than .05 (p<.05= < .001) and a positive standardized beta value of .0.417. This denotes that the regression weight for role perception in the prediction of STEM students' intention is significantly different from zero at the 0.05 level (two-tailed). Thus, for every unit increase in the level of role perception, there is a corresponding increase in the intention of the students by .417. This implies that role perception

contributes to the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program.

Lastly, the findings were apparent in the results of the regression analysis, where 17.4 percent of the variance of the intention of STEM students was explained by the independent variable, as indicated by $R^2 = 0.174$. This means that 82.6 percent of the variation can be attributed to other factors not covered in the study. The present study was supported by (Liu et al., 2021), that role perception is an essential and critical component of the labor market. The necessity for students to establish a professional outlook has an impact on their professional identity creation, preparation for learning, self-organization, lifelong and marketability, as well as how well they reflect the qualitative aspects of their field of study (Poquet et al., 2021).

 Table 5. Moderating Effect of Career Choice Influence (Parents) in the Relationship between Role Perception and Intention

 of Grade 12 STEM Students to Enroll Radiologic Technology Program

	Unstandardized	Std. Error	Standardized	t-value	pvalue
(Intercept)	6.329	2.211		2.862	0.005
Percent	0.899	0.562	0.484	0.600	0.111
Parents	1.599	0.547	1.168	2.922	0.004
Perce * Parents	0.412	0.137	1.705	3.013	0.003

Table 5 presents that career choice influence (parents) has a moderating effect on the

relationship between Role Perception and Intention. An increase in the role perception and

parents' career choice influence level increases the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in a radiologic technology program (t=3.013; p=0.003). The model shows that 20.3% of the variation of students enrolling in the program can be influenced by role perception and parents' level of career choice influence. Data also shows no multicollinearity of the datasets shown in the VIF value of 1.107. Durbin Watson's value closer to 2.0 confirmed no autocorrelation. The outcome aligns with the finding reported in the research conducted by Ibrahim et al. (2017), which posits that parents exert the most significant impact on students' inclination to pursue a profession in medical laboratory science due to their usual provision of financial support. Dagang and de Mesa (2017) similarly identified findings indicating that parents have a strong influence on their children's choice of tertiary school. The Filipino people have a deep respect for elders, which explains why parents have such a strong influence on their children's decisions. This is further supported by Đurišić & Bunijevac (2017), who stated that parents play a crucial role in influencing and being enthusiastic about their children's educational choices.

Table 5.1. Moderating Effect of Career Choice Influence (Gender) in the Relationship between Role Perception and Intention of Grade 12 STEM Students to Enroll Radiologic Technology Program

	Unstandardized	Std. Error	Standardized	t-value	p-value
(Intercept)	4.836	2.171		2.227	0.027
Perce	0.359	0.541	0.193	0.664	0.508
Gender	1.352	0.565	0.975	2.394	0.017
Perce * Gender	0.309	0.138	1.303	2.245	0.026

Table 5.1 presents the data showing that career choice influence (gender) has a moderating effect on the relationship between Role Perception and Intention (t=2.245; p=.026. An increase in the interaction of gender and role perception increases the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program. The model shows that 19.4% of the variation of students enrolling in the program can be influenced by role perception and gender level of career choice influence. Data also shows no multicollinearity of the datasets shown in the VIF value of 1.186. Durbin Watson's value closer to 2.0 confirmed no autocorrelation. Many studies have established the impact of gender on career choices. Ramaci et al. (2017) reported that males exhibit a greater inclination toward pragmatic career paths, such as science and business, whereas females tend to demonstrate a stronger preference for social and artistic domains, such as teaching or nursing. Notwithstanding, females may exhibit interest in professions that are predominantly male-oriented as well as those that are female-dominated, whereas males tend to demonstrate interest solely in maledominated occupations. The research conducted by Eyo (2019) demonstrated that occupation preference among Nigerian students is significantly influenced by gender, regardless of whether they have received counseling or not. The persistence of gender influence on students remains irrespective of whether or not the student received counseling.

	Unstandardized	Std. Error	Standardized	t-value	p-value
(Intercept)	0.769	1.623		0.474	0.636
Perce	0.419	0.390	0.225	5.074	<.001
School	0.246	0.498	0.233	0.494	0.622
Perce * School	0.106	0.119	0.467	0.889	0.375

 Table 5.2. Moderating Effect of Career Choice Influence (School) in the Relationship between Role Perception

 and Intention of Grade 12 STEM Students to Enroll Radiologic Technology Program

Table 5.2 presents the data showing the level of career choice influence (school) has no moderating effect on the relationship between Role Perception and Intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program (t=0.889; p=0.375). The model shows that 21.0% of the variation of students enrolling in the program can be influenced by role perception and school level of choice. Data also shows no multicollinearity of the datasets shown in the VIF value of 1.004. Durbin Watson's value closer to 2.0 confirmed no autocorrelation. On the contrary, the finding of the study of Gacohi et al. (2017), discovered that career guidance in Kenyan schools had a positive impact on student's career decision-making, comprehension of

career options, and adjustments related to their chosen career paths. Additionally, the research revealed that in the absence of guidance regarding their vocational pursuits, students lack clarity regarding their optimal career path and personal preferences. Consequently, the absence of adequate career counseling could result in students making suboptimal choices and enlisting in programs that are unfamiliar to them. As per Lupas and Farin's (2021) findings, the primary objective of school counseling is to enhance students' comprehension of potential educational and career interests, aptitudes, convictions, and possibilities, rather than directing them toward a particular professional career.

Table 5.3. Moderating Effect Career Choice Influence (Peer) in the Relationship between Role Perception and
Intention of Grade 12 STEM Students to Enroll Radiologic Technology Program

	Unstandardized	Std. Error	Standardized	t-value	p-value
(Intercept)	6.800	2.716		2.504	0.013
Perce	1.187	0.671	0.639	2.968	0.003
Peer	1.810	0.752	0.968	2.408	0.017
Perce * Peer	0.513	0.183	1.767	2.806	0.005

Table 5.3 presents the data showing the level of career choice influence (peer) has a

moderating effect on the relationship between Role Perception and Intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program (t=2.806; p=.005). The model shows that 21.7% of the variation of students to enroll in the program can be influenced by role perception and level of career choice influence. Data also shows no multicollinearity of the datasets shown in the VIF value of 1.116. Durbin Watson's value closer to 2.0 confirmed no autocorrelation. This conforms to a study by Gwelo (2019), which identified peer pressure as a significant determinant of career selection. Individuals within a social group can examine and scrutinize the actions and emotions of others, potentially exerting influence to conform to group norms. This implies that individuals who have received formal education and have been exposed to diverse settings can serve as valuable sources of

Conclusion and Recommendations

The level of role perception among Grade 12 STEM students in the Radiologic Technology program was high level, which proposes that STEM students often perceived the role of Radiologic Technologist. This suggests that the establishment of a professional outlook by students has a significant influence on the development of their professional identity. Moreover, the level of the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll was interpreted as moderate, which proposes that STEM students sometimes intend to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program. This statement suggests that STEM students are inclined to select a professional trajectory predicated on their anticipated performance and outcomes. Meanwhile, role perception positively correlates with the Grade 12 STEM student's intention to enroll. An increase in role perception would also likely increase the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll in the Radiologic Technology program. It could be implied from the findings the importance high perceived role of the Radiologic Technology profession to elevate the number of enrollees for this program, thus,

information when making academic decisions. This finding aligns with the research conducted by Kram and Isabella (2017), which suggests that peer influence plays a significant role in students' career decision-making process. Moreover, Mtemeri's (2020) study posits that students were impacted by their peers through peer advice and motivation. The utilization of peer education was identified as an additional mechanism through which students were impacted by their peers. In contrast, Ouano et al. (2019) have reported that the influence of peers on students' work decisions was insignificant. This finding is consistent with the research conducted by Kaneez and Medha (2018), who also found that the impact of peer influence on pupils' career decisions was minimal.

resolving the increasing labor shortage in healthcare. Furthermore, role perception significantly predicts the intention of Grade 12 STEM students, thus, for every unit increase in the level of role perception, there is a corresponding increase in the intention of the students to enroll. Therefore, this implies that role perception contributes to the intention of Grade 12 STEM students to enroll Radiologic Technology program. Lastly, the career choice influence "parents, gender, and peer" has a moderating effect on the role perception and intention of Grade 12 STEM students. Among the four indicators, "school influence" appeared to be no moderating effect. It was evident that parents play a crucial part in having a direct students' career decisions. effect on Additionally, peer group induces influence in predetermined careers as well as gender. Furthermore, the career guidance programs offered in schools do not aid the students in choosing their careers.

This study suggests the following: school administrators, guidance counselors, registered radiologic technologists, schools or universities offering Radiologic Technology

and future researchers. programs, School administrators may develop a curriculum with purposeful learning opportunities for environments of training and education that will support all students in making informed decisions about their future careers and, as a result, encourage efficient participation in the workforce. To improve the school's career orientation programs and better support students in their career exploration, career guidance counselors may identify the elements impacting career development, uncover resources and sources of career information, and aid in the formulation of an educational framework. Moreover, to be viewed as significant contributors to the medical field, Radiologic Technologists may become more assertive and independent in their jobs. This entails adequately regulating the profession and outlining the obligations and standards of competence; hence, students who are considering this profession may be encouraged and inspired. Additionally, efforts should be further made to elevate the awareness of the Radiologic Technology profession. Schools or Universities offering Radiologic Technology programs may visit secondary educational institutions and conduct forums or conferences to provide valuable information about this profession. Finally, it is recommended that the forthcoming researcher take into account the possibility of obtaining a larger sample size from a more extensive population, given that the current study focused solely on a single region, educational level, and academic strand within the Senior High School program. The scholar posits that a more extensive investigation encompassing a broader and more diverse cohort is imperative to furnish a more universal depiction of the prevalence of the inclination to enroll in a Radiologic Technology educational program. Furthermore, they may also consider other variables and use a different methodology.

References

Anake, P. M., Adigeb, P. A., & Bassey, P. O. (2017). The influence of personality traits on career decision among secondary school students in Yakurr local government area of cross river state, Nigeria. *European Journal of Alternative Education Studies*.

- Andales, C. C., Arado, J., Catalan, A., Lucañas,
 R., Sanjorjo, K. J., Suarez, I., .
 Enriquez, L. (2017). Cross-sectional analysis on the level of awareness on the Radiologic Technology course among Grade 11 STEM students in selected schools in Mandaue City, Cebu.
- Ahmed, K. A., Sharif, N., & Ahmad, N. (2017). Factors influencing students' career choices: empirical evidence from business students. *Journal of Southeast Asian Research*, 2017(2017), 1-15.
- Ibrahim, M. A., Sidik, M. H. J., & Tajuddin, M. (2017). Accounting students' perception and their intention to become professionally qualified accountants. *In SHS Web of Conferences (Vol. 36*, p. 00008). EDP Sciences.
- Đurišić, M., Bunijevac, M. (2017). Parental Involvement as a Important Factor for Successful Education. Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal 7(3):137-153 DOI:10.26529/cepsj.291
- Almodovar, M. R. Arlegui, J., Zuniga, I (2018).
 Development of professional and personal qualities of radiologic technologists. *LPU–Laguna Journal of Allied Medicine Vol. 3* No. 1 August 2018
- Dagang, A.L. & De Mesa, C.D. (2017). Factors Influencing Choice of a Business School in a City of Southern Philippines. *Research Journal of Social Sciences*, 10(2), 1-7.

- Dalmacio, A., Escanilla, C. A., Servado, J. T., & Tenedero, A. (2017). Level of awareness on radiologic technology profession of senior high school students of De La Salle Health Sciences Institute.
- Eyo, M.B. (2019). Gender and occupational preferences among senior high school students in Cross River State Nigeria. *An International Multidisciplinary Journal Ethiopia*, 5(1):327-341.
- Gacohi J.N., Sindabi, A.M., Chepchieng, M.C.(2017). Influence of Career Information on Choice of Degree Programme among Regular and Self-Sponsored Students in Public Universities, Kenya
- Gwelo, A.S. (2019). Determinants of career choice among university students. http://ajba.um.edu.my/index.php/MOJE M/article/view/15758/9447
- Hallett, J & De,S. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 on Education in Healthcare and STEM. AIJR Preprints, (). https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cnso_bio_f acarticles/1047
- Humanika.(2019). Making vocational choices: A theory of vocational personalities and work environments (3rd ed.). Odessa, FL: *Psychological Assessment Resources*.
- Humayon, A. A., Raza, S., & Khan, R. A.
 (2018). Effect of Family Influence, Personal Interest and Economic Considerations on Career Choice amongst Undergraduate Students inHigher Educational Institutions of Vehari, Pakistan. International Journal of Organizational Leadership, 7(2).

- Kaneez, B. S., & Medha, K. (2018). Factors influencing grade 10 students' career choice in Mauritius. Development, 7(2), 30-44
- Kazi, A. S., & Akhlaq, A. (2017). Factors Affecting Students' Career Choice. Journal of Research & Reflections in Education (JRRE), 11(2).
- Kram,K. E., & Isabella, L. A. (2017). Mentoring alternatives: The role of peer relationships in career development. *Academy of Management Journal*, 28(1), 110-132.
- Laniado, N. (2021) 'Radiological Congresses and the Corona Pandemic - The Futureand Beyond', *Radiologia, vol. 63*, issue 1, 1-4.
- Liu, J. X., Goryakin, Y., Maeda, A., Bruckner, T., & Scheffler, R. (2017, February 3). Global Health Workforce Labor Market Projections for 2030 - Human Resources for Health. BioMed Central. Retrieved December 6, 2022, from https://humanresourceshealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1 186/s12960-017-0187-2
- Lupas, S.B., & Farin, E.N. (2021). Factors Influencing Career Choices Among High School Students in Zambales, Philippines. International Journal of Research in Engineering, Science and Management Volume 4, Issue 10, October 2021 https://www.ijresm.com | ISSN (Online): 2581-5792
- Markovich, S.H. (2022). Misconceptions Regarding The X- Ray Profession. *Review of Economic and Business Studies Volume 15*, Issue 1/2022, pp. 121-135 ISSN-1843-763X DOI: 10.47743/rebs-2022-1-0007

- Matalon, S. A., Guenette, J. P., Smith, S. E., Uyeda, J. W., Chua, A. S., Gaviola, G. C., & Durfee, S. M. (2019). Factors influencing choice of radiology and relationship to resident job satisfaction. *Current Problems in Diagnostic Radiology*, 48(4), 333-341.
- Maulana, M., Nadia, I., Othman, N. S., Akmar, S. S., Ramli, Z., Sahraduin, R., & Yasim, R. (2018). Radiation Awareness among Secondary School Students in Perak, Malaysia. *International Journal* of Engineering & Technology, 7(2.29), 830-836.
- Mtemeri, J. (2020). Peer pressure as a predictor of career decision-making among high school students in Midlands Province, Zimbabwe. Global Journal of Guidance and Counselling in Schools: *Current Perspectives. Environmental Planning and Management*, 10(3),120–131 https://doi.org/10.18844/gjgc.v10i3. 51(3), 325–34
- Okwulehie, M. E. C. (2018). Factors Affecting Career Choice among Senior Secondary School Students in Obio/Akpor Local Government Area of Rivers State (Implication to Counselling). International Journal of Innovative Education Research, 6(2):27-39.
- Ouano, J. J. G., Torre, J. F. D. L., Japitan, W. I., & Moneva, J. C. (2019). Factors influencing on grade 12 students' chosen courses in Jagobiao National High School-senior high school

department. International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications, 9(1), 421-431. http://dx.doi.org/10.29322/IJSRP.9.0 1.2019.p8555

- Poquet, O., Kitto, K., Jovanovic, J., Dawson, S., Siemens, G., & Markauskaite, L. (2021). Transitions through lifelong learning: Implications for learning analytics. *Computers and Education: Artificial Intelligence*, 2, 100039.
- Rafanan, R. J., De Guzman, C. Y. & Rogayan,
 D. J. (2020). Pursuing STEM Careers:
 Perspectives of Senior High School
 Students. Participatory Educational
 Research, 7 (3), 38-58. DOI:
 10.17275/per.20.34.7.3Press, *HRM Review*, pp. 29-33
- Sit, C., Srinivasan, R., Amlani, A., Muthuswamy, K., Azam, A., Monzon, L., & Poon, D. S. (2020). Attitudes and perceptions of UK medical students towards artificial intelligence and radiology: a multicentre survey. *Insights into imaging*, 11(1), 1-6. Social Sci Libre Texts. (2018,). Social Sci LibreTexts. Retrieved October 15, 2022,
- Twumasi, P., Emeto, T. I., Lindsay, D., Tsey, K., & Malau-Aduli, B. S. (2018). A Systematic Review of Factors That Influence Youths Career Choices—the Role of Culture. Frontiers. Retrieved November 9, 2022, from https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10. 3389/feduc.2018.00058/full

Attitude Towards Radiation Protection and Self-Efficacy in Relation to Radiation Safety Behavior of Radiologic Technologists Working in Region XII

Jackylou A. Baladic, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

This study explored the attitudes of radiologic technologists and their relationship to self-efficacy and radiation safety behavior. A quantitative study design was used in this study. This investigation was conducted with radiologic technologists working in Region XII as qualified professionals performing diagnostic procedures at multiple hospitals in Region XII, yielding a total of 80 study participants. Structured questionnaires were also used to collect data from participants. The statistical methods used in the study were mean, Pearson product-moment correlation, and multiple linear regression analysis. The findings demonstrated that radiologic technologists' general attitude toward radiation protection was quite high, as was their self-efficacy and radiation safety behavior. Furthermore, no significant association between attitude and self-efficacy in radiation safety behavior was discovered. Meanwhile, there is a negative correlation between frustration coping and physical environmental factors. Thus, this implies that radiologic technologists in Region XII hospitals are moderately self-efficient with their expertise in the correct and proper practice of radiation protection towards the radiation safety behavior of individuals. For the radiologic technologists in Region XII to boost their current radiation safety measures, leaders should design a quarterly seminar and training program to generate fresh ideas for advancing high-quality healthcare.

Keywords: Radiation Protection, Healthcare, Descriptive-Predictive, General Santos City

Corresponding email: jackyloutuballes@gmail.com

Introduction

Radiation safety has been identified as one of radiologic technologists' top concerns across all healthcare sectors. In reality, there is mounting evidence that radiation safety practices are crucial to improving hospitals' safety records. According to Arzahan et al. (2022), medical schools may use this as a key aspect in reducing radioactive exposure among healthcare students by linking safe radiation behavior to the dedication to the safety of radiologic technician students. To meet the demands of their patients and radiologists concerning radiologic safety, hospitals actively seek ways to improve their radiation safety standards and actively engage their students in radiation safety education. In addition,
training and information transfer are required to raise the performance of medical students in terms of safety requirements. (Schmiedhofer et al., 2021).

As stated by Carlsten et al. (2021), who researched 30,000 medical institution employees worldwide, between 28% and 56% of these healthcare workers who had high radiation exposure wanted to leave their jobs because they were afraid of getting cancer. As a result, there must be underlying causes for these high percentages.

In Seoul, Korea, even though medical radiation is categorized as low-dose, the body can still be negatively affected by even low doses because there are no human safety criteria for the lowest harmful dose. (Park et al., 2019). Similarly (Skoulidis et al., 2021), it was revealed that healthcare employee radioactivity raises the risk level, resulting in increased hazards for healthcare employees at work in a selected hospital in the Philippines. increased hazard of healthcare employees at work in a selected hospital in the Philippines. Both studies emphasize that hospitals' safety radiation problems have increased as a result of students' radiation safety-related problem behavior. Nonetheless, both recognized that safety behavior may play a critical role in coping with excessive radiation exposure, which may result in radiologic risk effects in both patients and medical students.

Among the noted antecedents of radiation protection attitudes are self-efficacy and radiation safety behavior at work. Doyen et al. (2020) discovered a significant and positive relationship between radiation safety behavior and safety efficacy. Furthermore, the battle against COVID-19 is being led by radiology professionals. But just a few of them have treated COVID-19 patients. (Park et al., 2019). And, according to the European Society of Radiology et al. (2019), cross-infection threat in the radiological section is increased by nonstandard preventative methods utilized during radiological investigations. As per the WHO, hospitals in Asia and the Pacific are unwavering in their commitment to patient radiation safety. However, as a result of increasing safety radiation risk behavior among healthcare employees, hospitals in the Philippines are experiencing real-life problems with safety radiation (Birch et al., 2021). Similarly, Dy et al. (2021) found that medical employee exposure to radiation raises the risk level, resulting in higherrisk exposure of medical employees at work because of over-familiarization and a large number of patients for whom they cannot do radiation safety conduct such as shielding for both patients and workers in a selected hospital in the Philippines.

Methods

The descriptive-predictive method was used to determine the level of attitude towards radiation protection and self-efficacy about the radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII hospitals in General Santos City. The respondents of the study were regular registered radiologic technologists working in Region XII private hospitals, with a sample size of 80. A complete survey questionnaire technique was employed to determine the sample size, and purposeful sampling was used to select the respondents. Only radiologic technologists with six months or more of working experience at the selected private hospital were included as respondents in this study. Due to the pandemic situation caused by COVID-19, on the day of data collection, the study used a web-based survey method to collect empirical data on the level of attitude and level of self-efficacy as predictors of the radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII. There was no face-to-face interaction in the context of the new normal. Because respondents completed web surveys on their own time and at their own pace without waiting for an interviewer, they had less social desirability bias than interviewer-administered modes.

In the analysis of the data, the following statistical tool was employed: the mean was used to assess the level of attitude, level of self-efficacy, and radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII. Pearson Product Moment Correlation was used to investigate the relationships between level of attitude, level of self-efficacy, and radiation safety behavior among radiologic technologists working in Region XII hospitals. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to investigate the role of attitudes towards radiation protection and self-efficacy as predictors of radiologic technologists' radiation safety behavior in Region XII.

Results and Discussion

Table 1

Summary of Level of Attitude of Radiologic Technologists Working in Region XII

Level of Attitude	Mean Rating	Std. Deviation	Descriptive Level
Personal Protection	4.227	0.594	Very High
Patient Protection	4.423	0.328	Very High
Environmental Protection	4.277	0.388	Very High
OVERALL Mean & SD	4.309	0.378	Very High

Level of attitude towards radiation protection among radiologic technologists working in Region XII

It can be assessed in Table 1 that combining the three facets of the level of attitude (4.227), patient (4.423), and environment (4.277) indicates a very high level of attitude among radiologic technologists working in Region XII with an overall mean of 4.309. This indicates that personal, patient, and environmental protection are always demonstrated among radiologic technologists. Thus, this shows a remarkable attitude towards radiation protection among radiologic technologists and their organizations that seek to bring in revenue. Governments, companies, and workers' organizations can receive the support they require in creating and putting into place initiatives to improve working conditions and the environment thanks to the integrated approach used by occupational safety and health action. These methods include the dissemination of information, technological cooperation, and international standards in the form of conventions and recommendations, codes of conduct, and information. (Márquez-Sánchez et al., 2021).

Table 2 Summary	v of Level of Self-efficac	v of Radiologic Tec	chnologistsWorking i	in Region XII
ruote 2. Summar	y of Level of bell efficae		ciniologists working i	in region mi

Self-Efficacy	Mean Rating	Std. Deviation	Descriptive Level
Frustration Coping	4.693	0.359	Very High
Enterprising Exploration	4.341	0.596	Very High
OVERALL Mean & SD	4.517	0.421	Very High

Table 2 presents the level of self-efficacy for radiologic technologists working in Region XII. Self-efficacy with two indicators has an overall mean of 4.517 and a standard deviation of 0.421, which indicates a very high level of self-efficacy. This simply denotes that the participants always exhibit self-efficacy in their jobs.

The findings revealed that radiologic technologists have a high level of self-efficacy. Results manifest that the highest mean (4.825) was for statement number 2: "I respect schedules and working deadlines," which means that the participants show a good level of agreement regarding this statement. Meanwhile, the lowest mean (4.250) was for statement 4: "I concentrate all energy on work," which means that the participants

Level of self-efficacy of radiologic technologists

show a slightly good level of agreement regarding this statement. The frustration coping category mean is 4.693, which was described as high. This means that radiologic technologists agree that the frustration of coping will influence their practice toward radiation protection. About the standard deviation (0.359), values are presented as normal, which means that most of the numbers are close to the average. This result confirms the study: frustration coping and entrepreneurial exploration can all be brought. Dosimeters are tools for figuring out radiation exposure in its entirety. Wearing these devices is mandatory for all medical staff who will be subjected to planned ionizing radiation. In a large number of healthcare settings, there is regrettably a lack of monitoring, which results in a lack of reliable data. (Mozumder, 2022).

Table 3. Level of Radiation Safety Behavior of Radiologic Technologists Working in Region XII

	Overall Mean Rating	Overall Std. Deviation	Descriptive Level
Radiation Safety Behavior	4.378	0.520	Very High

Level of Radiation Safety Behavior

Table 3 demonstrates the radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII. It is shown that the overall sub-scale mean value of 4.378 and standard deviation of 0.520 exhibits a very high level of radiation safety behavior. The results denote that they always consider radiation safety behavior. Meanwhile, their Radiation safety behavior is evident with the highest mean value of 4.638 for both statements 4 and 5: "I practice reduction exposure" and "I practice maintenance of distance from radiation source", followed by the highest mean (4.438) was for statement 2: " I practice attention to prevention of radiation hazard/posting of the expected maximum exposure dose" which regarded as very high., the lowest mean (3.913) was for statement 4:

"I practice furnishing of radiation measuring instrument" which regarded as oftentimes. The structure category mean is 4.177 which was described as High. This means that radiologic technologists agree that a good structure manifests in the physical environmental factor. Concerning standard deviation (0.725), values are presented as normal and this means that most of the numbers are close to the average. The result was affirmed by the Department of Labor (2020) The three key principles of radiation protection are justification, increased safety and protection, and the application of dosage limitations. Following these fundamental guidelines is the only way to ensure that any ionizing radiation-based medical application yields the most precise and reliable results while emitting the least amount of radiation. The degree to which medical professionals are aware of the negative effects of radiation on human health is directly related to this.

Table 4. Relationship between Level of Attitude and Level of Radiation Safety Behavior of Radiologic Technologists working in Region XII

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	Radiation Safety Behavior			
	0.661	<.001	Significant	Rejected

Relationship between Level of Attitude and Radiation Safety Behavior

The test of correlation for attitude and radiation safety radiologic behavior for technologists working in Region XII is presented in Table 4 above. Findings revealed a significant correlation between attitude and radiation safety behavior with a correlation coefficient of r = 0.661and a p-value of .001; hence, the null hypothesis was rejected and that there is a significant relationship between the level of attitude and the level of radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists. Meanwhile, the positive correlation revealed that the level of attitude and the level of radiation safety behavior are directly proportional. This in turn implies that an increase in attitudes towards radiation protection will likely increase radiation safety behavior.

This result can be confirmed by the research of Bitterman (2022), which indicates that the objective of radiological protection is to offer enough protection for humans without unnecessarily restricting the beneficial activities that lead to radiation exposure. A significant increase in radiologic technologists' radiation protection would fairly increase their radiation safety behavior in the organization. According to the International Atomic Energy Agency (2020), the greatest amount of radiation exposure for medical staff occurs during fluoroscopic procedures. Healthcare workers are exposed to low quantities of radiation through diagnostic imaging modalities such as computerized tomography, mammography scans, and nuclear imaging. Excessive usage of radiation puts at risk both patients and medical professionals.

Table 5. Relationship between Self-Efficacy and Radiation Safety Behavior of Radiologic Technologists Working in Region XII

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE		Radiation Safe	ety Behavior	
	r	p-value	Remarks	Decision on Ho
	0.865	<.001	Significant	Rejected

Relationship between Self-efficacy and Radiation Safety Behavior

Data projected in Table 5 indicates that the null hypothesis is rejected since there is a significant

relationship between the level of self-efficacy and the level of radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII. This can be clearly explained with the p-value of .001 and correlation coefficient r = 0.865, wherein the variables are significantly related. The positive correlation coefficient indicates that self-efficacy and the level of radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists are directly proportional. The result implies that those who are self-efficient with their job are more likely to exhibit excellent radiation safety behavior in organizations.

Previous studies by Lab Manager (2022) indicate that to reduce unnecessary and redundant exposure, the technician or doctor should prepare

the necessary images before exposing the patient to radiation. Magnification significantly enhances the patient's exposure; as a result, it should be used with caution. have found a significant positive relationship between self-efficacy and radiation safety behavior. Furthermore, Bard (2022) discovered a positive and significant relationship between job self-efficacy and radiation safety behavior that would help reduce exposure. Another way to restrict exposure is to increase the distance between the X-ray beam and the component being scanned. The X-ray tube should be as close to the patient as possible, but the image intensifier or Xray plate should be as far away as possible while still preserving the requisite picture resolution.

Table 6. Influence of attitude, and Self-efficacy on radiation safety behavior of radiologic Technologists working in Region XII

	Standardized Coefficients	Beta	p-value	Remarks	
Level of Attitude	0.374	1.620	4.467	Significant	
Level of Self-efficacy	0.884	0.316	11.788	Significant	

Influence of Level of Attitude and Level of Self-Efficacy on Radiation Safety Behavior

Table 6 presents the results of the regression analysis, which aims to identify significant predictors of radiation safety behavior. The results indicate that both levels of attitude and level of selfefficacy have no significant influence on radiation safety behavior, with a p-value of less than 001. Meanwhile, this implies. That level of attitude and self-efficacy can be associated with radiation safety behavior but may not be a predictor. In particular, it shows that the influence of attitude on radiation safety behavior has generated a p-value that is greater than (p-value = 4.467) and a positive standardized beta value of 0.374.

This denotes that the regression weight for the level of attitude in the radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII is significant. Thus, for every unit increase in attitude, there is a corresponding increase in radiologic technologists' radiation safety behavior in their organization by 0.374. The findings can be supported by the study by the Department of Labor (2020), where the level of awareness among medical experts about the harmful effects of radiation on human health is directly proportional to this and related to radiation safety behavior but not a predictor.

In the same way, the influence of selfefficacy does not influence the radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists working in Region XII with a p-value that is greater than 11.788 and a positive beta value of 0.884. This indicates that for every unit increase in self-efficacy, radiation safety behavior increases by 0.884. The findings can be supported by the study of Tanveer et al. (2021), wherein safety and self-efficacy have a modestly beneficial influence on radiation safety behavior. This result implies that self-efficacy is related to radiation safety behavior but not a predictor. Kim, B., and Jung, S.'s (2019) findings revealed that many investigations have investigated the impact of transformational leadership on safety behavior; those studies placed relatively less emphasis on the mediating function of job stress on employees as well as circumstances that alter the relationship. Because job stress has a significant impact on employees' perceptions, attitudes, and behaviors inside an organization, yet some contextual elements mitigate the correlations, we investigated mediating mechanisms.

Lastly, the findings were apparent in the results of the regression analysis, where 79.9 percent of the variance of the level of radiation safety behavior can be explained by the two independent variables, as indicated by R2 = 0.799. However, it still leaves 79.9 percent for other factors aside from the two independent variables in the study. This

Conclusion and Recommendations

indicates that other additional variables are vital to the participant's radiation safety behavior that have not been considered in this study. Based on this evidence, both have a standard attitude, and selfefficient radiologic technologists may have increased radiation safety behavior; therefore, more research is needed to determine why such an association exists. As a result, the higher their level of attitude and self-efficacy, the more successful they will be at work; otherwise, even in organizations that regularly work with radiation, studies evaluating healthcare workers' knowledge and awareness of radiation safety protocols reveal ignorance about the biological effects of radiation. (Mayo Clinic, 2022). There could also be other reasons for the radiation safety behavior of radiologic technologists.

technologists. Although the level of attitude has a positive relationship with the level of radiation safety behavior, its influence was significant in predicting radiation safety

The radiologic technologist's level of attitude towardshavior. Therefore, only self-efficacy significantly radiation protection among the respondents in terms contributes to the radiation safety behavior of a radiologic personal protection, patient protection, and environmentarchnologist. Meanwhile, it was revealed that the R-square protection was all very high. Therefore, attitudes towardslue of 0.799 is attributed to self-efficacy as a predictor of radiation protection are always manifested among radiologicadiation safety behavior. This means the remaining 79.9% technologists. The radiologic technologists were very highly be attributed to other possible indicators predicting in frustration coping and entrepreneurial exploration. Thus, ir radiation safety behavior.

self-efficacy was always exhibited among radiologic

technologists. Therefore, radiologic technologists always This study suggests the following: administrators, human resources exhibit radiation safety behavior. The level of attitude hospital positively correlates with the radiation safety behavior of departments, supervisors, registered radiologic radiologic technologists. This means that as the level of technologists, and future research. It is attitude increases, the radiation safety behavior of radiologic recommended that hospital managers continue to technologists will likely increase. However, the relationship increase their understanding of how people use between attitude and radiation safety behavior was technology to meet the needs of radiologic significant. The level of self-efficacy positively correlates technologists and make an effort to support their safety behavior of radiologic efforts to develop radiation safety behaviors. with the radiation technologists. It shows the result of the test of the Since radiation safety behavior can never be at relationship between the dimension of self-efficacy and the highest level, radiologic technologists must radiation safety practice. All the relationships are work harder and consider all available options to significant. Between the two independent variables, level of achieve their professional success goals and the attitude and self-efficacy, only frustration coping and physical environmental effects of radiation. It is physical environmental factors significantly influence or advised that radiologic technologists continue to predict the radiation safety behavior of radiologic enhance their quarterly training and seminars to

generate new ideas and deliver more excellent and competent other radiological procedures to provide high-quality care. Future researchers should investigate the remaining 79.9% attributed to other indicators such as frustration coping and

References

- American Cancer Society. (2020). Radiation Therapy. Retrieved from American Cancer Society: https://www.cancer.org/treatment/treat ments-and-side-effects/treatment types/radiation.html
- Arpansa. (2021). What is ionizing radiation? Retrieved from Australian Government : https://www.arpansa.gov.au/understand

ing-radiation/what-isradiation/ionising-radiation

- Arzahan, I. S. N., Ismail, Z., & Yasin, S. M. (2022). Safety culture, safety climate, and safety performance in healthcare facilities: a systematic review. Safety science, 147, 105624.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.20 21.105624
- Bard, S. (2022, January 27). Lupus disease: Symptoms, causes, diagnosis, and more. Retrieved from Medical News Today: https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/art icles/323653
- Bitterman, A. (2022, May 23). Radiation Safety and Protection. Retrieved from NCBI Bookshelf: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/N BK557499/
- Carlsten, Christopher, Mridu Gulati, Stella Hines, Cecile Rose, Kenneth Scott, Susan M. Tarlo, Kjell Torén, Akshay Sood, and Rafael E. de la Hoz.

physical environment that could be influenced by attitude and self-efficacy to further improve the future study on the predictors of radiation safety behavior.

"COVID-19 as an occupational disease." American journal of industrial medicine 64, no. 4 (2021): 227-237.. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.2322 2

Cleveland Clinic. (2022). Dysuria (Painful Urination). Retrieved from Cleveland Clinic: https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/di seases/15176-dysuria-painful-urination

- Department of Labor. (2020). Ionizing Radiation. Retrieved from Department of Labor: https://www.osha.gov/ionizingradiation/background
- Doyen, D., Moceri, P., Ducreux, D., & Dellamonica, J. (2020). Myocarditis in a patient with C OVID-19: a cause of raised troponin and ECG changes. The Lancet, 395(10235), 1516. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30912-0
- European Society of Radiology, & European Federation of Radiographer Societies. (2019). Patient safety in medical imaging: A joint paper of the European Society of Radiology (ESR) and the European Federation of Radiographer Societies (EFRS). Radiography, 25(2), e26–e38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.01.0 09
- Ferrero, A., Takahashi, N., Vrtiska, T. J., Krambeck, A. E., Lieske, J. C., & McCollough, C. H. (2019). Understanding, justifying, and

optimizing radiation exposure for CT imaging in nephrourology. Nature Reviews Urology, 16(4), 231-244.https://doi.org/10.1038/s41585-019-0148-8

- International Atomic Energy Agency. (2020). Radiation protection in radiology. Retrieved from International Atomic Energy Agency: https://www.iaea.org/resources/rpop/he alth- professionals/radiology
- Kim, B.-J., & Jung, S.-Y. (2019). The Mediating Role of Job Strain in the Transformational Leadership-Safety Behavior Link: The Buffering Self-Efficacy Effect of on Safety. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(8), 1425. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16081425
- Park, S., & Yang, Y. (2021). Factors Affecting Radiation Protection Behaviors among E mergency Room Nurses. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(12), 6238. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126238
- Reilly, K. (2022). Philips advances MR radiotherapy imaging and simulation for head and neck cancers. Retrieved from Philipps: https://www.philips.com/aw/about/news/archive/standard/news/pr ess/2022/20221020-philips-advancesmr- radiotherapy-imaging-andsimulation-for-head-and-neckcancers.html
- Schmiedhofer, M., Derksen, C., Keller, F. M., Dietl, J. E., Häussler, F., Strametz, R., ... & Lippke, S. (2021). Barriers and facilitators of safe communication in obstetrics: results from qualitative interviews with physicians, midwives and nurses. International journal of

environmental research and public health, 18(3), 915.https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph1803 0915

- Skoulidis, F., Li, B. T., Dy, G. K., Price, T. J., Falchook, G. S., Wolf, J., Italiano, A., Borghaei, H., Barlesi, Schuler, M., F., Kato, T., Curioni-Fontecedro, A., Sacher, A., Spira, A., Ramalingam, S. S., Takahashi, T., Besse, B., Anderson, A., Ang, A., ... Govindan, R. (2021). Sotorasib for Lung Cancers with KRAS p.G12C Mutation. New England Journal of Medicine, 384(25), 2371 -2381. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa21 03695
- Tanveer, A., Zeng, S., Irfan, M., & Peng, R. (2021). Do perceived risk, perception of selfefficacy, and openness to technology matter for solar PV adoption? An application of the extended theory of planned behavior. Energies, 14(16), 5008. https://doi.org/10.3390/en141650 08
- Lab Manager. (2022). Discovery Could Dramatically Narrow Search for Space Creatures. Retrieved from Lab Manager: https://www.labmanager.com/news/disc overy-could- dramatically-narrowsearch-for-space-creatures-29066
- Márquez-Sánchez, S., Campero-Jurado, I., Herrera-Santos, J., Rodríguez, S., &Corchado, J. M. (2021). Intelligent platform based on smart PPE for safety in workplaces. Sensors, 21(14), 4652. https://doi.org/10.3390/s2114465 2
- Mayo Clinic. (2022). Radiation therapy. Retrieved from Mayo Clinic:

https://www.mayoclinic.org/testsprocedures/radiation-therapy/about/pac-20385162

- Mozumder, A. (2022). radiation. Retrieved from Britannica: https://www.britannica.com/science/rad iation
- Naqvi, S. T. S., Batool, S. W., Rizvi, S. A. H., & Farhan, K. (2019). Awareness of Hazards of X- Ray Imaging and Perception Regarding Necessary Safety

Measures to be Taken During X-Ray Imaging Procedures Among Patients in Public Sector Tertiary Hospitals of Karachi, Pakistan. Cureus. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.4756

Wojcik, A., & Harms-Ringdahl, M. (2019).
Radiation protection biology then and now. International journal of radiation biology, 95(7), 841850
https://doi.org/10.1080/09553002.2019.
1589027.

Knowledge and Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologist to Emerging and Re-Emerging Diseases in Region XII

Karen Joy A. Crespo, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

One contributor to mental health issues is the occurrence of pandemics. Various responses, including psychological distress, are possible as an effect of potential traumatic circumstances brought about by pandemics. Depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder are more likely to appear in people exposed to such highly contagious and often fatal diseases. This study determined how knowledge of newly emerging and re-emerging diseases affects Radiologic Technologists' psychological readiness. The respondents of this study were a total of 133 Radiologic Technologists from chosen public and private institutions in Region XII. The statistical tools employed in this study were Frequency and Percentage, Mean and Standard Deviation, Pearson Product Moment Correlation, and Linear Regression Analysis. The findings showed that Radiologic Technologists have the basic knowledge of the four emerging/re-emerging diseases: Zika Virus Disease (3.37), Monkeypox Virus Disease (4.07), Middle Eastern Respiratory Syndrome (4.13), and Ebola Disease (3.94). The findings also showed that Radiologic Technologists were highly self-efficient (4.02), moderately optimistic (3.74), and with normal resiliency (3.75). Pearson R Correlation confirmed a significant positive relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness. Moreover, Linear Regression confirmed that the knowledge of emerging and reemerging diseases of Radiologic Technologists significantly influences their psychological preparedness. The hierarchical regression analysis result shows that the moderating effect of sex, assigned area, and years in service do not influence the relationship between the variables. The researcher recommends developing intervention programs that will increase the knowledge related to emerging and re-emerging diseases and improve the psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists towards these potential pandemics.

Keywords: Knowledge, Health, Descriptive-Predictive, Region XII

Corresponding email: kjcrespo321@gmail.com

Introduction

According to Lawrance & Jennings (2022), one contributor to mental health issues is the occurrence of pandemics. Various responses, including psychological distress, are possible outcomes in response to the potential traumatic circumstances brought by pandemics. People exposed to contagious diseases were more likely to develop depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Hasanvandi& Saadat, 2022). As per Wynn (2017), it is observed that survivors may endure feelings of loss, sadness, worry, and depression; issues in sleeping, concentrating, decision-making, and determining priorities; and other difficulties. Psychological trauma may outnumber physical trauma after diseases and other crises (Zha &Foroudi, 2022).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, a significant frequency of mental disorders like depression, anxiety, and insomnia was revealed among healthcare personnel (Pappa &Ntella, 2020). A recent study indicated that between 55.2% and 51.4% of healthcare providers in Saudi Arabia had symptoms of depression and anxiety during the pandemic. Similarly, depression and anxiety were experienced by 17% to 45% of healthcare workers in Southeast Asia respectively (Rocha & Costa, 2021). Furthermore, 10% of the respondents present symptoms of stress, 26% of anxiety symptoms, and 18% of depressive symptoms in the Philippines (Carascal& Capistrano, 2022). AlAteeq et al. (2020) revealed that severe anxiety among healthcare professionals during COVID-19 was twice as high as that among emergency healthcare workers before the pandemic.

The goal of this study is to evaluate the psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists in Region XII for newly emerging and re-emerging diseases, to assess their level of selfefficacy, to determine their level of optimism, and to determine their level of resilient coping. Secondly, to investigate the connection between knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases to the psychological preparedness, self-efficacy, optimism, and resiliency of the respondents. Lastly, to determine the connection between the sociodemographic characteristics and the variables being studied.

of Radiologic The preparedness Technologists to respond to sudden and developing health hazards is thought to include knowledge, skills, talents, and value (Hassanie, 2022). However, there is a lack of exploration. In 2018, Lam (2018) did a literature study on Radiologic Technologists' preparedness; however, only a few quantitative studies were included for analysis. Due to the relatively small number of papers included, the underlying components Radiologic of Technologists' preparedness were not adequately synthesized. In addition, it is essential to thoroughly comprehend their psychological preparedness for newly emerging and re-emerging diseases. When factors affecting psychological preparedness are understood, insights can be gained such as the weaknesses and resources needed which can in turn be utilized to develop effective plans and interventions aimed at achieving the desired outcome. Disease management strategies against specific emerging and re-emerging diseases can be established as a result of this.

The matter concerning emerging and reemerging diseases is not routinely common for Radiologic Technologists. This study helped Radiologic Technologists assess their knowledge on this subject. It also helped them identify their strengths and weaknesses and foresee the challenges they may experience. By doing so, the study hoped to encourage Radiologic Technologist Societies to create and implement pre- and post-outbreak plans and programs.

Knowledge of Emerging and Re-emerging diseases. Viral infections represent an everincreasing risk to humanity due to the emergence and reappearance of previously eradicated diseases (Tryland, 2018). RNA viruses are the leading causes of respiratory infections in humans, ranging from the common cold to severe disease and even death. To be more specific, infections brought on by RNA viruses are more dangerous than those brought on by other types of viruses because RNA viruses interact with human proteins that function in cellular processes that are unique to the cell as well as in intracellular transit inside the cell (Durmus & Ülgen, 2017). Primary RNA viral infections include Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS). MERS stands for Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (Reperant & Osterhaus, 2017). The increase in the number of infections that are caused by RNA viruses has resulted in a rise in the amount of research that is being conducted in the fields of genetic engineering, biotechnology, and other emerging technologies to develop more advanced methods of diagnosis, treatment, and vaccines.

Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologist. Evidence for the effectiveness of psychological preparedness interventions in communities suffering natural disasters served as a for foundation modeling the concept of psychological preparedness for the outbreak (McLennan et al., 2020). According to Bighelli & Rodolico (2021), interventions that concentrate on psychological readiness effectively assist communities in this situation. In addition, Roudini et al. (2017) identified three essential elements of psychological readiness. These include a state of awareness and expectation of one's psychological reactions to a disaster, the ability to identify stressrelated emotions and thoughts generated by the disaster, and the ability to deal with those stressful emotions and ideas in an adaptive manner that enhances one's ability to cope with the disaster. Essential aspects of psychological preparedness for communities and people are most transferable from one disaster to another (Clay & Goetschius, 2019). Controlling one's thoughts, feelings, and responses to the impending catastrophe — commonly referred to as coping with these issues"-is another aspect of being prepared.

Methods

The descriptive-predictive method was used to determine the knowledge and psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists working in selected private and public hospitals in Region XII. The actual number of respondents is 133 out of the possible 200 Radiologic Technologists from selected hospitals in Region XII. Participants of this study were chosen using a simple random sampling method-the procedure for choosing from a population where every individual has the same chance of getting picked. The number of samples was computed using Raosoft Calculator. Only Radiologic Technologists with six months or more of working experience in the selected private and public hospitals were eligible to be a respondent in this study. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the study used a web-based survey method on the day of data collection to collect empirical data on Technologists' Radiologic knowledge and psychological preparedness. There was no face-toface interaction in the context of the new normal. Because respondents completed web surveys on their own time and at their own pace without waiting for an interviewer, they had less social desirability bias compared to interviewer-administered methods.

The researcher took the necessary steps during the data collection process to ensure that ethical integrity was kept. The Program Chair of the Master of Science in Radiologic Technology noted a letter authorizing the study which was then sent to each private and public hospital's official email addresses for approval, with the assistance of each institution's Chief Radiologic Technologists. As evidence of their voluntary participation in the study, respondents were asked to confirm their informed consent online via Google form, as specified in the instrument. This study only considered those who signed the consent form. The survey was carried out online, with all the study's explanations and test instructions included in the questionnaires. After all respondents submitted their entries, the data was then encoded, tabulated, and evaluated. To eliminate any

potential outliers, data were screened during the study. A statistician was consulted to ensure the precision of the mathematical computations.

In the data analysis, the following statistical tool was employed: Frequency and Percentage were used to reflect the sociodemographic profile of the respondents, specifically for gender, assigned area, years in service, and employment status of Radiologic Technologists in selected hospitals in Region XII. Mean and Standard Deviation were used to measure the level of psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists in terms of selfefficacy, optimism, resilience, and status of their knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases. Pearson Product Moment Correlation

was used to measure the significant relationship the knowledge of Radiologic between Technologists in terms of emerging and reemerging diseases and their psychological preparedness. Meanwhile, Linear Regression Analysis was used to further measure the influence of the knowledge of Radiologic Technologists in terms of emerging and reemerging diseases on their psychological preparedness. Hierarchical Regression Analysis was used to determine if demographic profiles significantly moderate the relationship between knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases and the psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists.

Results and Discussion

Table 1. Demographic Profile of the Respondents

1.1 Profile Frequency Percentage Sex

Sex	Frequency	Percentage
Female	74	55.6
Male	59	44.4
Total	133	100.0
1.2 Assigned Area		
X-ray	93	69.9
Ct-scan	20	15.0
Ultrasound	16	12.0
Others	4	3.0
Total	133	100.0
1.3 Years of experience		
Five years and above	48	36.1
Three years to less than five years	27	20.3
One year to less than three years	43	32.3
Six month	15	11.3
Total	133	100.0

Table 1 shows the demographic profile of the participants — the final sample comprised 133 Radiologic Technologists. Respondents were mostly female (f=74, 55.6%) compared to male (f=59, 44.4%). Of the total respondents, 69.9% (f=93) work in the X-ray Department, 12% (f=16) work in the Ultrasound Department, 15% (f=20) work in the CT-Scan Area, and the remaining 3% (f=4) work in the

other areas not mentioned. In terms of work experience, as Radiologic Technologists, 11.3% (f=15) worked for less than one year, 32.3% (f=43) have work experience of 1 year but not more than two years, 20.3% (f=27) worked for three years but not more than 4 years and 36.1% (f=48) worked for above five years.

Table 2. Summary of Level of Knowledge Emerging and Re-emerging Diseases.

	Mean Rating	Std. Deviation	Interpretation
Mers-Cov Knowledge	4.13	.827	High
Monkey Pox Knowledge	4.07	.855	High
Ebola Knowledge	3.94	.828	High
Zika Knowledge	3.37	1.054	Moderate
Overall Mean & SDs	3.877	.779	High

Summary of Level of Knowledge Emerging and Re-emerging Diseases

Table 2 presents that the overall mean score for the Knowledge of Radiologic Technologists of emerging and re-emerging diseases was 3.88 which indicates that Radiologic Technologists have a *basic knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases*. The data presents that Knowledge of Mers-Cov garnered the highest mean rating (4.13), which means that Radiologic Technologists have *adequate knowledge* of Mers-Cov. Meanwhile, Knowledge of the Zika Disease garnered the lowest (3.37) which means that the Radiologic Technologists have a *basic knowledge* of the Zika virus. This may imply that the threat of Mers-Cov was more impactful to the respondents than the threat of Zika, considering that they have more knowledge of the former than the latter. Although this study does not explore the factors that affect the respondents' knowledge level, a study by Nadeak (2019) suggested that knowledge has a positive correlational relationship with experience, including critical thinking skills and common sense. The study's outcome may be influenced by the recent COVID-19 pandemic, which shares an almost similar disease process with Mers-Cov being both coronaviruses that initially manifest as influenza-like illnesses

	Mean	Std. Deviation	Interpretation
Self-efficacy	4.018	.6550	High Self- Efficacy
Optimism	3.749	.6348	High Optimism
Resiliency	3.754	.694064	High Resilience
Psychological Preparedness	3.84		High

Table 3. Summary of Level of Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologists in Terms of Self-Efficacy, Optimism, and Resilience

Summary of Level of Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologists in Terms of Selfefficacy, Optimism, and Resilience

The overall for the mean score Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologists after combining Self-Efficacy (4.01), Optimism (3.749), and Resilience (3.75) generated a 3.84 average mean score which indicated Radiologic Technologists have a high psychological preparedness. This may imply that respondents agree that giving effort highly encourages success in problem-solving and that, on the other hand, the opposition can be a factor that affects their selfefficacy. This implies that the respondents' qualities associated with coping with adversity are average (Riquelme& Pons, 2022). Thus, they can triumph over hardships or succumb to mental health issues such as anxiety or PTSD. In research by Bartlett (2021), resilience scores among frontline healthcare workers worldwide during the COVID-19 pandemic were generally determined to be in the moderate range.

Table 4. Summary of Relationship between Knowledge and Psychological Preparedness of Radiologic Technologists to Emerging and Re-emerging Diseases.

	R	P Value	Interpretation (null hypothesis)	Remarks
Knowledge				
Preparedness	.636	<.001	Rejected	Significant

Relationship between Knowledge and Psychological Preparedness

The table above shows the test of the correlation between the knowledge of Radiologic Technologists to emerging and re-emerging diseases and psychological preparedness. The results revealed that the relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness is *moderately significant*, as can be gleaned from the p-value of less than 0.005 (.001) and the correlation coefficient R=.636. This means that the increase in knowledge on emerging and re-emerging diseases would also likely increase the psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists.

In other studies where knowledge has been linked to different aspects of preparedness, the results also support the finding that knowledge positively affects preparedness or its sub-elements. Research conducted by Auerbach (2022) resulted in a finding that there is a positive association between optimism and knowledge. The study found that the participants' levels of optimism increased when they

were provided with pertinent information. According to the findings of a study by Alharthy (2018) on the relationship between the development of knowledge and the resilience of organizations, knowledge increases the capabilities of resilience. It plays an integral part in the resilience of organizations. In addition, individuals who rated themselves as having more excellent perceived knowledge tended to rate themselves as having higher self-efficacy, which means that they were more capable of completing research-oriented tasks, according to a study on perceived knowledge and self-efficacy in research conducted by Boswell (2018). As a result, they indicated that the more one learns about research, the more confident one grows in their ability to execute it. Applying the results the previous similar studies to the current study implies that the more knowledgeable Radiologic Technologists are on a disease leads to better reactions and coping towards it.

		Standardized Coefficients	t	p-value	Remarks
Knowledge		.665	10.565	<.001	Significant
Preparedness		.665	10.179	<.001	Significant
	R= .665	$R^2 = .442$	adjusted R ² =.	437 F =	103.616

 Table 5. Influence of Knowledge on Psychological Preparedness

Regression Coefficients Between the knowledge of a Radiologic Technologist in terms of emerging and re-emerging disease and psychological preparedness of a Radiologic Technologist. The table shows the result of linear regression analysis, which aims to show the significant predictor of psychological preparedness. The result indicated that knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases significantly predicted psychological preparedness. It showed that the influence of knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases on psychological preparedness generated a p-value less than .05 and a positive

standardized beta value of .665. This suggested that knowledge significantly predicts psychological preparedness (B=.665, p<.05). The regression weight for knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases in the prediction of psychological preparedness is significantly far from zero at the 0.05 level (two-tailed). Thus, for every unit increase in knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases, there is a corresponding increase in psychological preparedness of .665. This further supports that knowledge of emerging and re-emerging diseases contributes to the psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists. The findings of the regression analysis results apparently showed that the knowledge of a Radiologic Technologist can explain the variance (48.6%) of psychological preparedness of a Radiologic Technologist in terms of emerging and re-emerging diseases. The findings support the idea that acquiring knowledge improves an aspect of an individual's preparedness for a particular event or task, further supporting the idea that knowledge is power.

A similar study was conducted by Chiang (2020) on the knowledge, skill competencies, and psychological preparedness of nurses for disasters. In that study, the researchers concluded that to be prepared for disasters, the respondents, in general, need to possess enough knowledge and skills to minimize the impact and negative consequences of the disaster on a community, such as traumas, injuries, the spread of diseases, stress, and psychological distress. Ghasemi (2022) also explained that a lack of awareness often leads to an unconcerned attitude, which may adversely affect the preparedness to meet challenges during epidemic and pandemic periods. The fear and anxiety related to epidemics and pandemics also influence people's behavior in the community. As all epidemics and pandemics have unique characteristics regarding causality, progression, and control measures, providing health education and creating awareness during such situations is crucial to prevent disease spread effectively.

Model I - Sex	Beta	Std. Error	t-value	р
Constant	2.630	.613	4.292	.000
Know	.316	.156	2.034	.044
SEX	409	.394	-1.038	.301
Int_1	.103	.100	1.029	.306
$R=.640; R^2=.40$	9; F=29.75; p<.000			
Model II - Assign	ned Area			
Constant	2.312	.472	4.895	.000
Know	.416	.120	3.466	.001
Assigned Area	220	.345	638	.524

TC 11	-	א ד ו	· •		C C	•	D 1 4	• • •	• . 1	T7	1 1	1	D 1	1	• 1	n	1
Ianie	h	NIOders	ntin a	HITACT	OT NO	v 1n	Relat	ionchir	www.	Knr	WUADDA	and	Peve	กกเก	$\alpha_1 c_{21}$	Prot	nareanecc
I anne	U .	IVICIUCIC		LIICOL	UL DU	лш	norat	IOHSHIL		INTRO	JWICUEC	and	1 3 4 6		2 ICai	1101	Jarounoss
													- ~ /		—		

Int_2	.042	.188	1.029	.636				
R=.639; R ² =.408; F=29.93; p<.000								
Model III - Years	of Experience							
	Beta	Std. Error	t-value	р				
Constant	1.547	.538	2.877	.005				
Know	.590	.136	4.347	.000				
Years of Experience	.168	.174	.966	.336				
Int_3	043	.045	966	.336				

R= .641; R^2 =.411; F=29.68; p<.000

The Model I shows the result of the moderating effect of Sex in the relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists. The result shows that Sex does not influence the relationship of the variables. This implies that the magnitude and direction of the relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness is not dictated by Sex. Statistical analysis using Hierarchical Regression Analysis yielded a beta value of .103, with t-value of 1.029, at p-value of >.05 which indicates that there is no significant interaction effect and therefore the interaction is highly not significant. This means that the gender of the respondents does not necessarily influence their knowledge and psychological preparedness for emerging and re-emerging diseases.

Tran (2019) mentioned that several studies on sex differences in general knowledge differed about exact instrumentation, language and country, respondent age, socioeconomic and educational background, and schooling. Furthermore, sex differences in intelligence and cognitive abilities may fluctuate from childhood to adolescence and adulthood (Nguyen, 2022). These studies suggest that many factors can influence individuals' mental capabilities, regardless of their sex, which can have varying research outcomes depending on the point of comparison. However, the current study ultimately suggests that knowledge and psychological preparedness for emerging and re-emerging diseases are not affected by gender.

The Model II shows the result of the moderating effect of the Assigned Area in the relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists. The data shows that the area of assignment of Radiologic Technologists also do not influence the relationship between the variables. This implies that the assigned area does not dictate the magnitude and direction of the relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness. The interaction is also highly not significant (b = .042, t = .475, p >.05) which indicates that the Assigned Area does not moderate the relationship between knowledge and preparedness, whether Radiologic Technologists work in the X-ray Department, CT-Scan Unit, MRI Unit, etc.

In Contrast, a study by Al Shaikh (2022) indicated that speciality, among others, was significantly associated with infection control knowledge of MERS-Cov among healthcare workers. This was implied to be due to the country being widely affected by MERS-Cov. A similar result was also suggested by another study by Alrajhi (2022), where there was a significant association between the HCWs' profession in the radiology department and their knowledge of COVID-19 and good clinical practices of infection control measures during the pandemic. A correlation may be determined in both related studies because the respondents had experience with patients infected with MERS-Cov or COVID-19, meanwhile the respondents in the current study have only experienced COVID-19 and therefore, may not have been impacted by other infectious diseases.

Model III shows the result of the moderating effect of Years in Service in the relationship between the knowledge and psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists. The data shows that years in service also do not influence the relationship between the variables. This means that the

Conclusion

The study respondents were mostly composed of females compared to males. In the research on gender disparities in general knowledge, it is possible that gender differences in intelligence and cognition. The department of X-ray is where most respondents are employed. It was discovered that specialization was significantly connected with increased infection control expertise among healthcare workers, who are most likely to handle patients before sending them to other diagnostic procedures. Meanwhile, a considerable portion of the respondents have work experience for either magnitude and direction of the relationship between knowledge and psychological preparedness is not dictated by the years of experience. As such, moderation is shown as not having a significant interaction effect, and therefore is considered not highly significant (b = -.043, t = -.966, p > .05). This means that the respondents' knowledge and psychological preparedness to emerging and reemerging diseases is not affected regardless of how many years they have worked. The result is consistent with the trend the other moderating factors tackled above, where it may be due to the lack of actual cases with the concerned emerging and reemerging diseases in the region that the respondent's years of experience do not make a difference.

In a similar study by Jalandra (2022) involving the psychological preparedness of nursing staff in India against COVID-19, contrary to the current study, it revealed that the respondents' psychological preparedness was positively correlated with older age and more years of experience. This was implied to be due to COVID-19 affecting India; therefore, healthcare workers had first-hand encounters with active patients having the disease.

more than five years or between 1-3 years. It was shown that the number of years of experience significantly connected with improved knowledge of infectious diseases among radiologic technologists, who have most likely dealt with multiple instances in the past.

Radiologic Technologists have comprehensive knowledge of both newly emerging diseases and those that are re-emerging. The mean rating for the Mers-Cov infection was the highest, while the mean rating for the Zika Virus was the lowest. This suggests that the respondents regarded the threat posed by Mers-Cov as being more significant than the threat posed by Zika, which is understandable given that they have a higher understanding of the former than they do of the latter. The recent COVID-19 pandemic, which has a disease course that is almost identical to that of Mers-Cov, most certainly played a role in influencing the survey's findings. COVID-19 and Mers-Cov are examples of coronaviruses that initially manifest as symptoms quite similar to influenza.

Radiologic Technologists exhibit high levels of self-efficacy, optimism, and resilience, which represent three components of psychological preparedness. It suggests that the existing circumstances of the respondents (i.e. work life, family life, social life, etc.) provide a suitable environment that supports sound mental health and thus proves beneficial to the respondents. Ultimately, this may allow individuals to deal with the stress brought on by future or present pandemics in a manner that prevents anxiety, sadness, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

The findings demonstrate a significant relationship between obtaining prior knowledge and being psychologically well-prepared. The results show that those with a high level of knowledge also present a high level of psychological preparedness based on optimism, self-efficacy, and resilience. It has been shown in other studies that knowledge and optimism go hand in hand. When the participants were provided with information relevant to the study, the researchers found that their levels of optimism improved. Conversely, there is a significant association between expanding organizations' knowledge and their ability to remain resilient in adversity. Knowledge strengthens resilience abilities and substantially contributes to an

Recommendation

Since the demographic profile of the study is limited to sex, assigned area, and years of experience, it is recommended that future researchers explore the knowledge of other organization's organizational resilience. People who rated themselves higher for perceived knowledge also tended to rate themselves higher for selfefficacy, suggesting they were better equipped to handle activities requiring inquiry because they had higher confidence in their abilities.

According to the data, it seems to indicate that the knowledge Radiologic Technologists possess on new and re-emerging diseases influences their psychological preparedness. This appears to suggest an associated improvement in psychological preparedness for every unit increase in information regarding newly emerging and re-emerging diseases. The responders as a whole need to be equipped with the knowledge and skills necessary to lessen the adverse effects that a tragedy has on a community for the community as a whole to be adequately prepared for catastrophes. These unfavorable outcomes include traumatic experiences, injuries, the spread of infectious diseases, stress, and emotional pain.

The knowledge and psychological preparedness of Radiologic Technologists in Region XII is not significantly moderated by demographic features such as gender, allocated region, or years of experience. Even though several studies have produced conflicting findings regarding the correlation between demographics and other factors, the current investigation found no correlation between the two variables. It is possible that this is due to a lack of practical experience working with patients who are infected with the diseases in question, and it is also possible that this is the case because none of the respondents, regardless of their demographic profile, have any first-hand points of reference from which they may formulate an initial response.

demographics, such as students and other healthcare workers, to determine whether the same phenomenon applies to a broader range of respondents.

Since the descriptive level of the Radiologic Technologist to the knowledge of emerging and reemerging diseases is adequate, it suggests that there is a need for the administrators of the hospitals to maintain and ensure that their Radiologic Technologists are aware, updated, and educated on the latest news on infectious diseases. The management may come up with routine health education seminars and programs that will provide a venue for Radiologic Technologists to acquire accurate information on trending diseases and increase their knowledge on domains related to emerging and re-emerging diseases, such as clinical presentations, transmission routes, and prevention and control, which will enable them to prepare individually and institutionally proactively.

Since the descriptive level of Radiologic Technologist's psychological preparedness is high, it suggests that there is a need for administrators of hospitals to monitor the psychological well-being of Radiologic Technologists regularly to ensure that they are prepared for potential epidemics. This may be done by developing programs that will improve the psychological preparedness of the respondents in domains related to emerging and re-emerging diseases such as anxiety, PTSD, and depression.

References

- AlAteeq, D. A., Aljhani, S., Althiyabi, I., &Majzoub, S. (2020). Mental health among healthcare providers during coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak in Saudi Arabia. Journal of infection and public health, 13(10), 1432-1437.
- Al Shaikh, A. H., Almatairi, M. M., Alahmari, M. M., Alharbi, A. A., Alharbi, A. A., Al-Sabban, I. A., ... &ALhemari, R. A. (2022).
 Assessment of the Knowledge and Practices of Infection Control Standard among Health Care Workers at the Primary Health are Level in Makkah City at Saudi Arabia 2022. Annals of the Romanian Society for Cell Biology, 26(01), 3221-3242.

The correlation between knowledge has a significant positive relationship to their psychological preparedness. Since the current study is limited to four diseases (Zika, Ebola, Mers-Cov, and Monkeypox), it is recommended that future researchers explore other diseases.

Since the study suggested that the knowledge of Radiologic Technologists in terms of emerging and re-emerging diseases influences their psychological preparedness, and since the current study is limited to three factors of psychological preparedness (selfefficacy, optimism, and resilience), it is recommended that future researchers explore other factors that can affect psychological preparedness such as media influence, personal experience, workplace environment, etc.

It is suggested that future researchers conduct similar studies using mixed-methods research to explore further the relationship between the respondents' knowledge of emerging and reemerging diseases and psychological preparedness. Such a study may provide more personal information and themes that validate this study through the respondent's narratives and shared experiences.

- Alrajhi, A. M., Hussain, W. A. H., Rafie, B. A., Taj, M., &Elgarf, A. M. (2022). Knowledge and awareness of COVID-19 epidemic preparedness and response among health care workers in Makkah city. *Therapeutic Advances in Infectious Disease*, 9, 20499361221079452.
- Alharthy, A., Sohaib, O., &Hawryszkiewycz, I. (2018). The impact of knowledge creation on organizational resilience towards organizational performance.
- Baskin, R. G., & Bartlett, R. (2021). Healthcare worker resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic: An integrative review. *Journal of nursing management*, 29(8), 2329-2342.

- Bighelli, I., Rodolico, A., García-Mieres, H., Pitschel-Walz, G., Hansen,
 W.P.Schneider Thoma, J.& Leucht, S. (2021). Psychosocial and psycholo-gical interventions Fore lapse prevention in schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta analysis. The Lancet Psychiatry, 8(11), 969-980.
- Boswell, S. S. (2018). Undergraduates' Perceived Knowledge, Self-Efficacy, and Interest in Social Science Research. *Journal of Effective Teaching*, *13*(2), 48-57.
- Carascal, M. B., Capistrano, P. E., Figueras, M. D., Cataylo, O. L. A. C., Zuñiga, S. M. S., Reyes, M. E. S., ... &Macalipay, S. L. B. (2022). Experiences of COVID-19-recovered healthcare workers in a tertiary hospital in the Philippines: a mixed-method inquiry. INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 59, 00469580221107051
- Clay, Lauren A., James B. Goetschius, Mia A.
 Papas, and James Kendra. "Influence of mental health on disaster preparedness: Findings from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 2019." Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management 11, no. 3 (2019): 375-392
- Durmuş, S., & Ülgen, K. Ö. (2017). Comparative interactomics for virus–human protein– protein interactions: DNA viruses versus RNA viruses. FEBS open bio, 7(1), 96- 107.
- Ghasemi, S.Mehrolhassani, M. H., Yazdi-Feyzabadi, V., Rafiee, N., (2022). Health protection challenges of slums residents during the COVID-19 pandemic, according to the social determinants of health framework: A case study of Kerman city in Iran. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 11.

- Hasanvandi, S., Saadat, S. H., &Shahyad, S. (2022). Predicting the possibility of posttraumatic stress disorder based on demographic variables, levels of exposure to covid-19.
- Hassanie, S., Olugbade, O. A., Karadas, G., &Altun, Ö. (2022). The Impact of Workload on Workers' Traumatic Stress and Mental Health Mediated by Career Adaptability during COVID-19. Sustainability, 14(19), 12010.
- Jalandra, R. N., Shahul, A. S., Asfahan, S., Garg, M. K., Nebhinani, N., Dutt, N., ... & Misra, S. (2022). Emotional distress among health professionals involved in care of inpatients with COVID-19: a survey based crosssectional study. Advances in Respiratory Medicine.
- Lam, S. K., Kwong, E. W., Hung, M. S., Pang, S. M., & Chiang, V. C. (2018). Nurses' preparedness for infectious disease outbreaks: A literature review and narrative synthesis of qualitative evidence. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(7-8), e1244-e1255.
- Lawrance, E. L., Jennings, N., Kioupi, V., Thompson, R., Diffey, J., & Vercammen, A. (2022). Psychological responses, mental health, and sense of agency for the dual challenges of climate change and the COVID-19 pandemic in young people in the UK: an online survey study. The Lancet Planetary Health, 6(9), e726-e738.
- McLennan, J., Marques, M. D., & Every, D. (2020). Conceptualising and measuring psychological preparedness for disaster: The Psychological Preparedness for Disaster Threat Scale. Natural Hazards, 101(1), 297-307.
- Makenga, G., Booy, R., Oloo, P. N., & Auerbach, J. (2022). COVID-19 vaccine development, production and regulatory oversight in

African countries. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 100(10), 651.

- Moll Riquelme, I., Bagur Pons, S., & Rosselló Ramon, M. R. (2022). Resilience: Conceptualization and Keys to Its Promotion in Educational Centers. *Children*, 9(8), 1183.
- Nadeak, B. (2019). Correlation between knowledge, experience and common sense, with critical thinking capability of medical faculty's students at Indonesia Christian University. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(32), 45-55.
- Nguyen, H. T., Brinkman, S., Le, H. T., Zubrick, S. R., & Mitrou, F. (2022). Gender differences in time allocation contribute to differences in developmental outcomes in children and adolescents. *Economics of Education Review*, 89, 102270.
- Pappa, S., Ntella, V., Giannakas, T., Giannakoulis, V. G., Papoutsi, E., &Katsaounou, P. (2020). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workersduring the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Brain, behavior, and immunity, 88, 901-907
- Reperant, L. A., & Osterhaus, A. D. (2017). AIDS, Avian flu, SARS, MERS, Ebola, Zika... what next?. Vaccine, 35(35), 4470-447
- Rocha, I. C. N., dos Santos Costa, A. C., Islam, Z., Jain, S., Goyal, S., Mohanan, P., ... & Ahmad, S. (2021). Typhoons during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Philippines: impact of a double crises on mental health. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness, 1-4

- Roudini, J., Khankeh, H. R., & Witruk, E. (2017). Disaster mental health preparedness in the community: A systematic review study. Health psychology open, 4(1), 2055102917711307.Roudini, J., Khankeh, H. R., & Witruk, E. (2017). Disaster mental health preparedness in the community: A systematic review study. Health psychology open, 4(1), 2055102917711307.
- Tran US, Hofer AA, Voracek M. Sex differences in general knowledge: meta-analysis and new data on the contribution of schoolrelated moderators among high-school students. PLoS One. 2019 Oct 27;9(10):e110391.doi:10.1371/journal.pone . 0110391.
- Tryland, M., das Neves, C. G., Klein, J., Mørk, T., Hautaniemi, M., & Wensman, J. J. (2018). Viral infections and diseases. In Reindeer and Caribou (pp. 273-304). CRC Press.
- Wynn, S. T. (2017). Natural disasters: planning for psychological first aid. Journal of Christian nursing, 34(1), 24-28.
- Zha, D., Foroudi, P., Melewar, T. C., &Jin, Z. (2022). Assessing the Psychological Impact of the Pandemic Narrative in the Media on Hospitality Consumption Mood.In The Emerald Handbook of Multi-Stakeholder Communication (pp.31-49).Emerald Publishing Limited.

Patients' Health-Related Behavior and ufaction Undergoing Mammogram Procedure

Ruth Opiasa Salise, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

The purpose of this research was to determine the patient's level of satisfaction and health-related behaviors along with their demographic profile. The study employed a descriptive-correlational research design. There were one hundred seventeen respondents who participated in this research. This study was conducted between March and April of this year 2023. The data were then collated and processed using descriptive statistics, and inferential statistics as statistical tools. Most of the patients have finished college degrees and have a good earning income of above Php 41,000. Remarkably, 42.6%, which is almost half of the patients who have undergone mammography for March and April 2023 have no records of a history of family disease. Further, these patients expressed a very satisfied description of the medical staff's service attitude. Their health-related behaviors are good since they observe healthy practices. In the analysis of the moderating effect of profile on the relationship between satisfaction and health-related behavior, results revealed that the interaction of satisfaction and education (β =.049, p>.681), satisfaction and income (β =.193, p> .097), and satisfaction and disease (β =-.100, p>.310) have p-values above .05. This suggests that profile variables do not significantly moderate the relationship between satisfaction and health-related behavior. It is hoped that breast cancer patients will continue to observe their health-related behaviors and adhere to schedules. Radiologic technologists on the one hand must continue to promote good relationships among the patients to render their utmost service to the patients.

Keywords: Patient-health-related behavior, Health, Descriptive-Correlational, Cagayan De Oro City

Corresponding email: ruthsalzcares@gmail.com

Introduction

Since the late 1980s, breast cancer mortality rates have not dropped more rapidly in locations where mammography is available (Boniol, 2018). It can be observed that the number of women who have had a mammogram is still increasing despite advancements in medical diagnosis and treatment in the area of mammography, despite breakthroughs in medical diagnosis and treatment in the field of mammography, the number of women who have undergone a mammogram continues to rise (DOH Phils, 2019 & Moreira et al., 2020). While some people follow doctors' advice with enthusiasm and adherence (Reece et al., 2021) others tend to do the opposite. Some are clothed in fear, affecting their adherence to medical procedure screening.

This situation could be linked to a person's health-related behavior as patients screened and diagnosed with breast cancer follow certain procedures and guidelines that somehow reduce risk and death (Reece et al., 2021). Ping et al., (2018) mentioned that the importance of health behaviors in disease prevention has long been recognized. Reece et al., (2021) mentioned that successful breast cancer screening relies on timely follow-up of abnormal mammograms. Delayed or failure to follow up abnormal mammograms undermines the potential benefits of screening and is associated with poorer outcomes. Lam et al., (2018), found that unmet health information demands and higher levels of depression throughout the first treatment period predicted lower patient satisfaction later. This demonstrates the necessity of emphasizing the value of a patient-centered care strategy during care for advanced breast cancer. Women suffering from severe breast cancer may require continual cancer treatment due to the nature of the disease. As a result, it is crucial to look at how these women rate their cancer care services. As for patients who have been afflicted with chronic or life-threatening diseases, patient satisfaction is a crucial outcome measure.

The standard care in breast cancer screening is digital mammography, which is associated with a 20% reduction in breast cancer-related mortality in women at average risk of breast cancer (Reece et al., 2021). Regular mammography accounts for half of the recent declines in breast cancer mortality. However, breast cancer is still the most common cancer among Filipinos, followed by lung, colon, liver, and prostate (DOH Phils, 2019). In the Philippines, approximately 70% of breast cancers occur in women with undetermined risk factors, and about five percent of breast cancers are hereditary. In the past, the risk of breast cancer was 1 in 22. Today, it is already 1 in 8 cases. The figures are alarming, prompting the government and private institutions to vow to help fight off the disease (Argenal et al., 2019). The possibility that the rise in these numbers is due to the health behavior of the person involved could not be discounted.

It has been noted that the majority of international studies discuss how patients' healthrelated behavior relates to their demographic profile. At the national and local levels, there is a paucity of literature on this subject. This time, the researcher would like to take into account both the demographic characteristics and the patient's level of satisfaction with their health behaviors.

This study aimed to investigate the level of satisfaction and potential causes of patients' health-related behaviors following a mammography operation.

Health-related Behaviors

Cancer disparities are caused by a lack of health literacy, which is connected with less participation in medical decisions. Decisions on mammography screening are an example of how health literacy can influence decision-making and outcomes (Gunn et al., 2020). Health behavior according to Chawlowska et al., (2022) comprises health-promoting or health-protective either behaviors and unhealthy or health-risk behaviors. These health-promoting behaviors include, for example, a healthy diet, physical activity, and adaptive coping strategies for stress management. It is a well-known fact that eating a balanced diet is important for everyone. Certain behaviors have been associated with health promotion, including mammography screening, in women worldwide (Patrao et al., 2021).

Various health-related behaviors interact and influence the way of life modifications. These adjustments depend on whether a person thinks that their health habits will all work together to achieve a desired result, or what is known as higher-level objectives (Lippke et al., 2021).

Diet and Mental Health

Food influences, to a great extent our disposition, whereas our mood dictates our cravings and the type of nourishment we choose. Emotions affect eating, while the nutritional properties of food impact brain functions related to mood and feelings. The dietary choices are a complete and complex circuit. Provided we influence one option, the other will follow suit, as increasing evidence has shown that food choices have a positive impact on several mental disorders (Constantin & Fonseca, 2020).

Individual Healthy Behavior

Engaging in healthy behaviors-such as regular physical activity and following a nutritious and balanced diet-brings about numerous health, social, and self-evaluative benefits (Sylvester et al., 2018). Ping et al., (2018) mentioned that the importance of health behaviors in disease prevention has long been recognized. It is important to increase understanding on the factors associated with regular mammography screening, particularly those related to lifestyle and health promotion. Given their role in the onset and progression of current chronic diseases, the practice of physical activity, smoking, alcohol consumption, and diet are the health behaviors most associated with a healthy lifestyle. Furthermore, they are beginning to be reported as indicators of other behaviors linked to lifestyle and have also been thoroughly investigated in the field of breast cancer prevention (Patrao et al., 2021).

More recently, these behaviors have been associated with the periodicity of breast cancer screening in women worldwide.18–30 In general, those studies have pointed to a trend toward health promotion and a greater commitment to healthy behaviors in women who undergo mammography screening at more regular intervals, while a greater association has been found between risk behaviors and a longer time interval between mammography screenings. Reece et al., 2021 mentioned that successful breast cancer screening relies on timely follow-up of abnormal mammograms. Delayed or failure to follow up abnormal mammograms undermines the potential benefits of screening and is associated with poorer outcomes. However, a comprehensive review of inadequate follow-up of abnormal mammograms in primary care has not previously been reported in the literature. This review could identify modifiable factors that influence follow-up, which if addressed, may lead to improved follow-up and patient outcomes. The effects of poor nutritional status on health resource use and mortality rate emphasize the significance of incorporating techniques for accurate diagnosis and provision of appropriate nutritional assistance into normal clinical practice. (Schiergens et al., 2017; de Oliveira AL, 2018). A nutritional consultation will look at what is and is not beneficial for your body. Because every person is different, they can be consuming something or lacking in something that is specifically hurting their health and vitality (Minkoff, 2020).

Preventive Behaviors

Preventive health behavior is any activity undertaken by an individual who believes himself to be healthy for preventing or detecting illness in an asymptomatic state. It generally follows from a belief that such behavior will benefit health. Preventive actions can reduce, but not eliminate, the chances of acquiring a disease or illness. The strength of the cause-and-effect relationship between a certain behavior and the health problem one is trying to prevent will determine the impact performing the behavior will have on reducing the risk. This impact is measured in terms of attributable risk. Attributable risk is a measure of the chance of acquiring a disease if the risk factors for it are eliminated or preventive health behavior is engaged in. The chances are influenced by the relationship of the preventive behavior to the etiology of the disease.

Preventive health-related behaviors are also undertaken specifically to improve or enhance health. These types of behavior include both primary prevention and early detection. Primary prevention behaviors aim to prevent the incidence of disease (the number of new cases occurring within a given time frame). People who increase their levels of physical activity have been found to have reduced levels of risk factors such as high blood pressure, high blood cholesterol, and excess body fat. Early detection (or secondary prevention) behaviors aim to prevent early forms of disease from progressing. This involves people who have already developed preclinical disease or risk factors for the disease but in whom the disease has not yet become clinically apparent. Behaviors such as having a breast screen (mammogram) or a pap test for cervical cancer are intended to detect disease early so it can be treated promptly (encyclopedia.com).

Physical Activity

Further, Patrao et al., (2021) revealed that the practice of physical activity, not smoking, moderate alcohol consumption and a healthy diet were the health behaviors most adopted by the women who had last had a mammogram ≤ 2 years previously. A statistically significant association was found between a lapse of ≥ 3 years since last undergoing mammography screening and excessive alcohol consumption, while a borderline association was found between the same screening interval and leisure-time physical inactivity.

Regular mammograms are the best way to catch breast cancer early. When the screening method shows abnormalities, an oncologist can prescribe an ultrasound to confirm the findings. Generally, mammograms are suitable for women older than 45 and can detect tiny tumors in less dense breasts. A mammogram uses low-dose radiation Xrays, while a breast ultrasound uses high-frequency sound waves. Mammography is a breast imaging procedure that gives an X-ray image of the breasts. Regular mammograms are the best way for oncologists to find breast cancer at an early stage. Sometimes, a mammogram can help detect breast cancer for up to three years before patients can feel a cyst, lesion, or any abnormal change in their breast tissue. A breast ultrasound or a diagnostic mammogram may be used after an abnormal mammogram. It can also guide a health practitioner through a breast biopsy (Rhoda, 2021).

Level of Patient Satisfaction

Analysis of patient satisfaction survey feedback results can provide healthcare workers with a sufficient understanding of factors and areas that require improvement and can lead to effective improvements in medical service quality (Meng et al., 2018). In a similar vein, Fang et al., (2019) also express that in today's highly competitive medical environment, satisfaction has become the core competitiveness of medical and health institutions. Therefore, it was very important for medical institutions and their superior departments to find out the factors that affect patients' satisfaction with medical services. Chandra et al., (2019) also said that patient satisfaction surveys have been used as a meaningful and essential tool for identifying gaps and developing effective strategies for quality improvements in the healthcare industry.

The patient's opinion is becoming more important in the improvement process of a health care delivery system. Patient satisfaction is the state of pleasure or happiness that the patients experience while using a health service. Thus, patient care is the basic function of every health service provider. It is one of the standards to measure efficiency and effectiveness, where the efficiency of a hospital is associated with the provision of service delivery and quality care. Patient satisfaction is the actual evidence of the effectiveness of the healthcare services providing administration (Manzoor et al., 2019). Medical Service Staff Attitude

In China, tense physician-patient and nursepatient relationships, insufficient mutual communication, and poor understanding are important factors that cause dissatisfaction (Meng et al., 2018). Some countries tried to improve medical satisfaction through health care reform. The Netherlands gradually introduced a competition mechanism in the field of health care through a series of administrative reforms to improve efficiency in the field, as well as satisfaction in medical services. To increase the patient's right of choice, Britain implemented a patient-centered concept and introduced a competition mechanism in the general practitioner (Fang et al., 2019).

Improved patient care has become a top aim for all healthcare practitioners, with the ultimate goal of obtaining high levels of patient satisfaction. At the same time, good healthcare service delivery, when compared to their peers, provides enterprises or public trusts with the potential to distinguish their facilities in a competitive industry. Currently, due to increased expectations for standard services and increased customer needs, hospitals are required to provide superior healthcare services to patients and meet their wants (Manzoor, 2019).

Some studies believed that the patient's characteristics were the decisive factor of satisfaction; in addition, some studies had shown that men tended to have higher satisfaction scores than women. Conversely, others believed that patients' demographic variables were not associated with patient satisfaction. In the study of Fang, et al., (2019), they found out that "Gender", "Age", "Place of Residence", and "Type of medical insurance" had no significant effect on satisfaction. They also found

Methods

The descriptive-correlational method was used to determine the patient's level of satisfaction

that the medical services utilization of patients had a certain impact on satisfaction. Moreover, the hospital's affiliation determined the medical resources it received and its comprehensive medical capacity. This might have affected the patient's feelings. Consequently, the satisfaction of inpatients was higher than that of outpatients, which was consistent with previous research. The researchers concluded that perhaps the inpatients had more contact with the medical staff and had a better understanding of the hospital's complicated service processes; thus, could have been more considerate of the hard work of the medical staff.

This section summarized the study's two variables. One is on the level of patient satisfaction, which represents studies that support the necessity for medical institutions to identify the elements that influence patients' satisfaction with medical services. The second is about health-related behaviors, and it mentions four sub-variables: diet and mental health, individual health behaviors, preventive behaviors, and physical activity. These sub-variables, referred to as preventative measures, are thought to delay the development of a disease or sickness.

From all these reviews, the researcher was able to identify some variables present in one study and missing in other studies and are correlated to a particular kind of variables. This led the researcher to fill the gap in determining the correlation between the demographic profile and the level of satisfaction with health-related behaviors among mammography patients. This study positioned itself in considering the combination of most if not all of the necessary variables, but this time will be correlated to the patient's health-related behaviors.

and health-related behaviors along with their demographic profile. Patients who have undergone

mammogram procedures this year were considered participants in this study. Approximately 117 patients participated in a two-month study in March and April 2023. A convenience sampling method was employed. The researcher adapted survey tools for measuring mammography patient satisfaction and health-related behaviors manifested by the patients. The respondents were asked to evaluate statements by answering a numeric response on the indicators. In this study, a 3-point Likert scale was employed.

For the interpretation of the respondents' responses, the following scale was used:

Mean Score	Description	Interpretation
1.00 - 1.66	Never	Very dissatisfied
		very bad, very inconvenient, and very expensive
1.67 - 2.33	Sometimes	Moderately satisfied
		which meant not too bad
2.34 - 3.00	Always	Very satisfied
		which meant very good, very convenient, and very cheap

Table A. The Mean-score Interpretive Table for the Patients' Satisfaction Level

The research survey questionnaire, which contains components I (personal information), II (degree of satisfaction), and III (health-related behavior) for reliability, was delivered to thirty patients who have undergone mammography procedures but are no longer included in the actual data collection. Their responses were statistically treated using the Cronbach alpha. The nine items for the level of satisfaction scored 0.909. The Cronbach alpha value for the sixteen items on health-related

behavior was 0.824. The Cronbach value for the total items is 0.852. This signifies that the items are good since the values are closest to one.

The correlation coefficient range indicated below was utilized to determine the degree of strength of the linear relationship (Best & Kahn, 1998).

Table B. Classification of Pearson's correlation coefficient					
Coefficient (r)	Interpretation				
$\pm 0.81 - \pm 1.00$	High to Very high relationship				
$\pm 0.61 - \pm 0.80$	Substantial relationship				
$\pm 0.41 - \pm 0.60$	Moderate relationship				
$\pm 0.21 - \pm 0.40$	Low relationship				
$\pm 0.00 - \pm 0.20$	Negligible relationship				

The researcher took the necessary steps during the data collection process. She obtained a research ethics clearance from the Ethics committee of the institution. Following that, the researcher validated the survey questionnaire. Then, a letter was sought from the Department Head of Davao Doctors College and the Radiology Department of CUMC respectively asking permission to conduct the study. The researcher then obtained informed consent from the participants who were willing to participate. Survey questionnaires were then distributed to the identified participants who gave consent. A brief orientation was given to the patient respondents. A validated survey questionnaire was floated to them. Data collected were then tallied, analyzed, and interpreted.

In the analysis of data, the following statistical tool was employed: Frequency was used to describe the demographic profile in terms of educational attainment, family history [disease], and monthly income. Percentage was used to describe the demographic profile in terms of educational attainment, family history [disease], and monthly income. Mean was used to assess the level of the patient's health behavior and the level of satisfaction. T-test was used to test for the significant difference between the demographic profile of the patients and health-related behaviors to the patient's level of satisfaction.

Results and Discussion

Educational Attainment	Frequency	Percent
High School	12	10.3
College	68	58.6
Graduate Studies	28	24.1
Post Graduate Studies	8	6.9
Total	116	100

Table 1. Proportion of the Educational Attainment of Patients in Different Levels

Demographic profile of the respondents undergoing mammogram procedures. As for the educational attainment of the participants of this study, most of them have baccalaureate degrees, having a percentage of 58.6; this means they have finished college level. Contrary to this, participants who have post-graduate studies only have a percentage of 6.9. The percentage of participants who finished graduate studies and high school are 24.1 and 10.3 respectively. This can be supported in the study of Grimm et al., (2022), where their patient demographics had a broad educational representation with bachelor's degrees and with master's degrees as the dominant degrees.

Family History [Disease]	Frequency	Percent
None	54	46.2
Hypertension	21	17.9
Diabetes and Hypertension	8	6.8
Diabetes	4	3.4
Diabetes, Hypertension, and Breast Cancer	3	2.6
Diabetes & Breast Cancer	2	1.7
Breast Cancer & Hypertension	3	2.6
Breast Cancer	22	18.8
Total	117	100

Table 1.1. Record of the Different Family History of Diseases of the Patients

Tracing the history of the family in terms of disease, the major diseases mentioned are hypertension, diabetes, and breast cancer. It is worth noting that most of the patients who have undergone mammography procedures have no mention of any type of prior family disease, with a percentage of 46.2. However, this was followed by patients who have a family history of breast cancer with a percentage of 18.8. Close to this percentage, is the history of having hypertension reflecting 17.9% in Table 1.1. Smaller percentages are being reflected for the combination of some diseases, with diabetes and breast cancer garnering the lowest percentage of

1.7. In the study by Winn (2022), she found out that earlier mammograms for women with a family history of breast cancer may not be needed. Women with a first-degree family relative diagnosed with breast cancer, who are otherwise at average risk, are often advised to get screened 10 years earlier than the relative's diagnosis age. However, there is little evidence support long-standing to the recommendation. Seiffert et al. (2021) on the one hand, mentioned the importance of tracing family history as it has an association with improved survival after a breast cancer diagnosis, irrespective of a positive family history.

Monthly Income	Frequency	Percent
Php 5,000 – 10 000	20	17.9
Php 10 000 – 15 000	7	6.3
Php 15 000 – 20 000	7	6.3
Php 20 000 – 25 000	12	10.7
Php 25 000 – 30 000	19	17.0
Php 30 000 – 35 000	6	5.4
Php 35 000 – 40 000	10	8.9
Php 41 000 above	31	27.7
Total	116	100

Showing the Count of the Patients' Monthly Income

The monthly income of the participants was also sought. Results show that a monthly income of Php 41 000 above has a percentage of 27.7, which is deemed the highest. The lowest on the other hand are participants earning between Php 30 000- 35 000 with a percentage of 5.4. The monthly income of Php 25 000 - 30 000 and Php 5, 000 - 10 000 has a percentage of between 17-18 among the participants. Meanwhile, the income of Php 35 000 - 40 000 showed a percentage of 8.9. Incomes of Php 10 000 - 15 000 and Php 15 000 - 20 000, got a percentage of 6.3.

Table 2. A Table Showing the Level of Satisfaction of the Patients in terms of Medical Staff Service Attitude

Items	Ν	Mean	Std Deviation	Interpretation
1. Scheduling personnel were helpful in scheduling my mammogram at a convenient time.	117	2.88	.397	Very satisfied
2. Upon my arrival to the department, my presence was acknowledged.	117	2.85	.428	Very satisfied
3. Questions regarding my exam today were answered by the technologist before I left.	110	2.75	.562	Very satisfied
4. All personnel wore nametags/IDs that easily identified them.	115	2.73	.518	Very satisfied
5. The mammographer who performed your exam greeted and introduced themselves to you.	117	2.68	.567	Very satisfied
6. The mammographer explained the entire procedure in a way that you easily understood.	116	2.72	.521	Very satisfied
7. The mammographer explained the importance of breast compression.	116	2.50	.653	Very satisfied
8. The mammographer exhibited concern for your privacy.	117	2.85	.421	Very satisfied
9. The mammographer took time to answer any questions regarding the procedure, breast self-exam, and how you would be notified of your exam results	115	2.70	.546	Very satisfied
Total	117	2.74	.513	Very satisfied

Level of satisfaction of the patients. Table 2 showed the result for the level of satisfaction of the patients in terms of medical staff service attitude. It is noteworthy that all the nine items received a very satisfied interpretation. The item that showed the highest is *"Scheduling personnel were helpful in scheduling my mammogram at a convenient time"* which has a mean of 2.88. The item which got the lowest mean among the very satisfied

interpretation is *"The mammographer explained the importance of breast compression"*. Overall mean score for the level of satisfaction falls within the range of very satisfied also.

The patient's opinion is becoming more important in the improvement process of a health care delivery system. Patient satisfaction is the state of pleasure or happiness that the patients experience while using a health service. Thus, patient care is the basic function of every health service provider. It is one of the benchmarks used to measure efficiency and effectiveness, with a hospital's efficiency being related with service delivery and quality care. Patient satisfaction is tangible evidence of the administration's effectiveness in providing healthcare services. (Manzoor et al., 2019). Chandra et al., (2019) said that patient satisfaction surveys have been used as a meaningful and essential tool for identifying gaps and developing effective strategies for quality improvements in the healthcare industry. Given the change in the healthcare industry toward a patient-centered orientation, input from patients' perspectives is valuable (Prakash, 2010). Fang et al., (2019) also express that in today's highly competitive medical environment, satisfaction had become the core competitiveness of medical and health institutions. Therefore, it was very important for medical institutions and their superior departments to find out the factors that affect patients' satisfaction with medical services.

Table 3. A Table Showing the Level of Health-Related Behaviors of Patients Undergoing Mammograms

		Mean	Std	Description
			Deviation	
	Diet and Mental Health			
1.	I eat regularly.	2.79	.406	Always
2.	My diet is varied.	2.29	.546	Sometimes
3.	I find the time to rest and relax.	2.60	.510	Always
4.	I limit the consumption of sugar and foods which	2.42	.592	Always
	contain it.			
5.	I eat breakfast.	2.63	.551	Always
6.	I provide my body with enough sleep.	2.59	.512	Always
7.	I limit the consumption of salt and foods which	2.45	.609	Always
	contain it.			
8.	I can effectively manage stress.	2.32	.541	Sometimes
	Total	2.51	.533	Always

A. Diet and Mental Health

Level of health-related behaviors among patients undergoing mammograms. Of the eight items in the diet and mental health variable, six got an interpretation of Always while two items were noted as sometimes. The item that got the highest mean, 2.79 is "*I eat regularly*". While the least mean is 2.29 for item, "*My diet is varied*". It is good to note that the participants give value to eating their breakfast. Indeed, breakfast is one important meal for the body. On the contrary, the participants only observed a varied diet *Sometimes*, with a mean of 2.29 as reflected in Table 3A. Constantin and Fonseca (2020) affirm that food influences, to a great extent our disposition, whereas our mood dictates our cravings and the type of nourishment we choose. Emotions affect eating while the nutritional properties of food impact brain functions related to mood and feelings. Poor nutrition may be a causal factor in the experience of low mood, and improving diet may help to protect not only the physical health but also the mental health of the population (Firth et al., 2020).

In recent years, the relationships between nutrition and mental health have gained considerable

interest. Indeed, epidemiological research has observed that adherence to healthy or Mediterranean dietary patterns—high consumption of fruits, vegetables, nuts, and legumes; moderate consumption of poultry, eggs, and dairy products; and only occasional consumption of red meat—is associated with a reduced risk of depression (Lassale et al., 2019).

B. Individual healthy behaviors

		Mean	Std Deviation	Descriptive Interpretation
	Individual Healthy Behaviors			
9.	When buying food products, I check their composition.	2.27	.652	Sometimes
10.	I look for information on healthy eating.	2.37	.568	Always
11.	I check my body for physical lesions or abnormalities.	2.41	.544	Always
	Total	2.35	.588	Always

For the individual healthy behaviors, it is remarkable that participants have time to check their bodies for physical lesions or abnormalities with a mean of 2.41. Following this is the item looking for information on healthy eating with a mean of 2.37. The least for this category is when participants buy food products, they check their composition, with a mean of 2.27.

Engaging in healthy behaviors—such as regular physical activity and following a nutritious and balanced diet—brings about numerous health, social, and self-evaluative benefits (Sylvester et al., 2018).

Health behaviors are a key component for reducing the risk of diseases such as diabetes, heart disease, and cancer, which together account for 68% of the causes of death worldwide (Patricia et al., 2017). Reece et al., (2021) mentioned that successful breast cancer screening relies on timely follow-up of abnormal mammograms. Delayed or failure to follow up abnormal mammograms undermines the potential benefits of screening and is associated with poorer outcomes.

C. Preventive behaviors

		Mean	Std	Descriptive
			Deviation	Interpretation
	Preventive Behaviors			
12.	I check my blood sugar levels.	2.21	.650	Sometimes
13.	I check my cholesterol levels.	2.19	.601	Sometimes
14.	I perform a breast self-examination.	2.30	.633	Sometimes
	Total	2.23	.628	Sometimes

As all the items in this variable fall within the range of *sometimes*, it appears that participants saw preventive behaviors at least occasionally. Ranking it from the highest mean to the lowest, participants revealed that they perform a breast self-examination, with a mean of 2.30; they also check

their blood sugar levels with a mean of 2.21; and they also check their cholesterol levels, with a mean of 2.19. It is good to note that the participants somehow exhibit preventive behaviors.

Primary prevention behaviors aim to prevent the incidence of disease (the number of new cases occurring within a given time frame). People who increase their levels of physical activity have been found to have reduced levels of risk factors such as high blood pressure, high blood cholesterol, and excess body fat. Early detection (or secondary prevention) behaviors aim to prevent early forms of disease from progressing. This involves people who have already developed preclinical disease or risk factors for the disease but on whom the disease has not yet become clinically apparent. Behaviors such as having a breast screen (mammogram) or a pap test for cervical cancer are intended to detect disease early so it can be treated promptly.

D. Physical activity

		Mean	Std Deviation	Descriptive Interpretation
	Physical Activity			
15.	I lead an active lifestyle.	2.32	.555	Sometimes
16.	I use daily activities as an opportunity for physical activity (e.g. I climb the stairs instead of using the elevator, park my car at a distance so that I can walk, I move around by bicycle).	2.36	.566	Always
	Total	2.34	.561	Always

For the two physical activity variables, results show a split description as one item is sometimes while the other one is always. The item that got an always description is [*they*] *use daily activities as an opportunity for physical activity* with a mean of 2.36. The item with a mean of 2.32 and with a sometimes description is [*they*] *lead an active lifestyle*.

Patrao et al., (2021) revealed that the practice of physical activity, not smoking, moderate alcohol consumption and a healthy diet were the health behaviors most adopted by the women who had last had a mammogram ≤ 2 years previously. A statistically significant association was found between a lapse of ≥ 3 years since last undergoing mammography screening and excessive alcohol consumption, while a borderline association was found between the same screening interval and leisure-time physical inactivity.

As to the level of health-related behaviors among patients undergoing mammograms for the

four variables, it is remarkable to note that the participants have good results description as majority of the items are observed always, while only one left which is observed sometimes. The variable that has the highest mean is on the observance of their diet and mental health with a mean of 2.51. The least variable is on the practice of preventive behaviors, which only got a mean of 2.23.

Participants are conscious enough of their diet and mental health status despite experience to mammogram procedure. Though they tend to not to focus on observing preventive behaviors, the researcher hopes that they consider practicing the preventive behaviors especially if a mammogram result is unfavorable. Chawłowska et al., (2022) said that healthy behaviors not only contribute to better health and well-being, but also to overall quality of life, which is defined as "an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live, and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns."

		Mean	Std Deviation	Description
1.	Diet and Mental Health	2.51	.533	Always
2.	Individual Healthy Behaviors	2.35	.588	Always
3.	Preventive Behaviors	2.23	.628	Sometimes
4.	Physical Activity	2.34	.561	Always
	Total	2.36	.578	Always

Table 3.1. A Table Showing the Mean Scores of the Health-Related Behavior Variables of the Patients

Table 4. Relationship between the Level of Satisfaction and Health-Related Behavior as responded by the Patients

Variables	Correlation	p-value	Remarks
	coefficient		
Satisfaction	1.000	.971	Not Significant
Health-related			-
behavior	003	.971	Not significant
Note: significanc	re n < 05		

Note: significance p < .05

Relationship between the Level of Satisfaction and Health-Related Behavior. The level of satisfaction of the participants was checked to see if it had a direct relationship with their health-related behaviors. Table 4 showed that the mentioned variables do not bear influence on each other as their p-values are .971 respectively and are above .05. This allows the researcher to accept the null hypothesis, stating that there is no significant relationship between the level of satisfaction and health-related behavior among patients undergoing mammogram. According to studies, some of the criteria connected with patient satisfaction include patient age and gender, continuity of care, waiting time, communication, and patient trust. Patients' trust in their doctors, as well as effective communication

between doctors and patients, have been found to have a favorable impact on health outcomes. Trust has been demonstrated to have a good impact on patients in terms of medication adherence, patient satisfaction, and a better indication of follow-up treatment. Patients who have more faith in their doctor have more good health behaviors, less symptoms, a higher quality of life, and are more satisfied with their treatment (Chandra et al., 2019).

As Meng et al. (2018) says, analysis of patient satisfaction survey feedback results can provide healthcare workers with a sufficient understanding of factors and areas that require improvement and can lead to effective improvements in medical service quality.
Model	Dependent	Independent	t-ratio	r	Interpretation	\mathbb{R}^2	p-	Conclusion
	variable	variable					value	
Model 4	Satisfaction	Education	413	.185	Negligible relationship	.034	.445	Not significant
		Income	1.672					
		Family	-					
		history	1.019					
Model 3	Satisfaction	Education	426	.157	Negligible	.025	.442	Not
					relationship			significant
		Income	1.519					
Model 2	Satisfaction	Education	.328	.061	Negligible	.004	.819	Not
					relationship			significant

Table 5. Summary of the regressions analysis for variables on the Relationship between Satisfaction and Health-Related Behavior

Note: significance p<.05

Table 5 shows the result of regression analysis. The level of satisfaction of patients was matched against the three variables namely, Education, Income, and Family History. Results revealed that scores in Education, Income, and Family History are not positively correlated with the level of satisfaction as manifested by the p-value of .445, which is above 0.05 (p < 0.05). The r value showed a negligible relationship too. Variables having the top-most p-values are also the ones having the highest t-ratio values, Pearson Correlation of coefficient (r) and even coefficients of determination (\mathbb{R}^2). Among the three variables,

Conclusion

Most of the patients have finished college degrees and have a good earning income of above Php 41 000. Remarkably, patients who have undergone mammography for the months of March and April 2023 have no records of history of family disease. This implies that patients have a good demographic profile. Further, mammogram patients are not always those who have a history of family disease. Mammography may be available even to those who have no history of family disease. education and income show the highest p-value of 0.442 with a t-ratio of -.426 and 1.519 respectively. The (r) showed a negligible correlation with a strength of about 0.157. The R^2 value of 0.025 indicates that 2.5% in the variation of the level of satisfaction can be explained by these variables. Given this result, it signifies that patients' demographic variables were not associated with patient satisfaction as it has a negligible relationship, thus accepting the null hypothesis. Fang et al., (2019) in their study also found out that patients' demographic variables were not associated with patient satisfaction.

Further, the patients received a very satisfied description of the medical services rendered by the medical staff. This suggests that the medical staff were able to render the services expected of them.

The patients observed good practices when it comes to their health-related behaviors. The majority of the items revealed that participants observed their Diet and Mental Health, Individual Healthy Behaviors, Preventive Behaviors, and Physical Activity, with a result of Always. This implies that patients are very aware of the significance of their health behaviors. It is also good to note that they are paying close attention to this matter. There was no correlation between patient satisfaction and health-related behaviors. This suggests that patients' satisfaction is not affected by their health behavior. The practice of healthy habits does not directly influence the satisfaction of patients. The results of the demographic profile of the participants revealed an insignificant association between the level of satisfaction and health-related behavior. This implies that regardless of one's demographic status, it does not influence the patient's level of satisfaction or health-related behavior. The patients' impressions of satisfaction and health behavior are independent of each other.

The study on the level of satisfaction and health-related behavior, along with the demographic profile of patients who have undergone mammograms, was not found to be significantly correlated with each other. This suggests that their demographic profile is independent of their level of satisfaction as well as their health-related behavior. Their high educational attainment and having a good income influenced them to be better decision-makers when it comes to their satisfaction and health condition. Their statement of satisfaction reflects well on the institution and inspires it to provide the greatest medical care to any future patients. Nonetheless, an individual's point of view and responsibility for their health practices must be considered. They must be mindful of the consequences.

Recommendations

The study's findings shed light on more promising avenues for contributing to efforts to enhance patients' health. Health behaviors should be prioritized because they play a significant effect in the prevalence of any disease. Individuals and medical personnel should work together to prevent chronic diseases. Everyone's health should be their top priority. Since the importance of breast compression received the lowest level of satisfaction in terms of medical staff service attitude, it is suggested that healthcare providers must consider patients' pain tolerance while upholding a high standard of care and good quality service.

Since the item "I can effectively manage stress" earned the lowest scores in diet and mental health variables, it is recommended that it is essential to look for positive attitudes to foster an impact on feeling emotionally happy and fulfilled.

Since the item "When buying food products, I check their composition, got the lowest mean in health-related behavior, it is suggested that it is essential to put importance on the food products we consume for it can affect how our body absorbs healthy nutrition.

Since the item "I check my cholesterol levels" obtained the lowest score among healthrelated behaviors, it is suggested that they be aware of their health issues since early detection behavior can stop early forms of disease from advancing.

Since the item "I lead an active lifestyle" had the lowest rating among health-related habits, it is recommended that they must be engaged in physical activities that are good for their health to reduce the risk of complications and the serious effects of health deficiencies.

Since the item "preventive behaviors" obtained the lowest score among the health-related behavior variables, it is suggested that they must prioritize schedule adherence to contribute to better health well-being and quality of life.

Since the patient's level of satisfaction had no association with health-related behavior with a p-value of .971, it is suggested that medical practitioners must continue to render the best medical services and cultivate excellent patient connections. Also, they must be constantly reminded of the importance of healthy living.

Since the demographic profile of the patients had no direct influence on the level of satisfaction and health-related behavior with p-values of 0.445, 0.442, and 0.819 it is suggested that medical practitioners should continue to

References

- Argenal, Rene. Baterna, Margie. Peña, Christine. Ravina, Jovita. Sionzon, Marian. (2019). Risk Factors of Breast Cancer Among Women; A Meta Analyses. 12th National Convention on Statistics (NCS). Crowne Plaza Manila Galleria Ortigas Ave.
- Bhandari, Pritha. (2021). Correlational Research| When & How to Use. https://www.scribbr.com/methodolog y/correlational-research/.
- Best, J. and Kahn, J. (1998). Research in Education 8th Edition. Butler University of Illinois at Chicago. A Viacom Company 160 Gould Street Needham Heights, MA 02194: Allyn & Bacon. Retrieved August 24, 2018 from https://ww2.odu.edu/~jritz/attachmen ts/reined.pdf.
- Boniol Mathieu. 2018. Mammography screening: A major issue in medicine. European Journal ofCancer. Retrieved 9 Feb 2023 from https://www.ejcancer.com/article/S09 59-8049(17)31385-0/fulltext.
- Chandra, Swastika. Paul Ward. Masoud Mohammadnezhad, (2018). Factors Associated With Patient Satisfaction in Outpatient Department of Suva Sub-divisional Health Center, Fiji, 2018: A Mixed Method Study, *Frontiers in Public Health*

render fair treatment and medical service regardless of demographic status.

The future researcher will use this information as a baseline if a similar study will be carried out in the future. They might also consider having a qualitative research design relating to this matter.

www.frontiersin.org.

- Chawlowska, E. Staszewski, R. Jó'zwiak, P. Lipiak, A. Zawiejska, A. (2022). Deveopment and Validation of a Health Behavior Scale: Exploratory Factor Analysis on Data from a Multicentre Study in Female Primary Care Patients Behavior. Sci.12, 378. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs12100378.
- Constantin, Elena-Teodora. Fonseca, Sandra. (2000). The effect of food on mental health. *RevistaInternacional de EducaçãoSaúde e Ambiente*.doi: 10.37334/riesa.v312.36.
- De Oliveira AL, Boroni Moreira Ap, Pereira Netto M, GoncalvesLeite IC. (2018). A cross-sectional study of nutritional status, diet, and dietary restrictions among persons with an ileostomy or colostomy. *Ostomy Wound Manag*. 64(5):18-29. doi:1025270/owm.2018.5.1829.
- .DOH Phils. (2019). Implementing Rules for cancer Act Signed. *Press Release/09*.
- Fang, Jinming, Ling Liu. Pengquian Fang. (2019). What is the important factor affecting patient satisfaction – a stuidy based on gamma coefficient. *Patient Preference and Adherence Dovepress.*
- FHRF. (2021) Franklin Health Research Foundation, Federa Identification Number (EIN): 83-4313029.

Retrieved Nov 20 2021 from https://fhrfoundation.org/healthbelief-model/#.YZpYjN_itPY

- Grimm, Lars J. Knight, John R. Maxfield, Charles M. (2022). Patient and Radiologist Demographics Influence Perceptions of Screening Mammography Reports, Journal of the American College of Radiology, Volume 19, Issue10,2022.Pages 1088-1097,ISSN 1546-1440, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2022.07. 004.
- Lam, Wendy W. T Ava Kwong, DacitaSuen. Janice Tsang. Inda Soong. TzeKokYau. Winnie Yeo Joyce Suen, Wing Ming Ho. Ka Yan Wong. Wing Kin Sze. Alice W. Y. Ng and Richard Fielding. (2018). Factors predicting patient satisfaction in women with advance breast cancer: a prospective study.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4085-3.

- LaMorte, Wayne W. (2019).Modules/SB/BehavioralChang eTheories2. Html. Boston University School of Public Health. Retrieved 17 Nov 2021 from https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/MP H.
- Manzoor, Faiza. Wei, Longbao. Hussain, Abid. Asif, Muhammad. Shah, Syed Irshad Ali. (2019). Patient Satisfaction with Health Care Services; An Application of Physician's Behavior as a Moderator. Int J Environ Res Public Health. Retrieved 8 June 2023 from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ar

ticles/PMC6765938/?fbclid=IwAR3P bYtMB23Vyay_gT6xG7qyZN_DSch Ees4SxFLT708QZqxNb9Sg2jtyOH0 #B3-ijerph-16-03318.

- McBurney & White. (2022). Descriptive Correlational Design in Research. Exclusively available on IvyPanda Updated: Jun 19th, 2022. https://ivypanda.com/essays/descripti ve-statistics-and-correlationaldesign/.
- Measuring mammography patient satisfaction..(n.d.) >The Free Library. (2014). Retrieved Oct 27 2022 from https://www.thefreelibrary.com/Meas uring+mammography+patient+satisf action.-a0120394821.
- Meng, Runtang. Jingjing Li. Yunquan Zhang. Yong Yu. Yi Luo. Xiaohan Liu. Yanxia Zhao. Yuantao Hao, Ying Hu. And Chuanhua Yu. (2018). Evaluation of Patient and Medical Staff Satisfacion regarding Healthcare Servives in Wuhan Public Hospitals. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15, 769; doi:10.3390/ijerph15040769www.md pi.com/journal/ijerph.
- Minkoff, David. (2020). Nutritional Consultation. Retrieved Nov 12 2022 from https://www.lifeworkswellnesscenter. com/therapies/nutritionalconsultaions.html
- Patrão AL, de Almeida MDCC, Matos SMA, Menezes G, Gabrielli L, Goes EF, Aquino EM. (2021). Healthy lifestyle behaviors and the periodicity of mammography screening in Brazilian women. *Womens Health (Lond)*.doi: 10.1177/17455065211063294. PMID: 34841999; PMCID: PMC8640279.
- Preventive Health Behavior.(n.d.). Retrieved 15 Jan 2023 from https://www.encyclopedia.com/educat ion/encyclopedias-almanacstranscripts-and-maps/preventivehealth-behavior

- Ping, W.: Cao, W.; Tan, H.; Guo, C.; Dou, Z,; Yang, J. (2018). Health Protective Behavior Scale: Development and Psychometric Evaluation. PLoS ONE 13, e0190390.
- Radiologyinfo.org. What is Mammography? (2021). Retrieved 27 Oct 2022 from https://www/radiologyinfo.org/en/inf o/mammo.
- Ratz, Tiara, Lippke, Sonia (2022). Comprehensive Clinical Psychology (Second Edition) from https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics /pschology/health-related-behavior
- Reece, JC. Neal,E. Nguyen, P. McIntosh, J. Emery, J. (2021). Delayed of failure to follow-up abnormal breast cancer screening mammograms in primary care: a systematic review. *Retrieved* 15 Nov 2021 from https://doi.orh/10.1186/s12885-021-08100-3
- Rhoda, Jedidah. (2021). Mammogram vs. Ultrasound for Early Breast Cancer Detection. Retrieved 12 Nov2022 from https://ezra.com/mammogram-vsultrasound/.
- Schiergens TS, Hoffmann V, Schobel TN, Englert GH, Kreis ME, Thasler WE, Werner J, Kasparek MS. (32017). Long-term quality of life of patients with permanent end ileostomy: Result of a nationwide cross-sectional survey. *Dis.Colon. Rectum.*doi:

10.1097/DCR.00000000000732.

- Seiffert, K., Thoene, K., Eulenburg, C. Z., Behrens, S., Schmalfeldt, B., Becher, H., Chang-Claude, J., & Witzel, I. (2021). The effect of family history on screening procedures and prognosis in breast cancer patients – Results of a large population-based case-control study. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland), 55, 98-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2020. 12.008
- Sylvester, Benjamin D. Beauchamp, Mark R. (2018). Chapter Five The Effects of Variety and Novelty on Physical Activity and Healthy Nurtitional Behaviors. *Elsevier: Advances in Motivation Science*. Volume 5, Pages 169-202. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.adms.2017. 11.001.
- Thomas, Lauren. (2022). Simple Random Sampling | Definition, Steps & Examples. Date retrieved Jan 22, 2023 from https://www/scribbr.com/methodolog y/simplerandom-sampling/.
- Thomas, Darrin. Zubkov, Pavel. (2023). Quantitative Research Designs. ResearchGate.https://www.researchg ate.net/publications/370630979+Qua ntitative_Research_Designs.
- Winn, Stephanie. (2021). Study finds earlier mammograms for women with family history of breast cancer may not be needed. *Medical Press*

Unraveling the Phenomenon of Radiation Safety: A Study of Radiologic Technologists' Perspective and Practices

Jennifer P. Babaran, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

This study aimed to analyze the perspective and practices of radiologic technologists concerning radiation safety, aiming to unravel this phenomenon. This study examined the experiences of several respondents who had worked in radiation-producing modalities concerning the implementation of radiation safety practices. Moreover, the researcher used the Qualitative Approach in conducting the study. This approach aimed to collect data through participant observation and interviews. Fifteen participants in this study were purposefully selected as full-time radiologic technologists with more than a year of experience in Tuguegarao City. Participants were gathered through online meetings for in-depth interviews and focused group discussions. Additionally, the researcher also used questionnaires and recordings while interviewing. Data were gathered, recorded, and verbatim transcribed, then classified and evaluated following the research questions using Braun and Clarke's qualitative data analysis method. The importance of Radiation safety and protection, inadequate and absent radiation safety practices, and difficulties and impediments were some of the radiologic technologists' lived experiences in terms of radiation safety practices. Some coping mechanisms were maintaining quality assurance safety and preventive maintenance, applying radiation safety protocols (ALARA), and utilizing personal protective equipment. While enhancing professional knowledge, skills, and attitude, strictly observing and implementing radiation safety, work commitment, seminars, and training on radiation safety protocol were some insights towards radiation safety practices.

Keywords: Radiation Safety, Radiologic Technology, Phenomenology, Tuguegarao City, Philippines.

Corresponding email: jenpenullarbabaran@gmail.com

Introduction

Radiation safety protects the environment and humans from the detrimental effects of exposure to ionizing radiation (Fiagbedzi et al., 2022). With that, radiologic technologists play a crucial role in conducting radiographic examinations and ensuring the safe use of radiation in medical imaging. However, radiologic technologists' inconsistent use of PPE in radioactive machines poses risks. Some failed to wear necessary equipment, like lead aprons, thyroid collars, dosimeters, and others, during ionizing radiation procedures (Smith et al., 2022), which endangered workers and patients, increasing exposure risk despite established radiation guidelines and protocols.

With the broad usage of ionizing radiation in medicine, radiographers need to be better informed and equipped with radiation safety measures that should be taken. Increased communication was required among them. In the early years, it was common for radiographers to suffer from cancer and fatalities due to extended exposure to ionizing radiation, which exceeded the maximum permissible doses of 20 mSv. This was primarily attributed to insufficient adherence to radiation safety precautions, as highlighted by Forouharmajd et al. (2021). Additionally, a study in Pakistan revealed that only 47.76% of the participants took all the safety measures, such as lead aprons, thyroid shields,

and lead glasses (Niaz et al., 2021), while in Egypt, it was only 18% (NG et al., 2020). As a result, international organizations like WHO, IAEA, and ICRP acknowledged the significance of safety measures, furthermore education and training on radiation hazards (Bardyova et al., 2021). Thus, managing radiation safety in a department requires much time, effort, and commitment to foster training and safety practices among radiologic technologists.

Radiation safety among radiographers has always been crucial and challenging, yet the issue still needs to be considered seriously (Maharjan et al., 2020). Extensive research has been done on the assessment of radiation safety across different countries (Batista et al., 2019; Kurtul & Kurtul, 2018; Goula et al., 2021), but to the best of the researcher's knowledge, there was less on the exploration of practices. Consequently, they had yet to be conducted here in the Philippines. Also, international evidence suggested different results in assessing radiation safety awareness, with most of it aligned with legislated guidelines. Still, when it came to their practices, it was found to be limited, and compliance resulted in just a personal choice (Lewis et al., 2022).

Several issues concerning radiation safety protection in the radiology department must be addressed. A study in Mali showed that most respondents did not take radiation safety measures for their patients (Diarra et al., 2022). Even more than that, the National Council on Radiation Protection and Measurements encouraged the need for further exploration and implementation of radiation safety practices in medical imaging (NCRP, 2019). In light of this, the researcher was interested in exploring and understanding the practices followed by radiologic technologists for radiation safety in diagnostic radiography to grasp further any potential problems that might have affected its use in selected hospitals in Tuguegarao City, Philippines. The research outcome would administrators, organizations, inform and policymakers about potential issues and support the development of policies and programs to further enhance radiation safety at work.

Methods

The study employed the phenomenological method and utilized a descriptive qualitative research design to examine the experiences of 15 selected radiologic technologists from Tuguegarao City, Philippines. The participants were chosen through purposive sampling, including only those with more than a year of working experience in radiationproducing modalities at the selected hospital. Of the participants, 7 participated in in-depth interviews, while 8 participated in focus group discussions. The observed data gathered from these interviews and discussions were analyzed using thematic analysis.

To overcome the limitations imposed by the pandemic and conflicting schedules, the researcher conducted online focus group discussions via video conferencing and individual in-depth interviews using Zoom. During these interviews, the participants were asked to share their experiences with their practices in Radiation Safety, how they dealt with the challenges, and what insights they could share with the general public regarding practicing radiation safety protection, specifically on radiation-producing modalities like X-ray, CT scan, and Mammography.

The researcher followed a systematic data collection process. A letter authorizing the study was obtained from the Program Chair of the Master of Science in Radiologic Technology, and a formal letter requesting to conduct the study was then sent to the heads of selected hospitals in Tuguegarao City for approval. The Chief Radiologic Technologists from each institution assisted in securing the approvals. Prospective participants were also given an informed consent letter and the interview guide, which had been crafted and validated based on expert validators' suggestions. Only those who signed the consent form were included in the study.

During the online interviews, which lasted between 15 minutes to an hour, depending on the depth of the discussion, participants were informed that the Zoom meetings were recorded for documentation purposes. The recorded audio was later transcribed and returned to the participants to verify accuracy. The data were then encoded, tabulated, and evaluated. A professional data analyst was consulted to interpret the tabulated data and extract themes, which formed the basis for developing personal insights. Overall, this study utilized a rigorous methodology, effectively adapting to the pandemic's challenges and ensuring the participant's data's informed consent and confidentiality.

Results and Discussion

Profile of the Participants

Table 1 presents the profile of the participants in this study. The table had four labels: code name, age, sex, and area. A total of 15 participants voluntarily participated, 7 in the in-depth interview and 8 in the focus group discussion. Meanwhile, each participant in the IDI and FGD was named after colors and flowers, respectively. The researcher used these code names to preserve the participants' privacy and keep their identities confidential.

Code Name	Age	Sex	Area
Red	27	М	Xray and CT
Orange	26	М	Xray
Yellow	26	F	Xray and CT
Green	40	F	Xray and Mammography
Blue	24	М	Xray
Indigo	35	F	Xray
Violet	26	F	Xray
Sunflower	34	F	Xray and CT
Rose	34	F	Xray
Violets	26	F	Xray and CT
Daisy	31	F	Xray
Iris	30	F	Xray
Lily	32	F	Xray
Tulip	27	М	Xray and CT
Orchid	37	F	Xray

All participants were employed as full-time radiologic technologists and were assigned for more than a year in radiation-producing diagnostic modalities such as X-ray, CT scan, and mammography.

The thematic map below shows the themes extracted and how they relate to exploring the lived experiences of the Radiologic Technologists in Radiation Safety Practices.



Figure1. Thematic Map

T 11 O	a	C 1/			•	• 1•		· ·
I anie 7	Nummary	of recults a	on narticu	nantsievi	nerience	1n radiai	tion satety	nractices
1 auto 2.	Summary	or results v	m partien	Janto CA		mauna	non salety	practices
	2		1 1				2	1

Issues Probed	Core Ideas	Code	Themes
On their experiences in Radiation Safety Practices	 Protection of patients and healthcare workers Very important for the benefit of both radiologic technologists and patients Minimizing the risk or the adverse effect that we can get from radiation 	-Protection from the risks of radiation exposure	Importance of Radiation Safety and Protection

 -Laziness of giving thyroid shields to the patient's watchers or assistants -Forgetfulness on wearing a TLD badge -Overconfident as a rad tech -Making work easy and fast -Negligence of the staff -Not following the radiation safety practices for low radiation dose cases 	-Inefficient work behavior	Inadequate and absent Radiation safety practices
-Because of lack of PPE -Due to PPE conditions -Wearing a PPE is a waste of time	-PPE's unavailability, functionality, and interference with the work performance	Often observed only due to some difficulties and impediments
-Sometimes due to the number of patients and workloads -Often depending on the patient's medical needs and attention	Imbalance RT-to- patient ratio -Uncooperative patients	

Emergent 1. Experiences of RT in Radiation Safety Practices

On the experiences of radiologic technologists in radiation safety practices, the participants highlighted the importance and significance of radiation safety in protecting patients and healthcare workers from unnecessary exposure to ionizing radiation. They emphasized the need to minimize the risks associated with radiation and considered it a crucial aspect of their practice. Participants also identified various shortcomings in radiation safety practices among radiologic technologists. This included negligence in providing necessary protective equipment, such as thyroid

shields, forgetfulness in wearing monitoring devices, overconfidence, and an inclination to prioritize speed and efficiency over safety was also observed. In addition, participants disclosed and acknowledged that radiation safety practices were sometimes compromised due to challenges and constraints. These difficulties included the scarcity or suboptimal condition of personal protective equipment (PPE), the pressure of heavy workloads and limited resources, and the need to prioritize urgent patient care over safety protocols.

Issues Probed	Core Ideas	Code	Themes
Their ideas in handling challenges in applying radiation safety practices	-Frequent inspection of the radiation safety equipment and machines	-Regular radiation safety inspection	Maintain Quality Assurance safety and preventive maintenance
	 -Consistency in the application of radiation safety -Applying the standard radiation protocol- the time shielding and distance -Follow ALARA- as low as reasonably achievable 	-Principle of radiation safety- ALARA	Apply radiation safety protocol (ALARA
	-Consistent use of lead aprons, TLD, and other radiation safety equipment	-Use of radiation personal protective equipment	Utilize Personal Protective Equipment

Table 3. Summary of results on participants' ideas in handling challenges in applying radiation safety practices

Emergent 2. Coping with the challenges

With the participants' ideas in handling challenges in applying radiation safety practices, the participants emphasized the importance of regular inspections of radiation safety equipment, including lead gowns, and ensuring the quality assurance of radiation machines. They highlighted the need to identify signs of wear and tear, damage, or degradation in the equipment. They emphasized promptly repairing or replacing damaged gowns to maintain effective radiation safety practices. Also, consistency in applying radiation safety practices (ALARA) was considered necessary by participants. They highlighted the importance of following standard radiation protocols, such as time shielding and distance, and adhering to the ALARA principle, which aimed to minimize radiation doses to the lowest possible level. By incorporating these practices, risks associated with ionizing radiation exposure can be minimized. Moreover, the participants stressed the importance of consistently using personal protective equipment (PPE), such as lead gowns, thermoluminescent dosimeters (TLDs), protective gloves, aprons, thyroid shields, and leaded eyewear. They recognized that PPE was vital in ensuring the well-being and protection of individuals working in environments with ionizing radiation.

Issues Probed	Core Ideas	Code	Themes
On their insights about radiation safety practices	 -Strategize on proper radiation safety and protection -Be more aware and conscious in implementing and using protective devices -Do things right and apply what needs to be done -Understand that radiology is not about radiation risk; it's all about the diagnostic significance that matters 	-Enhance and increase the knowledge and skills of colleagues and patients in radiation safety protocols	Enhance professional knowledge, skills, and attitudes
	 -Follow and stick to radiation safety practices -Don't underestimate the importance of radiation safety precaution 	-Follow the implementation of radiation safety	Strictly observe and implement radiation safety
	-Commitment to duties, to the institution, and serving patients with care	-Increased perceived work commitment	Work commitment
	-The management should conduct or provide seminars or training about radiation safety	-Holding and attending seminars for radiation safety	Seminar and training on radiation safety protocols

Table 4. Summary of results on participants' ideas or insights about radiation safety practices

Emergent 3. Insights in Radiation safety practices.

Lastly, on the participant's insights that can be shared with society about radiation safety practices, participants emphasized the need to enhance professional knowledge, skills, and attitude in radiation safety practices. They highlighted the importance of strategizing on proper radiation safety, being aware and conscious of using protective devices, doing things right, and understanding that radiology was about diagnostic significance rather than just radiation risk. Also, the participants underscored the importance of strictly observing and implementing radiation safety practices. They stressed the need to adhere to safety protocols, not underestimate the low doses of ionizing radiation, and the importance of radiation safety precautions. Participants highlighted the significance of wearing lead gowns, using thyroid shields, and cautiously approaching procedures to protect against radiation exposure.

Additionally, work commitment emerged as a theme, with participants stressing the dedication required to radiation safety practices. They highlighted the commitment to duties, the institution, and serving patients with care. Participants expressed that prioritizing radiation safety protocols increased their commitment and minimized negligence, aligning patient care with the institution's mission. Furthermore, the participants highlighted the importance of conducting seminars and training sessions on radiation safety protocols. They advocated for regular educational initiatives to raise awareness and enhance knowledge among radiologic technologists. Participants believed these seminars and training sessions would help remind them to practice radiation safety protocols and increase their knowledge and skills with radiation safety practices in their work.

Conclusion and Recommendations

The analysis highlights the importance of practicing radiation safety measures to protect the well-being of patients and healthcare professionals. They also underscore the need to address deficiencies in safety practices and overcome the obstacles that hinder their consistent implementation.

With the participants' ideas in handling challenges in applying radiation safety practices, the participants emphasized the significance of maintaining quality assurance, following radiation safety protocols, and utilizing personal protective equipment to address challenges applying radiation safety practices. These measures aim to minimize risks, protect individuals from unnecessary radiation exposure, and create a safer environment for patients and healthcare professionals.

Lastly, on the participant's insights that can be shared with society about radiation safety practices, the participants pointed out the need to enhance professional knowledge, strictly observe radiation safety practices, demonstrate work commitment, and provide seminars and training to ensure optimal radiation safety in radiology. They highlighted the importance of prioritizing patient care, raising awareness, and continuously educating healthcare professionals to maintain high safety standards.

It was important to remember that research findings from a qualitative, phenomenological-focused study like this were rarely generalizable or transferable to other situations. It contended that phenomenology aimed to thoroughly explain the phenomena that led to understanding the basic framework of lived experiences. Furthermore, this research study could be adaptable to future related research studies to support Radiologic technologists in delivering radiation safety practices. Only fifteen (15) people participated in the research, which was a relatively small number. Future research should thus expand their sample size and recruit participants from a wider variety of regional hospitals. Using a quantitative approach to learn from this population regarding radiologic technologists' practices toward radiation safety could lead to very different results.

Finally, future research might need to focus on specific topics such as inefficient work behavior among radiologic technologists, PPE's unavailability, functionality and interference with work performance, the pressure of increased speed due to increased workload and imbalance radiologic technologists-patient ratio as well as the circumstances that directed radiographers in prioritizing urgent patient care over safety protocols.

References

- Abuzaid, M. M., Elshami, W., Shawki, M., & Salama, D. (2019). Assessment of compliance to radiation safety and protection at the radiology department. *International Journal of Radiation Research, Volume 17, No 3.* https://doi.org/10.18869/acadpub.ijrr.17. 3.447
- Ajzen, I. (2020). The theory of planned behavior: Frequently asked questions. *Human Behavior and Emerging Technologies*, 2(4), 314–324. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.195
- Alavi, S., Dabbagh, S., Abbasi, M., & Mehrdad, R. (2017). Medical radiation workers' knowledge, attitude, and practice to protect themselves against ionizing radiation in Tehran Province, Iran. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_126_1 5
- Aldhafeeri, F. M. (2020). Radiographers' knowledge regarding patients' ionizing radiation doses during common radiological procedures in Saudi Arabia. *Radioprotection*, 55(1), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1051/radiopro/201904 8
- Ali, Y., Cucinotta, F., Ning-Ang, L., & Zhou, G. (2020, August 12). Cancer Risk of Low Dose lonizing Radiation. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3 389/fphy.2020.00234/full
- Alsiddiky, A., Alabdulkarim, N., Altwairi, N., Awwad, W., & Bakarman, K. (2021). *Knowledge, Attitude and Practice of Occupational Radiation Safety among Physicians in Saudi Arabia.* Http://Www.ijmrhs.com/; International Journal of Medical Research & Health Sciences, 2021, 10(8): 95-106.
- Alsleem, H., Davidson, R., Al-Dhafiri, B., Alsleem, R., & Ameer, H. (2019). Evaluation of radiographers' knowledge

quality and attitudes of image optimisation pediatric digital in radiography in Saudi Arabia and Australia: a survey-based study. Journal of Medical Radiation Sciences. https://researchsystem.canberra.edu.au/ ws/portalfiles/portal/30646609/jmrs.366 .df

- Bárdyová, Z., Horváthová, M., Pinčáková, K., & Budošová, D. (2021). The importance of public health in radiology and radiation protection. *Journal of Public Health Research*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2021.2141
- Batista, V. M. D., Bernardo, M. O., Morgado, F., & Almeida, F. A. de. (2019).
 Radiological protection in the perspective of health professionals exposed to radiation. *Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem*, 72(suppl 1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2017-0545
- Cherry, K. (2022, November 7). *History and key* concepts of behavioral psychology. Verywell Mind. https://www.verywellmind.com/behavio ral-psychology-4157183
- Cheon, B. K., Kim, C. L., Kim, K. R., Kang, M. H., Lim, J. A., Woo, N. S., Rhee, K. Y., Kim, H. K., & Kim, J. H. (2018). Radiation safety: a focus on lead aprons and thyroid shields in interventional pain management. *The Korean Journal of Pain*, *31*(4), 244. https://doi.org/10.3344/kjp.2018.31.4.24 4
- Choudhary, S. (2018). Deterministic and Stochastic Effects of Radiation. *Cancer Therapy & Oncology International Journal*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.19080/ctoij.2018.12.5 55834
- Creswell, J., & Creswell, D. (2018). Creswell_Research_Design_ Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed

Methods Approaches (2018) 5th Ed.pdf. Www.docdroid.net. https://www.docdroid.net/XAQ0IXz/cre swell-research-design-qualitativequantitative-and-mixed-methodsapproaches-2018-5th-ed-pdf

- Crossman, A. (2020, March 19). What you need to understand about purposive sampling. ThoughtCo. https://www.thoughtco.com/purposivesampling-3026727
- Dahshan, MervatE. A. El., hussein, N., Sahrah, HaneenS., Almehmadi, MohammedA., Alzahrani, AbdulrahmanK., Baqasi, AhmadM., & hazmi., MeshariT. Al. (2017). Assessment of radiology health workers' knowledge, attitudes, and practices of radiation protection precautions in Makkah City Saudi Arabia. International Journal ofAdvanced Research, 5(2), 1815–1822. https://doi.org/10.21474/ijar01/3346
- Diarra, I., Coulibaly, S., Guindo, I., Keita, C. O., Diallo, S., Sanogo, S., Diarra, H., Sonfo, B., N'diaye, A. S., Kone, Y., & Diarra, B. (2022). Study on Compliance with Radiation Protection Rules in the Medical Imaging Department of Pr Bocar Sidy Sall Hospital of Kati (Mali). *Open Journal of Radiology*, 12(4), 239– 257. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojrad.2022.1240 24
- Ebdon-Jackson, S., & Frija, G. (2021). Improving justification of medical exposures using ionising radiation: considerations and approaches from the European Society of Radiology. *Insights into Imaging*,12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13244-020-00940-0
- EPA. (2018, September 17). *Radiation Health Effects* / *US EPA*. US EPA. https://www.epa.gov/radiation/radiationhealth-effects

- Erstad, W. (2021). What Does a Radiologic Technologist Do? A BareBones Look at this. Healthcare Career | Rasmussen College.Rasmussen.edu. https://www.rasmussen.edu/degrees/heal h-
- Fiagbedzi, E., Gorleku, P. N., Nyarko, S., Asare, A., & Ackah Ndede, G. (2022). Assessment of radiation protection practices knowledge and among radiographers in the central region of Radiation Medicine Ghana. and Protection. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radmp.2022.06. 001
- Forouharmajd, F., Salehi, A., & Ebrahimpour, K. (2021). Effect of Exposure to Ionizing Radiation on Biomarker of Oxidative Damage of DNA. *Journal of Health and Safety at Work*, *11*(2), 252–264. https://jhsw.tums.ac.ir/browse.php?a_id =6501&sid=1&slc lang=en&ftxt=1
- Frane, N., & Bitterman, A. (2020). *Radiation Safety and Protection*. PubMed; StatPearls Publishing. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NB K557499/
- George, T. (2021, December 10). What is a focus group? Scribbr. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/f ocus-group/
- Goula, A., Chatzis, A., Stamouli, M.-A., Kelesi,
 M., Kaba, E., & Brilakis, E. (2021).
 Assessment of Health Professionals'
 Attitudes on Radiation Protection
 Measures. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(24), 13380.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182413380
- Kim, J. H. (2018). Three principles for radiation safety: time, distance, and shielding. *The Korean Journal of Pain*, 31(3), 145. https://doi.org/10.3344/kjp.2018.31.3.14 5

- Kurtul, S., & Kurtul, N. (2018, September 1). The Level of Knowledge About Radiation Safety and the Frequency of the Use of Protective Equipment Among Healthcare workers Exposed to Radiation in Different Units. https://www.researchgate.net/publicatio n/327574457
- Lakhwani, O. P., Dalal, V., Jindal, M., & Nagala, A. (2019). Radiation protection and standardization. *Journal of Clinical Orthopaedics and Trauma*, *10*(4), 738– 743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcot.2018.08.01
- Lee, Y., Seo, S., Jin, Y. W., & Jang, S. (2019). Assessment of working environment and personal dosimeter-wearing compliance of industrial radiographers based on chromosome aberration frequencies. *Journal of Radiological Protection*, 40(1), 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6498/ab4686
- Lewis, S., Downing, C., & Hayre, C. M. (2022). South African radiographers' radiation protection practices, a qualitative study. *Radiography*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2021.12.00 8
- Maharjan, S., Parajuli, K., Sah, S., & Poudel, U. (2020). Knowledge radiation of protection among radiology professionals and students: A medical college-based study. European Journal of Radiology Open, 7. 100287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejro.2020.1002 87
- MedlinePlus. (2021, July 1). Imaging and radiology: MedlinePlus Medical Encyclopedia. Medlineplus.gov. https://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/007 51.htm
- NG, S. E., & SA, F. (2020). Assessment of awareness and practice of ionizing

radiation protection procedures among exposed healthcare workers. *Egyptian Journal of Occupational Medicine*, *44*(1), 529–544. https://doi.org/10.21608/ejom.2020.677 71

- Niaz, R., Hyder, S. N., Ahmed, U., & Ghous, M. (2021). Assessment of Level of Awareness Towards Radiation Protection Among the Staff Working at Angiography Suite at Public Hospitals. *Heart Research Open Journal*, 8(1), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.17140/hroj-8-159
- Partap, A., Raghunanan, R., White, K., & Seepaul, T. (2019). Knowledge and practice of radiation safety among health professionals in Trinidad. SAGE Open Medicine, 7, 205031211984824. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312119848 240
- Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. *Health Services Research*, *34*(5 Pt 2), 1189– 1208. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articl es/PMC1089059/
- Paulo, G. (2020). Radiographer research in radiation protection: National and European perspectives. *Radiography*, 26, S42–S44.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2020.05.00 6
- Peterson, J. S. (2019). Presenting a Qualitative Study: A Reviewer's Perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 63(3), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986219844 789
- Radiation Answers. (2019). *Effects of Radiation*. Radiation Answers. https://www.radiationanswers.org/radiat ion-and-me/effects-of-radiation.html
- Resnik, D. (2020, December 23). What is ethics in research & why is it important? National Institute of Environmental

Health Sciences. https://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/reso urces/bioethics/whatis/index.cfm

- Rial, R., & Vañó, E. (2021). Understanding the Basis of Radiation Protection for Endovascular Procedures: Occupational and Patients. *EJVES Vascular Forum*, 51, 20–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejvsvf.2021.03. 001
- Ridzwan, S. F. M., Bhoo-Pathy, N., Wee, L. H., & Isahak, M. (2021). OUP accepted manuscript. Annals of Work Exposures and Health, 65(8). https://doi.org/10.1093/annweh/wxab02 5
- Rose, A., & Rae, W. I. D. (2018). Personal Protective Equipment Availability and Utilization Among Interventionalists. *Safety and Health at Work*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2018.10.0 01
- Rutledge, P. B., & Hogg, J. L. C. (2020). In-Depth Interviews. *The International Encyclopedia of Media Psychology*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119011071. iemp0019
- Shabani, F., Hasanzadeh, H., Emadi, A., Mirmohammadkhani, M., Bitarafan-Rajabi, A., Abedelahi, A., Bokharaeian, M., Masoumi, H., Seifi, D., Khani, T., Sanchooli, M., Moshfegh, S., & Ziari, A. (2018). Radiation Protection Knowledge, Attitude, and Practice (KAP) in Interventional Radiology. *Oman Medical Journal*, 33(2), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2018.26
- S, L., MZ, I., JB, I., HM, M., & N, B. (2019). Radiation protection: An initial assessment of level of knowledge and compliance amongst radiation workers in Ahmadu Bello University Teaching hospital Zaria, Nigeria. *Kanem Journal* of Medical Sciences, 13(01), 1–6.

https://doi.org/10.36020/kjms.2019.130 1.005

- Smith, M., Yanko, E., Huynh, M., & Chan, G. (2022). X-ray therapy safety and awareness education for medical trainees and attending physicians. Canadian Urological Association Journal, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.5489/cuaj.8087
- Stahl, N., & King, J. (2020). Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. In *Journal of Developmental Education* (Vol. 44, Issue 1, pp. 26–28). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ13205 70.pdf
- Stenfors, T., Kajamaa, A., & Bennett, D. (2020). How to Assess the Quality of Qualitative Research. *The Clinical Teacher*, *17*(6), 596–599. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13242
- Takenaka, M., Hosono, M., Hayashi, S., Nishida,
 T., & Kudo, M. (2022). How should radiation exposure be handled in fluoroscopy-guided endoscopic procedures in the field of gastroenterology? *Digestive Endoscopy*, 34(5), 890–900. https://doi.org/10.1111/den.14208
- Tsapaki, V. (2020). Radiation dose optimization in diagnostic and interventional radiology: Current issues and future perspectives. *Physica Medica*, 79, 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmp.2020.09.0 15
- Uddin, H., Parvin, T., Muraduzzaman, S. M., & Alam, F. (2019, August). Evaluation of awareness and attitude of radiological technologist towards radiation safety in Dhaka City of Bangladesh. International Journal of Advanced Research. https://www.researchgate.net/publicatio n/335611282_
- Western Governors University. (2020, May 29). What is the behavioral learning theory? Western Governors University. https://www.wgu.edu/blog/what-

behavioral-learningtheory2005.html#close

Xie, J., Sun, Q., Tang, S., Ding, S., Zhong, Z., Zeng, S., Duan, Y., Zhang, X., & Cheng, A. SK. (2020). Knowledge, attitude and practice regarding nursing interruptions among Chinese nurses: A nationwide cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing*

Sciences, 7(1), 66–73. https://doi.org/

Silent Battle Cries: Travails of Radiologic Technologists Working Condition During Covid-19

Charlene Dayanara H. Caro

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

This research study aimed to investigate the challenges Radiologic Technologists faced in dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic, their coping mechanisms, and the insights they can share with their peers and the Radiologic Technology profession. The study employed face-to-face interview sessions using a purposive sampling technique, with seven participants in in-depth interviews and eight in focus group discussions. Only Radiologic Technologists with a minimum of 1 year of experience during the pandemic were included in the study. The research was conducted in health facilities located in Region XII, comprising both government and private hospitals. Thematic analysis with a hermeneutic-phenomenological context was used to identify themes and create codes based on the gathered data. The study's findings revealed three essential themes that captured the challenges Radiologic Technologists face in their working conditions, particularly the difficulties they encounter as front-liners. Also, seven essential themes were identified to explore the coping mechanisms employed by Radiologic Technologists during the COVID-19 pandemic. Lastly, the study identified one theme related to the insights participants can share with their peers and the Radiologic Technology profession to gain a deeper understanding of these themes and further explore the experiences and challenges related to them during the COVID-19 pandemic and future studies are recommended to employ a larger sample size and delve into additional themes acknowledged in this study.

Keywords: Working condition, Social Sciences, Phenomenological Hermeneutic, SOCCSKSARGEN.

Corresponding email: carodayanara20@gmail.com

Introduction

Radiologic Technologists working in a COVID-19 facility faced various challenges in their working conditions during the pandemic. The workflow of Radiologic Technologists has undergone numerous adjustments, considering factors such as increased workloads, unfamiliar tasks outside of their usual practices, disruption of existing teams, and rapidly changing regulations and developments procedures. These threaten occupational health and safety (Buljac-Samardzic et al., 2020). Furthermore, (Ulusoy & Celik, 2022) conducted a study to determine the levels of burnout among Turkish healthcare professionals, including HCWs and Radiologic Technologists, after a year of the epidemic in pandemic services or outpatient clinics. According to the survey, emotional tiredness was revealed by 51.6% of HCWs, and a lack of personal success was shown by 75.8%.

The challenges faced by Radiologic Technologists in their daily work during the pandemic have resurfaced due to the increasing number of positive patients in some regions of the Philippines. Among Filipinos, Radiologic Technologists have experienced the worst types of discrimination, including unpleasant remarks, physical or verbal assault, disparaging gestures, and social media shame (De Guzman et al., 2022). Similarly to the study by Itani et al. (2021) Lebanon's radiology departments, including its radiographers and Radiologic Technologists, have faced numerous negative consequences due to the ongoing pandemic and the heavy workload it has imposed. Additionally, according to (Tan et al., 2021) Radiologic Technologists have faced the challenge of doubling their rotations in emergency radiology with an increased number of staff handling COVID-19-positive patients. Moreover, the research (Çelmeçe & Menekay, 2020) concluded that the stress, worry, and burnout experienced by healthcare staff caring for those patients who were COVID-19 patients' quality of life was impacted.

Workload and physical exhaustion were significant challenges that Radiologic Technologists faced in their working conditions during the pandemic (Akudjedu et al., 2020). A more substantial percentage of participants (447 out of 522) who were front-line healthcare management teams fighting against the pandemic reported an increased workload during the survey. Additionally, more fatigue could be felt by Radiologic Technologists due to discrimination, in the SOCCSKSARGEN region because, according to Dayupay (2020), during the pandemic, Radiologic Technologists and other healthcare workers have also feared leaving their houses due to discrimination from people around them rather than solely due to the fear of COVID-19. This anxiety is a result of an incident in which five people attacked a front-line healthcare practitioner and bathed them in bleach, possibly resulting in permanent eye damage and blindness. They surmounted these challenges because of their dedication to their vocation, perseverance, excellent patient care, expertise, and competence. It has been difficult to adapt to the "new way of working described in the study by Lewis and Mulla (2021). Given that none of the previous studies have examined the working conditions of Radiologic COVID-19 Technologists during in the SOCCSKSARGEN Region, this study aimed to document the experiences of Radiologic Technologists during the pandemic. Further investigations should be conducted to explore these variables in more detail and gain a comprehensive understanding of the challenges front-line workers face. Such information would be instrumental in formulating policies to safeguard Radiologic Technologists against discrimination and enhance the evaluation of the quality of medical care provided to patients.

Methods

In this study, the researcher used a qualitative hermeneutic-phenomenological strategy. This qualitative research method allows researchers to study Radiologic Technologists' experiences in the COVID-19 facility and everyday practice to comprehend Radiologic Technologists' perspectives on the COVID-19 pandemic.

The SOCCSKSARGEN Region, commonly known as Region XII, was the site of the research study. The study participants were Radiologic Technologists in health facilities affiliated with the government and private hospitals. The researcher used a purposive sampling technique to select participants who best represented the population of interest. This study identified seven (7) participants for in-depth interviews, including eight (8) focus group discussions meeting these criteria. The researcher ensured that only Radiologic Technologists who voluntarily served during the first year of the pandemic were included in the study. Graduates of the Bachelor of Science in Radiologic Technology (BSRT) who did not have firsthand experience and Radiologic Technologists who did not serve during a pandemic outbreak were excluded from the study.

In qualitative research, the researcher served as the primary data collection instrument, as Creswell (1994) stated. In a phenomenological study, the researcher interacts with participants and conducts in-depth interviews and focus groups. Participants' experiences, viewpoints, and actions were gathered in qualitative research, which aims to understand a specific experience by gathering data from people who have experienced it and then using thematic analysis to reveal the significant themes and basic structure of the experience (Creswell, 2013). The Creswell approach was used to analyze the data. This was a data reduction technique used to analyze the data. The objective was to find recurring patterns in the participant descriptions to gain a comprehensive picture of the topic studied. Thematic analysis was conducted in six phases: (1) Data familiarization: The researcher became familiar with the data by reading and rereading the transcripts or other data sources. This allowed the researcher to identify key themes and concepts from the data. (2) Initial coding: The researcher coded the data by identifying keywords and phrases representing the themes and concepts identified in the data familiarization phase. (3) Theme development: The researcher identified patterns and themes in the data by reviewing the codes and grouping them into more prominent themes. (4) Theme refinement: The researcher reviewed the data and ensured that the themes were accurately represented. (5) Theme analysis: The researcher analyzed the themes by examining the data to see how they relate to each other and the research question. (6) Theme report: The researcher wrote a report that describes the themes and their relationship to the research question.

In addition, this thematic analysis has advantages and also a few drawbacks: The researcher's personal experiences and biases may affect the analysis because it is a subjective method; it could take a lot of time and effort; and in vast datasets, finding themes could be challenging.

Results and Discussion

The challenges faced by Radiologic Technologists in their working conditions during COVID-19 were broken down into three themes. The themes discovered concerning the Radiologic Technologists' actual challenges were presented. The second table covers topics such as Radiologic Technologists' participants' coping with the challenges in their working conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. The theme related to Radiologic Technologists' collaboration among health professionals was presented in the final section.

Table 1 presents the profiles of participants in this study. The table was divided into five labels: code name, age, sex, years in service, and study group.

For this study, 15 Radiologic Technologists from public and private hospitals were invited for interviews, seven in-depth interviews, and eight focus group discussions. Members received a name based on an attribute of their physical appearance. The researcher employed these code names to preserve the participants' privacy and guarantee that their identities remained undisclosed.

Code name	Age	Sex	Years in service	Study group
Muscularity	34	М	11	IDI
Full lips	28	F	5	IDI
Long legs	29	F	4	IDI
Petite	28	F	7	IDI
Dimple	28	F	7	IDI
Brown eyes	30	F	9	IDI
Luxurious hair	29	F	7	IDI
Curly hair	39	F	11	FGD
Young heart	53	М	25	FGD
Tall	25	М	4	FGD
Chinita	23	F	2	FGD
White Skin	28	F	4	FGD
Slim	25	F	4	FGD
Pretty	28	F	7	FGD

FIGURE 1



Figure 1 shown above, reveals the themes and categories that emerged from critical informants' interviews and focus group discussions with the challenges of Radiologic Technologists' working conditions during COVID-19

using the Creswell method of data analysis in which the researcher aimed to understand Radiologic Technologists experiences in their working conditions.

TABLE 2

ISSUES PROBED	CORE IDEAS	CODES/CATEGO RIES	ESSENTIAL THEMES
Radiologic Technologists' experiences in dealing with	 Discrimination by co-health workers and the public, who are the front-liners Not belongs to the front-liner 	Being discriminated	Toxic work environment
COVID-19 patients	 Fear of contracting the virus, infectious overthinking, and worry about returning home because of the risk of spreading the disease. Fear as there is yet no treatment for COVID-19. Discrimination by front-line co-health professionals and the general public They said that the Radiologic technologist was not a front-liners 	Paranoia	
	Enduring away from the familyBurnout to duties and quarantine protocols	Work overload	
Observations of covid-19 patients and their needs	Lack of X-ray machineLack of PPE.	Limited resources of the hospital/COVID-19 facility.	Lack of resources
	 Lack of preparation and orientation to do radiography procedure Late infectious control policy Not the same quarantine protocols 	WeakandambiguousimplementationofRulesandguidelinestoallfront-liners.	
Observation of "watchers "behavior	 Problematic; and attempted to escape the COVID-19 facility. Panicked because they were isolated in the covid-19facility A family member was unable to select the role of the watcher. They were Emotional Afraid to stay at the hospital Denial of watchers 	The COVID-19 virus was challenging to embrace.	Unstable mental health conditions

Table 2 shows the challenges faced by Radiologic Technologists in their working conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. The table presents the results of categorizing the responses as transcribed from the in-depth interviews. Three essential themes under the challenge of Radiologic Technologists were generated: (1) Toxic work environment; (2) Lack of resources; and (3) Unstable mental health conditions. These themes were analyzed from the in-depth interview (IDI) and focus group discussion (FGD). Toxic environment theme as COVID-19 front liner explained: Radiologic Technologists frequently operate in stressful settings because they are stigmatized by the public as members of the COVID-19 front liner. Additionally, they might be exposed

TABLE 3

to COVID-19, radiation, and fear. Technologists could therefore experience an unhealthy work environment where they are overworked, stressed out, and undervalued. Another theme was the Lack of resources: Radiologic Technologists frequently use shoddy or out-of-date personal protection equipment and understaffed facilities during COVID-19. This might make it challenging to give patients high-quality care and can cause burnout in technologists. One more was that Radiologic Technologists are more likely to experience unstable mental health problems such as anxiety, sadness, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). This is a result of the nature of their role as frontline personnel for COVID-19, which can be stressful and emotionally demanding.

ISSUES PROBED	CORE IDEAS	CODES/	ESSENTIAL
		CATEGORIES	THEMES
Management and	 Talking with co-workers/team partner 	Building teamwork	Intensified
handling other co-	• Small gatherings after work and quarantine	to survive	communication
workers	 Physical activities to be fit and healthy 	Diversionary tactic	physical activity
	• Find a distraction to forget covid-19	against overthinking	
	pandemic.	about COVID-19	
Aspects Radiologic	• Physical exhaustion on duty and	Extreme fatigue	Persistent
technologists as	environment		tiredness
front-liners in the	 Drained physically 		
hospitals	 Rapid breathing 		
	 Nervous breakdown 	The suffering of	Anxiety builds
	• Stress because alone in quarantine	Radiologic	up
	• Sudden because the family got infected	Technologists'	
	• Sudden because there is no work and no	working condition	
	pay		
	• Longing for home		
	• Damaging peace of mind.		
	 Anxiety about being infected 		
	• Only on Messenger and Facebook could	Disconnected with	Social
	socialize.	friends, family, co-	stagnation
	• Disconnection because friends	workers, and	-
	discriminated as a front-liner.	environment.	
	• No social gatherings because of the 1-		
	meter distance		

	• No socialization, Radiologic Technologists		
	were comfortable being by themselves.		
	 Limitation of going out 		
On availability/non-	 Not enough PPE provided 	Controlled resources	Poor working
availability of	• Not fair to the category of PPE provided.	of PPE for	conditions in the
COVID-19 facility	• Not well provided by institutions the needs	Radiologic	COVID-19
concerning working	of Radiologic Technologist	Technologists	facility
conditions	• No swab, no antigen, no x-ray of the		
	patients		
	• No distribution of KN-face masks at the		
	supply office		
	 Not well ventilated COVID-19 facility 		
On patient	• Safety precautions with patients	Preventive measures	Proactive
management during	• Patient care, Instead of hassling the	used to interact with	patient care
COVID-19	patients, Radtech go to their respective	COVID-19	
concerning working	room for X-ray		
condition			

Table 3 shows participants' coping with the challenges in their working conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. The results revealed seven themes: intensified communication. essential physical activity, persistent tiredness, anxiety building up, social stagnation, poor working conditions in the COVID-19 facility, and proactive patient care. From the in-depth interview and focus group discussions, these themes emerged. Intensified communication. Front-line healthcare workers say that they need to communicate more frequently with their colleagues, supervisors, and patients to cope with the challenges of the pandemic. This included communicating about fear of COVID-19, experiences, and treating loneliness. Physical activity. Diversionary tactic against overthinking about COVID-19. Many front-line healthcare workers found that physical activity was an important way to cope with stress and fatigue. This could include anything from taking a walk to going for a run. Persistent tiredness. Extreme fatigue was common challenge reported by front-line a healthcare workers. This may help to forget the loneliness and the COVID-19 scenario. This was due to long hours, an increased workload, and the stress of working in a high-risk environment. Anxiety builds up. Anxiety was another common challenge

reported by front-line healthcare workers. This was due to the fear of contracting COVID-19, the risk of exposure to sick patients, and the uncertainty of the pandemic.Social stagnation. Frontline healthcare workers reported feeling socially isolated during the pandemic. This was due to restrictions on social gatherings, travel, quarantine, and even visiting with family and friends. Poor working conditions in the COVID-19 facility Many front-line healthcare workers reported that the working conditions in COVID-19 facilities were poor. This included inadequate PPE, a lack of personal space, and long hours. Proactive patient care. Front-line healthcare workers reported that taking proactive steps to care for their patients helped them cope with the challenges of the pandemic. This included providing emotional support, educating patients about COVID-19, and advocating for their needs. These themes are just a few of the ways that frontline healthcare workers coped with the challenges of working during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is important to note that everyone copes with stress differently, and what works for one person may not work for another. It is also important to seek professional help if you are struggling to cope with the challenges of the pandemic.

Table 4 **d**emonstrates the participants' perspectives that they could impart to their colleagues and the field of Radiologic Technology. The findings highlight an important message: professional collaboration. This may result in improved patient outcomes: when health professionals collaborate among health professionals. This can lead fight covid-19, shorter hospital stays of the patients, fewer complications, and improved quality service. The participants' conversations in the focus groups and the in-depth interview helped develop the theme.

researcher's interview, by educating themselve	researcher's	interview,	by	educating	themselves
--	--------------	------------	----	-----------	------------

about the virus and how to protect themselves.

ISSUES PROBED	CORE IDEAS	CODES/CATEGO	ESSENTIAL
		RIES	THEMES
Success stories that	• Rad tech, known as the eye of the	Radiologic	Collaboration
Radiologic	medicine during covid-19	Technologists are	among health
technologists can	 Known being a front-liner 	known to be allied	professionals.
share with regard to	• Build teamwork with co-workers and	health workers to	
providing health	other healthcare worker	end covid-19.	
services.	• Help Medical professionals to diagnose.		

Implications

This will help to understand the difficulties that Radiologic technologists are experiencing during the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, it will offer suggestions for how to enhance their working conditions. These suggestions might consist of: Giving Radiologic Technologists greater aid, including financial and mental health resources; and making PPE more accessible to Radiologic Technologists. Also, the creation of novel imaging systems suitable for remote applications. This study has crucial ramifications for the direction of healthcare. Because they are crucial to providing high-quality care, Radiologic Technologists must be supported to continue working. This research will contribute to providing Radiologic Technologists with the resources they require to maintain health and safety and continue providing vital services. The conclusions drawn from the study highlight that finding ways to stay positive and motivated could help Radiologic Technologists fight not only the COVID-19 virus but also burnout and boredom in working conditions during COVID-19. Also, Radiologic Technologists could educate their colleagues on how to handle the virus with the strategies gathered by the researcher, based on the Moreover, the most important thing the researcher could apply to the Radiologic Technology profession was working together as a team to support each other. This was the insight the researcher could share based on their answer. Since they were more at risk of contracting an infection during the pandemic, they should have at least two Radiologic Technologists on duty every shift because they went through a lot of stress. While protecting each other, they also took precautions to safeguard themselves and their patients, such as wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) and adhering to stringent infection control standards. Despite the difficulties, Radiologic Technologists were serious in the fight against COVID-19. In addition, it gave the Hospital insights into preparing themselves for the newly pandemic and the evolved demands and responsibilities they may encounter in their future careers. Furthermore, the conclusions also highlight the relevance of the study findings for individuals considering a career in Radiologic Technology and those currently enrolled in Radiologic Technology programs. By understanding the challenges and experiences of Radiologic Technologists during the pandemic, prospective and current students could gain insights and a new approach to handling the realities. Additionally, the identified themes from the

qualitative data analysis offer valuable guidance for future research in this field. Researchers could delve deeper into these topics to better understand the experiences and requirements of Radiologic Technologists during pandemics and comparable

Recommendation

Dealing with a toxic environment during COVID-19 as a healthcare provider meant taking a break, talking to a supervisor or trusted colleagues, and taking care of physical and mental health. This study also recommends making a policy and procedure to protect Radiologic Technologists against discrimination. Next, the Radiologic Technologist has been overworked and has faced psychological and emotional stress and knowledgerelated challenges. The hospital should give them a fair salary equivalent to their sacrifices. In addition, the Philippine Association of Radiologic Technologists, hospital administrators, and the Department of Health should actively address the issues raised by Radiologic Technologists. This includes advocating for fair treatment and benefits for Radiologic Technologists across different healthcare settings. Efforts should be made to ensure Radiologic Technologists that receive the recognition and support they deserve as essential healthcare professionals. Moreover, it is crucial to

References

- Akudjedu, T., Lawal, O., & Franklin, J., (2020) Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on radiology practice: findings from a UK radiography workforce survey. National Center for Biotechnology Information, doi: 10.1259/bjro.20200023
- Akudjedu, T. N., Lawal, O., Sharma, M., Elliott, J., Stewart, S., Gilleece, T., ... & Franklin, J. M. (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on radiography practice: findings from a UK radiography

crises. This could contribute to the development of targeted interventions and support systems to assist Radiologic Technologists in delivering quality healthcare services.

prioritize self-care. Radiologic Technologists should be encouraged to care for their physical and mental well-being by practicing healthy habits such as eating regular meals, getting sufficient sleep (at least 8 hours), and engaging in stress-reducing activities. Promoting self-care among Radiologic Technologists can contribute to their overall resilience and well-being. Furthermore, hospital administrators can implement activities focused on mental health support for Radiologic technologists. This can include providing opportunities for breaks, organizing retreats, and offering resources for stress management and mental well-being. Creating a supportive environment and recognizing Radiologic Technologists' challenges can help alleviate their burden and improve their working conditions. These recommendations aim to promote Radiologic Technologists' well-being and professional satisfaction by addressing their concerns and providing support during challenging times. By implementing these recommendations, healthcare organizations can create a more supportive and conducive working environment for Radiologic Technologists.

workforce survey. *BJR*/ *Open*, 2, 20200023.

Akudjedu, T.N., Misho N.A.,Elshami, W., Culp, M.P.,Lawal, O., Botwe, B. O., Wuni,A.R Julka-Anderson, N., Shanahan, M., Totman, J. J., & Franklin, J. M. (2021). The global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on clinical radiography

> A systematic literature review and recommendations for future services planning. *Radiography (London,*

England : 1995), 27(4), 1219–1226. doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2021.07.004

- Aljondi, R., Alghamdi, S. S., Abdelaziz, I., Bushara, L., Alghamdi, S., Aljehani,
 A., ... & Tajaldeen, A. (2021).
 Knowledge of COVID-19 infection control among healthcare workers in radiology departments in Saudi Arabia. Journal of Radiation Research and Applied Sciences, 14(1), 51-60.
- Alghamdi, F., Owen, R., Ashton, R., Obotiba, Meertens, R., Hyde, E., Faghy, A., М.. Knapp, K., Rogers, P., & Strain, W. (2022). Post-acute COVID syndrome (long COVID): What should radiographers know and the potential impact for imagingservices. Radiography, 28. S93-S99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2022.08.00 Al Ewaidat, H., Abdel Samee, N., Allam, J. P., Patro, K. K., Pławiak, P.,
- Mahmoud, N. F., & Hammad, M. (2023). The knowledge and perception about COVID-19 among medical imaging professionals. *Health & Social Care in the Community, 2023.*
- Alfuraih, A. M., Alsaadi, M. J., & Aldhebaib, A. M. (2022). Job satisfaction of radiographers in Saudi Arabia. *Radiologic Technology*, 93(3), 268-277.
- Balzarini L (2020) *How is the Pandemic Affecting Radiology Practice?* doi.org/10.1007/s00330-020068710healthmanagement.org/c/ healthmanagement /issuearticle /how-is-the-pandemicaffecting- radiology-practice

Bagley, J. E., DiGiacinto, D. D., & Hargraves, K. (2014). Imaging professionals' views of social media and its implications. *Radiologic Technology*, 85(4), 377-389.

Beam, A. S., Brown, L., Moore, K. G., Berry,

S. D., Stovall, H., Rainey, M., ... & Flagg, A. (2022). Workplace violence in imaging departments. *Radiologic technology*, 94(2), 108-119.

Cavallo, J. J., & Forman, H. P. (2020). The economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on radiology practices. *Radiology*, 296(3), E141-

E144.

- Cellina, M., Orsi, M., & Oliva, G. (2020). How to reorganize the radiology departments to face the 2019 coronavirus disease outbreak. *Disaster Medicine and PublicHealthPreparedness*,14(6),789Re
 - tievefrom791.https://www.cambridge.org/ corejournals/disaster-medicineandpublic- health preparedness/article/how-to reorganize- the-radiology-

departments- to-facecovid19outbreak/145704C675E3F6 41EB05D857A11BE382

- Çelmeçe, N., & Menekay, M. (2020). The effect of stress, anxiety and burnout levels
 - of healthcare professionals caring

for COVID-19 patients on their quality of life. *Frontiers in psychology*, 11, 597624..

Chan, W.,& Yao, M., (June 2021) Management and infection control practices in a Taiwanese radiology department during the COVID- 19 outbreak. Science Direct. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmii.2021.03.01 2

- Chen, R., Cheng, L., & Tan, B., (2020) Touch Me Not: Safe Distancing in Radiology During Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). National Center of Biotechnology Information. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2020.04.019
- Chen, R. C., Cheng, L. T. E., Lim, J. L. L., Gogna, A., Ng, D. C. E., Teo, L. Z. Y., & Tan, B.
 S. (2020). Touch me not: safe distancing in radiology during coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Journal of the American College of Radiology, 17(6), 739-742.
- Christian, A. C. S. (2021). Public obedience to health protocols during COVID-19 pandemic in Indonesia: A perspective f rom health belief model theory. *Soshum: Jurnal Sosial dan Humaniora*, *11*(2), 201-210.
- Dayupay, J. (2020) Discrimination and social stigma perturbing frontliners and COVID19 patients in the Philippines https://shapesea.com/op-ed/covid-19/discriminationand-social-stigmaperturbing-frontliners-and-covid-19patients- in-the-philippines/
- de Guzman, A. B., de Castro, B. V., Laguilles-Villafuerte, S., Clemente-Faustino, J. A., Serrano, J. O., & Angcahan, D. Z. (2022). Portrait of Filipino healthcare workers' discrimination experiences during the early part of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, *53*(3), 396-403.
- de Guzman, A. B., & Angcahan, D. Z. (2020). Caeteris paribus: In search of the

"Silent Professional Identity" of Filipino radiologic technologists during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal* of medical imaging and radiation sciences, 51(4), 528-530.

Deng, M. (2020). The prevention and management of the coronavirus

disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in radiology departments in epidemic areas. Japanese Journal of Radiology, 38, 483-488.

- Ding, N., Li, Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., & Wen, D. (2017). Assessing medical professionalism: a systematic review of instruments and their measurement properties. *PloS one*, *12*(5), e0177321.
- Doleman, G., De Leo, A., & Bloxsome, D. (2023). The impact of pandemics on healthcare providers' workloads: A scoping review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*.
- Elshami, (2021) Impact of COVID-19 on mental health of radiology workershttps://insights.omniahealth.com / hospitalmanagement/impactcovid19men tal- health-radiology-workers
- Edmondson, A. C., & Mortensen, M. (2021). What psychological safety looks like in a hybrid workplace. *Harvard Business Review*, 3, 109.
- Elliott, J., & Williamson, K. (2020). The radiology impact of healthcare errors during shift work. *Radiography*, 26(3), 248-253.
- Figueroa, C.A., Harrison, R., Chauhan, A. *et al.* Priorities and challenges for health leadership and workforce management globally: a rapid review. *BMCHealth Serv Res* 19, 239 (2019).

- Gonzalez, A., Artigues, J., (June 16 2020) Radiography-based triage for COVID-19 in the Emergency Department in a Spanish cohort of patients. National Center of Biotechnology Information.92
 - Goh, Y., Chua, W., Lee, J. K., Ang, B. W. L., Liang, C. R., Tan, C. A., Choong, D. A. W., Hoon, H. X., Ong, M. K. L., &
 - Quek, S. T. (2020). Operational

Strategies to Prevent Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Spread in Radiology: Experience From a Singapore Radiology Department After Severe Acute Syndrome. Respiratory Journal of the American College of 717-723. Radiology, 17(6), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2020.03.02 7

- Hwang, S., Kwon, K. T., Lee, S. H., Kim, S. W., Chang, H. H., Kim, Y., ... & Lee, J. Y. (2023). Correlates of burnout among healthcare workers during the COVIDpandemic in South Korea. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 3360.
- Itani, R., Alnafea, M., Tannoury, M., Hallit, S., & Al Faraj, A. (2021, March). Shedding light on the direct and indirect impact

of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Lebanese radiographers or radiologic technologists: a crisis within crises. In *Healthcare* (Vol. 9, No. 3, p. 362). MDPI.

Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical teacher*, 42(8), 846-854.

- Kok, S.,& Shah, M., (July 2020) Dealing with COVID-19: initial perspectives of a small radiology department. National Center of Biotechnology Information. doi:10.11622/smedj.2020043
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2021). Two-Factor Theory. How Herzberg's Two-Factor Theoryworks in a hybrid work model. https://www.hrkatha.com/features/howherzbergs two factor C theory works in hybrid work model /#:~:text=Frederick%20Herberg%2C%2

in%20his%20Two,two%20factors%20 %E2%80%93%20motivators%20and%2 hygiene.Labrague & Delos Santos,

(2020) Fear of COVID-19,

psychological distress, work satisfaction and turnover intention among frontlinenurses

- Langellier, K. M. (1983). A phenomenological approach to audience.
- Lewis, S., & Mulla, F. (2021). Diagnostic radiographers' experience of COVID-19, gauteng south africa. *Radiography*, 27(2), 346-351.
- Lock, H. S., Teng, X. L., Low, Z. X., & Ooi, J. (2022). The experiences of Singapore radiographers performing mobile radiography in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Rad iationSciences*, 53(4), S9.
- Lulli, L. G., Giorgi, G., Pandolfi, C., Foti, G., Finstad, G. L., Arcangeli, G., & Mucci, N. (2021). Identifying psychosocial risks and protective measures for workers' mental wellbeing at the time of COVID-19:A narrativereview. *Sustainability*, 13(24), 13869.

- Martín-Noguerol, T., Lopez-Ortega, R., Ros, P. R., & Luna, A. (2021). Teleworking beyond teleradiology: managing radiology departments during the COVID-19 outbreak. *European Radiology*, *31*, 601-604.
- McGuire, S. S., Gazley, B., Majerus, A. C., Mullan, A. F., & Clements, C. M. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on workplace violence at an academic emergency department. *The American journal of emergency medicine*, *53*, 285- e1.
- Malvik, R (2019) 7 Appealing Advantages of BeingaRadiologicTechnologistrasmusse edu/degrees/healthsciences/blog/advanta ges-of-being- a-radiological technologist/
- Mut, N. C., Mohd, Z. N., & Jesudoss, K. (2022). COVID-19: Changes in Radiographers' Infection Control Practices in Malaysia. Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences, 53(4), S50-S51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2022. 10.165
- Niu, Y., Xian, J., Lei, Z., Liu, X., & Sun, Q. (2020). Management of infection control and radiological protection in diagnostic radiology examination of COVID-19 cases. *Radiation medicine* and protection, 1(02), 75-80.
- Ooi, J., Wern Er, A., Chong, C., Tsai, C., & Chong, M., (May 18 2021) Knowledge,attitudes and perceptions of radiology healthcare workers during the COVID19pandemic.SAGEJournals.http //doi.org/10.1177/20101058211015801
- Oleaga, L (2020): How is the Pandemic AffectingRadiologyPractice?https://heal hmanagement.org/c/healthmanagement/I

ssuearticle/how-is the-pandemicaffecting-radiology-practice

- Tay, Y. X., Kothan, S., Kada, S., Cai, S., & Lai, C. W. K. (2021). Challenges and optimization strategies in medical imaging service delivery during COVID-19. World Journal of Radiology, 13(5), 102.
- Politi, L. & Balzarini, L., (April 21 2020) The Radiology Department during the COVID19 pandemic: a challenging, radical change. National Center of Biotechnology Information. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-06871-0
- Ranasinghe, P. D., & Zhou, A. (2023). Women physicians and the COVID-19 pandemic: gender-based impacts and potential interventions. *Annals of Medicine*, 55(1), 319-324.
- Rubin, G., Ryerson, C., (2020) The Role of Chest Imaging in PatientManagementduring the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Multinational ConsensusStatement from the Fleischner Society. RSNA. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.20202013 65

Sarason, I. G., Pierce, G. R., & Sarason, B. R.

(Eds.). (1996). Cognitive interference:Theories, methods, and findings. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

Siegal, D. S., Wessman, B., Zadorozny, J., Palazzolo, J., Montana, A., Rawson, J. V., ...& Brown, M. L. (2020). Operational radiology recovery in academic radiology COVID-19 departmentsafter the pandemic: moving towardnormalcy. Journal of the American College of Radiology, 17(9), 1101-1107.

- Shi, J., Giess, C., (October 2 2020) Radiology Workload Changes During the COVID-Pandemic: Implications for Staff Redeployment. National Center of Biotechnology Information. doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2020.09.008
- Tan, (2020)19Finding balance the unicef.org/philippines/stories/we-arenot-virusTan, B. ,& Lim, K., (2020) Radiology Preparedness in the Ongoing Battle against COVID-19: Experiences from Large to Small Public Hospitals in Singapore. National Center of Biotechnology Information. doi: 10.1148/ryct.2020200140
- Tan, B. S., Dunnick, N. R., Gangi, A., Goergen,

S., Jin, Z. Y., Neri, E., ... & Mahmood, U. (2021). RSNA international trends: a global perspective on the COVID-19 pandemic and radiology in late 2020. *Radiology*. Tandon R.(2020) The COVID-19 pandemic, personalreflections on editorial responsibility. *Psychiatr.AsianJ.* 2020;50 doi: 10.1016/ j.ajp.2020.10 2100.

Taylor, A., and Williams, C. (2020) COVID-19: Impact on radiology departments and implications for future service design, service delivery, and radiology National Center education. of Biotechnology Information. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20210632 Ulusoy, S., & Celik, Z. (2022). The Silent Cry of Healthcare Workers: A CrossSectional Study on Levels and Determinants of Burnout among Healthcare Workers after First Pandemic Year of the in Turkey. *Psychiatry* and Clinical Psychopharmacology, 32(1), 63-71.

Wu, Y. C., Chen, C. S., & Chan, Y. J. (2020). The outbreak of COVID-19: An overview. *Journal of the Chinese medical association*, 83(3), 217

Occupational Stress and Organizational Commitment of Overseas Filipino Radiographers: Basis for Personal and Professional Development Plan

Mikaela J. Mercado, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

The continuous concern in exploring the relationship between occupational stress and organizational commitment among Radiographers in different countries reflects the importance of understanding how these factors interplay in the work context. By focusing on Filipino Radiographers, specifically those working abroad, this study aimed to shed light on the unique experiences and challenges they faced. This investigation sought to provide valuable insights into the link of occupational stress to organizational commitment, contributing to the development of targeted interventions such as personal and professional strategies to support and improve the well-being and commitment of Filipino radiographers working in international settings. The results of this research suggest no significant relationship between occupational stress and organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working overseas, supporting the null hypothesis. Additionally, occupational stress does not directly cause organizational commitment and vice versa. This quantitative study employed a descriptive-correlational approach, mean, and Spearman's rho for data analysis and utilized snowball sampling. A total of 235 respondents from hospitals and medical facilities in Singapore's central region completed the online survey forms.

Keywords: Occupational Health, Social Sciences, Descriptive-Correlational, Central Singapore

Introduction

Being capable of delivering quality patient care within the healthcare sector is regarded as the utmost distinction in a profession (O'Regan, 2022). Healthcare professionals, including Radiological Science Professionals, face numerous work-related stresses (Robertson et al., 2022 Anim-Sampong et al., 2022). Research has shown that occupational stress is a complex concept influenced by various individual and organizational factors (Taris et al., 2019).

Moreover, Santos et al. (2019) investigated the levels of occupational stress among Filipino radiographers. The research revealed that Filipino radiographers faced notable stress, primarily attributed to factors such as a demanding workload, limited time, and insufficient resources. Radiographers experience a variety of stress-inducing situations at work, including radiation exposure, long hours, shift work, and a heavy workload (Durairaj, 2021). Hence, an imbalance between the demands of the workplace and a worker's capacity to perform is how occupational stress is defined (Joshi et al., 2022).

Organizational commitment can be simplified as the dedication and loyalty individuals demonstrate towards the organization's objectives and values. It encompasses a strong sense of belonging, reliance on the organization, and a moral obligation to remain committed and engaged within the organization (Guohao et al., 2021 Wang Y., 2020).

According to the examination of Suharto et al. (2019), performance at work is influenced by organizational commitment. It is crucial to conduct an examination or investigation into the organizational commitment of the radiographers since it demonstrates that when employees are committed to an organization, they exhibit strong belief in and acceptance of an organization's values and goals, which positively impacts their job performance, characterized by their effort, skills, and the quality of the work environment (Al Balushi et al., 2022 and Kang et al., 2019).

Furthermore, the study conducted by Santos et al. (2019) examined the concept of organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers and identified the various factors that impact their level of commitment. It highlights the potential consequences of organizational commitment for healthcare organizations, including employee retention, quality of care, and employee engagement. This description suggests that organizational commitment has a positive correlation with job performance. And its significance for healthcare organizations in terms of retention, quality of care, and employee engagement. It provided insights into the importance and impact of organizational commitment in the context of Filipino radiographers (Gün et al., 2021 & Santos et al., 2019).

While studies on occupational stress among medical staff have been conducted in different countries, including Slovenia, there is a lack of research specifically addressing this issue among radiographers (Jagodič et al., 2020). Additionally, it is vital to examine this understudied field of radiology since it has been demonstrated that occupational stresses are the main culprits for work-related health concerns (Anim-Sampong et al., 2022). In this globalized world, it is of paramount importance to examine how occupational stress and organizational commitment influence the experiences of Filipino radiographers who are employed overseas. The context of this study highlighted the need for additional research, suggesting that further investigation is required to gather additional evidence and expand the understanding of the topic.

Occupational Stress

A scenario that requires an individual to deviate from their regular functioning owing to a

fluctuation in their physical or psychological state is referred to as occupational stress (Babapour et al., 2022). Furthermore, Job stress refers to the physiological, psychological, and behavioral responses that occur in the body when faced with internal and external stimuli, commonly referred to as stressors. These stressors can be factors in our environment that cause changes, leading to a specific reaction within our organism (Chu et al., 2022). They can disrupt an individual's inner balance temporarily. It is crucial to recognize that different people may react differently to the same stressor, highlighting the importance of interpreting these experiences on an individual level (Jagodič et al., 2020).

Occupational stress, as defined by the World Health Organization (2020) pertains to the reaction individuals display when they confront work-related pressures and expectations that surpass their skills and capacities, posing a challenge to their ability to effectively manage and cope. This response arises from an imbalance between the demands placed on individuals in their work environment and their abilities and knowledge.

Organizational Commitment

The term organizational commitment can be defined as the voluntary allocation of significant efforts to advance the organization's interests, accompanied by a sense of belonging and a desire to sustain membership (Herrera, and De Las Heras-Rosas, 2021). It encompasses individuals' devoted involvement and active participation, utilizing their time, energy, and abilities to foster the organization's goals and objectives. The level of organizational commitment is indicative of individuals' sense of affiliation with the organization and their drive to contribute to its achievements (Sunarsi et al., 2020).

Organizational commitment entails a deep sense of connection and belonging that employees develop towards their organizations (Wang et al., 2020). Committed employees generally cultivate positive relationships, share the organization's values, and possess a clear grasp of its objectives (Mahmood Aziz et al., 2021 Houston, 2019). As a result, they exhibit heightened dedication and motivation in their work, resulting in added value for the organization. Committed individuals tend to demonstrate heightened productivity and proactively offer support, thereby making valuable contributions to the organization's overall success (Arumi et al., 2019).

The Connection between Occupational Stress and Organizational Commitment

Numerous studies have determined a substantial correlation between job stress and organizational commitment (Hoeve et al., 2019 Vickovic et al., 2019). Hence, when occupational stress levels rise, there is a tendency for organizational commitment to decline. Certainly, the well-being of employees, both in terms of physical and psychological state, significantly influences their level of organizational commitment (Saadeh and Suifan, 2020). Thus, job stress has adverse effects on employees' attitudes and behaviors, resulting in a decline in their performance and efficiency. Inadequate management of job stress can lead to negative

Methods

The descriptive-correlational method was used to determine the relationship between occupational stress and organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working overseas. The research was carried out in the hospitals and medical centers situated in Singapore's central region. With the snowball technique, data was collected from 235 eligible participants who were radiographers of Filipino origin. Provided that the individuals are employed as radiographers in Singapore regardless of their age, gender, marital status, or clinical expertise level. Radiographers who were not of Filipino descent or working in a hospital or consequences for employee performance, including higher rates of absenteeism, increased turnover, and elevated medical compensation expenses. Additionally, it can result in reduced productivity and commitment within the organization (Cross, 2019).

Referring to the study conducted by Jun et al. (2021), the prevalence rate of workplace stress among healthcare professionals in hospital settings exhibits considerable variation, with estimates ranging from 5% to as high as 50%, depending on factors such as specific nursing geographical specialties and locations. Healthcare provider occupational stress is more than just an individual problem; it is an occupational hazard that affects the personnel, patients, organizations, and society on a larger scale (Sinclair, et al., 2020 Chen et al., 2021). The studies of Garcia et al., 2019 and AlDhaen, 2022 found that job stress is linked to adverse consequences such as compromised patient safety and quality of care, lower patient satisfaction, decreased productivity, and reduced levels of organizational commitment among healthcare providers. Acknowledging occupational stress as a collective issue within the organization enables a broader viewpoint that is crucial for effectively addressing and managing work stress.

medical facility in the specified location were not included in the study.

The assessment tools applied in the study were chosen based on recommendations from three validators, who provided their expertise and insights. To ensure validity and reliability, the questionnaires underwent a rigorous inter-rater validity test. During this process, multiple raters or experts evaluated the instruments to assess the consistency and agreement. This thorough examination was conducted to establish the instruments' credibility, accuracy, and appropriateness for measuring the targeted variables. The pilot testing, involving 20 participants produced a Cronbach's Alpha value of 0.846. This implied a strong internal
consistency among the adapted test items for both occupational stress and organizational commitment survey questionnaires. The participants' responses demonstrated reliability and coherence, indicating that the items effectively measured the intended construct. The questionnaires will be in the form of a selfadministered online survey with two sections. Each section can be completed in 5 minutes or less, and respondents will simply need to place a tick mark within the circle corresponding to their chosen answer.

The participants were requested to evaluate and assess statements by furnishing numerical responses about the indicators. In this research, a five-point rating scale was employed, where 1 denoted "strongly disagree" and 5 represented "strongly agree."

To interpret the answers from the participants, the subsequent scale was utilized:

Mean Interval	Descriptive Level	Descriptive Interpretation
4.51-5.00	Very High	Radiographers from the Philippines who are employed abroad are always mindful and aware of their occupational stress.
3.51-4.50	High	Radiographers from the Philippines who are employed abroad are often mindful and aware of their occupational stress.
2.51-3.50	Moderate	Radiographers from the Philippines who are employed abroad are occasionally mindful and aware of their occupational stress
1.51-2.50	Low	Radiographers from the Philippines who are employed abroad are seldom mindful and aware of their occupational stress.
1.00-1.50	Very Low	Radiographers from the Philippines who are employed abroad are not mindful and aware of their occupational stress.

The researcher ensured the safeguarding of the legal rights of the participants under investigation, avoided any intrusion, and protected their privacy rights. The research questions were formulated objectively to maximize the study's breadth and maintain confidence in the research process. Additionally, the research process took into account potentially sensitive conflicts arising from cultural and social differences. To conduct the study, the researcher primarily submitted and acquired the ethical review clearance from the research committee and board of Davao Doctors College Inc. Upon approval, the study commenced the process of collecting essential research data. This began with reaching out to pertinent medical organizations via emails and letters, seeking permission to carry out the study. Subsequently, consent forms were distributed to the participants before conducting the study and administering the survey questionnaires. Following that, the process of encoding, tabulating, and evaluating took place. The data was screened during the study to identify and eliminate any potential outliers. The assistance of a statistician was enlisted to ensure the precision of mathematical data calculations.

The statistical techniques employed in this investigation are as follows: Mean was used following the study aimed to assess occupational stress and organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working abroad. It provided insights into the challenges and levels of dedication experienced by these healthcare professionals. The lowest observed means in each variable informed the creation of personalized development plans, allowing for targeted interventions to address concerns and enhance well-being. Spearman's rho analysis (Spearman's rank correlation coefficient) the study investigated the connection between occupational stress and organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working abroad. The analysis unveiled their relationship, considering non-linear links, and providing insights into their interplay beyond linear assumptions.

Results and Discussion

Table 1	Cumana	r of Loval a	of Occurrentic	mal Stragg	of Eilining	Dodiograph	and Worling	Ahmood
Table L.	Summary	vorteverc		mai siress		каспоугари	ers working	ADFOAG
10010 11	~ minute		- ottopan			- maro Brupn	ere it oring	1101044

Occupational Stress	Mean Rating	Descriptive Level	
Role Expectation Conflict	2.97	Moderate	
Coworker Support	3.27	Moderate	
Work-Life Balance	3.15	Moderate	
OVERALL AVERAGE:	3.13	Moderate	
	1 2 5 1 4 5 0 11 1 2 5 1	2.50 16 1 . 1.51	

Legend: 4.51.-5.00 = Very High; 3.51-4.50 = High; 2.51-3.50 = Moderate; 1.51-

2.50 = Low; 1.00-1.50 = Very Low

Level of Occupational Stress of Filipino Radiographers Working Abroad. As per the data presented in Table 1, Filipino radiographers who worked overseas reported a moderate level of occupational stress, with a general average value of 3.13. Among the examined factors, Coworker Support received the highest mean rating of 3.27, indicating that these radiographers experienced intermittent positive and helpful interactions with their colleagues. This finding aligned with the study conducted by Kokoroko and Sanda (2019), which suggested that a moderate level of coworker support indicated employees felt wellsupported and had constructive interactions with colleagues, contributing to a positive work environment. This underscored the department's commitment to fostering a supportive work environment where colleagues actively assisted and contributed to each other's well-being, consequently reducing occupational stress. Previous studies emphasized coworker support's significance in alleviating job stress and psychological distress (Norling et al., 2020). According to Peart (2019), establishing a supportive work environment was recognized as a practical and effective strategy for promoting well-being and reducing stress. This approach highlighted the importance of not only addressing

and mitigating occupational stress in the radiology department but also actively nurturing a positive and supportive atmosphere. Through cultivating such an environment, organizations could enhance employee welfare and satisfaction, ultimately leading to a more productive workforce.

On the other hand, the study's participants, Filipino radiographers working overseas, reported a moderate level of stress, with Role Expectation Conflict receiving the lowest mean rating of 2.97. This suggested that radiographers encountered periodic conflicts and contradictions in expectations and demands from various sources, such as leaders, colleagues, or multiple assigned tasks. This finding was consistent with the research conducted by Giménez-Espert et al. (2020), which emphasized the importance for organizations and managers to acknowledge and address role conflicts to improve employees' well-being and overall job performance. Previous studies demonstrated that individuals facing role conflict were more likely to experience higher levels of distress. The demanding nature of Filipino radiographers' roles at work, coupled with conflicting expectations and demands, contributed to elevated stress levels

among them. Recognizing and addressing these conflicts was crucial for organizations to

establish a conducive work environment and enhance the well-being of radiographers.

Table 2. Summary of Level of Organizational Commitment of the Respondents

Mean Rating	Descriptive Level
3.41	Moderate
3.24	Moderate
3.45	Moderate
3.37	Moderate
	Mean Rating 3.41 3.24 3.45 3.37

Legend: 4.51.-5.00 = Very High; 3.51-4.50 = High; 2.51-3.50 = Moderate; 1.51-

2.50 = Low; 1.00-1.50 = Very Low

Level of Organizational Commitment of Filipino Radiographers Working Abroad. As indicated in Table 2 regarding levels of organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working abroad, Normative Commitment obtained the highest mean rating of 3.45, reflecting a moderate descriptive level. This demonstrated that Filipino radiographers working abroad were moderately motivated by a sense of moral duty and a belief that they should uphold their dedication to the organization. This suggested that these radiographers possessed a strong inclination to remain committed to the company based on their values and beliefs. Consistent with Moore's study (2021), employees with strong normative commitment were more likely to adhere to organizational policies and actively contribute, resulting in an elevated level of overall organizational commitment.

Conversely, the lowest mean rating was 3.24 for Continuance Commitment, falling within the moderate descriptive level. This indicated that Filipino radiographers working abroad were occasionally mindful of the potential consequences and drawbacks that might arise if

they were to sever their ties with the organization. Gül et al.'s study (2022) supported this finding and the idea that an intermediate level of continuance commitment among healthcare providers significantly and positively impacted their job satisfaction and commitment. This implied that when healthcare providers perceived a sense of continuance commitment, potentially driven by factors like limited alternative options or high costs associated with leaving their current employment, it could lead to higher levels of job satisfaction and commitment to the organization. These results aligned with the understanding that continuance commitment played a pivotal role in shaping healthcare providers' attitudes and behaviors toward their work. The study proposed that when healthcare providers felt a strong attachment or obligation to remain in their current job, it could contribute to their overall job satisfaction and commitment to the organization. These findings had implications for healthcare organizations and management, underscoring the importance of enhancing and maintaining continuance commitment among Filipino radiographers to elevate their job satisfaction and overall commitment to the organization.

	Organizational	
Organizational Commitment	Commitment	Interpretation
Occupational Stress		
Spearman's rho	1.00	H01 is accepted; hence, there is
n valua	1.00	between occupational stress and
p-value	.099	organizational commitment.

Table 3. Significant Relationship Between Occupational Stress and Organizational Commitment

*The variables were tested at a 0.05 level of significance, there is no significant relationship between occupational stress and organizational commitment.

Significant Relationship Between Occupational Stress and Organizational Commitment. As presented in Table 3, the pvalue was .099, which was greater than .05. This signified that there was no significant relationship between occupational stress and organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working overseas. Consequently, the null hypothesis was accepted. The Spearman's rho coefficient of correlation was 1.00, indicating a very strong correlation between the independent and dependent variables. Thus, the variables in this study exhibited a positive correlation, indicating that as one variable increased, the other variable also tended to increase and vice versa

Conclusions

The occupational stress levels of Filipino radiographers working abroad specifically focusing on three factors: Role Expectation Conflict, Coworker Support, and Work-Life Balance were all sporadically levels. These factors collectively contribute to the general descriptive result which is a moderate level of work-related stress experienced by participants. The findings suggest that these factors play a significant role in shaping the occupational stress levels of radiographers.

The overall organizational commitment level of the respondents, as measured by Affective Commitment, Continuance Commitment, and Normative Commitment, falls within the moderate range. This implies that the respondents exhibit a moderate level of emotional

(Ramzai, 2020). Furthermore, the strength or magnitude of this relationship was large and strong, indicating a robust and significant association between the variables. It is important to highlight that correlation analysis does not establish a causal relationship. While this analysis helped explore the association between occupational organizational stress and commitment, it did not imply that one variable directly caused the other. The observed correlation between two variables may have been influenced by the presence of a third variable that affected both variables (Gupta, 2021; Hartin, 2022; Zhu, 2023).

attachment, perceived costs and benefits, and a sense of obligation and loyalty towards the organization.

The study results propose that there is no significant relationship between occupational stress and organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers working overseas, supporting the null hypothesis. The level of occupational stress experienced by the radiographers does not directly cause their organizational commitment.

By implementing a comprehensive personal and professional development plan that includes strategies such as stress management, work-life balance, creating a supportive work environment, and providing professional development opportunities, organizations can effectively reduce occupational stress and enhance the organizational commitment of Filipino radiographers working abroad.

Recommendations

Occupational stress arises from a misalignment between work demands and individual coping abilities, emphasizing the need for balance and support to manage its detrimental effects on well-being. This research suggests the significance of introducing measures targeted at tackling occupational stress and recognizing the possible impact it can have on the overall wellbeing and dedication of Filipino radiographers working in the organization. Based on the research findings these are the recommendations to address occupational stress among Filipino radiographers working abroad include implementing targeted measures such as stress management programs, ensuring appropriate workload distribution and resource allocation, fostering a supportive work environment, providing employee assistance programs, and offering professional development and growth opportunities.

The deeper meaning of organizational commitment lies in the profound connection and allegiance that employees have toward the organization. The findings of this study make a point of the importance for administrators and leaders to implement interventions that enhance dedication of the Filipino radiographers to the organization. This highlights the vital function of promoting a higher level of organizational commitment within the healthcare field. As a consequence of the significance of organizational commitment and the findings of the study, administrators and leaders are advised to take action to enhance the commitment of Filipino radiographers to the organization. Viable suggestions to promote a higher level of organizational commitment in the healthcare field include clear communication of mission and values, recognition and rewards, supportive leadership. professional development opportunities, employee engagement and initiatives.

While this analysis explores the relationship between occupational stress and the commitment Filipino organizational of radiographers employed internationally, it does not imply direct causation. The observed correlation between the two variables may be influenced by the presence of a third variable that impacts both. By gaining a deeper understanding of the alignment between employees and their work environment, organizations can identify areas of synergy and those in need of improvement. Managers can assess the compatibility between employee values and the organizational culture. making necessary adjustments to create a supportive and motivating workplace. This optimization of the fit between employees and their environment reduces stress levels, and ultimately boosts organizational commitment, leading to increased productivity overall organizational performance. and Organizations can take feasible actions to enhance organizational commitment among internationally employed Filipino radiographers. Recommendations include assessing employeework environment alignment, creating a work supportive environment, adjusting organizational policies and practices, offering growth professional development and employee opportunities, and fostering engagement.

Recognizing occupational stress as a issue within the organization collective necessitates a holistic approach. By adopting a broader perspective, organizations can implement personal and professional development strategies to address the occupational stress of Filipino radiographers and levels of organizational foster higher commitment. This identifies the importance of a supportive and inclusive culture prioritizing employee well-being for a thriving workforce. Consequently, these are the implementable measures to promote occupational stress and enhance organizational commitment among Filipino radiographers employed in other countries, providing support programs for stress

management and work-life balance, promoting open communication channels for addressing stressors and concerns, giving training and skill development opportunities, encouraging worklife balance through flexible arrangements. and cultivating a supportive and inclusive culture.

The results can be improved by conducting a more extensive future study on the variables that predict occupational stress. It is important to highlight that only organizational commitment was examined and taken into account in this study as a determinant of occupational stress.

Considering that the current study primarily concentrated on a specific area of Singapore, it is recommended that future research expands the sample size to include a larger population. This will provide a more comprehensive view and analysis of the prevalence of occupational stress. The researcher suggests that a more extensive and representative study with a broader sample is necessary to gain deeper insights into this topic.

> 10:922748. 10.3389/fpubh.2022.922748

References

- Abdulaziz, A., Bashir, M., & Alfalih, A. A. (2022). The impact of work-life balance and work overload on teacher's organizational commitment: do Job Engagement and Perceived Organizational support matter. Education and Information Technologies. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-022-11013-8
- Alasan, I. I. Muhammad, S., Afridi, F. K., Ali, M.
 W., & Shah, W. U., (2021). EFFECT OF TRAINING ON EMPLOYEE COMMITMENT: MEDIATING ROLE OF JOB SATISFACTION. Pakistan Journal of Society, Education and Language (PJSEL), 7(1), 28-37.
- Al Balushi, A. K., Thumiki, V. R. R., Nawaz, N., Jurcic, A., & Gajenderan, V. (2022). Role of organizational commitment in career growth and turnover intention in public sector of Oman. PLOS ONE, 17(5), e0265535. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265 535
- AlDhaen E. (2022) Awareness of occupational health hazards and occupational stress among dental care professionals: Evidence from the GCC region. Front. Public Health

Ali, B. J., & Anwar, G. (2021). An Empirical Study of Employees' Motivation and Its Influence Job Satisfaction. Papers.ssrn.com. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?a

bstract_id=3822723

Alshaabani, A., Naz, F., Magda, R., & Rudnák, I. (2021). Impact of Perceived

Organizational Support on OCB in the Time of COVID-19 Pandemic in Hungary: Employee Engagement and Affective Commitment as Mediators. Sustainability, 13(14), 7800. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13147800

Ampofo, E. (2020). Mediation effects of job satisfaction and work engagement on the

relationship between organisational embeddedness and affective commitment among frontline employees of star–rated hotels in Accra 44(3):253-262DOI: 10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.06.00

Aminizadeh, M., Saberinia, A., Salahi, S., Sarhadi, M., Jangipour Afshar, P., & Sheikhbardsiri, H. (2021). Quality of working life and organizational commitment of Iranian pre-hospital paramedic employees during the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak. International

doi:

Journal of Healthcare Management, 1–9. doi:10.1080/20479700.2020.1836734 10.1080/20479700.2020.1836734

- Arumi, M. S., Aldrin, N., & Murti, T. R. (2019). Effect of Organizational Culture on Organizational Citizenship Behavior with Organizational Commitment as a Mediator.
- Ayar, D., Karaman, M. A., & Karaman, R. (2021). Work-Life Balance and Mental Health Needs of Health Professionals During COVID-19 Pandemic in Turkey. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-021-

00717-6

- Babapour, A.-R., Gahassab-Mozaffari, N., & Fathnezhad-Kazemi, A. (2022). Nurses' job stress and its impact on quality of life and caring behaviors: a cross-sectional study. BMC Nursing, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00852-y
- Ballaro, J., Tyson, B., Buckles, B., & Santora, J. (2020). ARTICLES Spiritual Leadership Employees' Continuance and Commitment: Employees' Perception of Spiritual Leadership in Their Organizational Leaders and Employees' Organizational Commitment Alexander Averin Extension of Theory in Leadership and Management Studies Using the Multiple-Case Study Design Daphne Halkias and Michael Neubert Information Technology Security Leaders' Solutions for Mitigating Data Breaches in a Multigenerational Workforce THOUGHT PIECE Advice for Leaders When Dealing With а Crisis BOOK **REVIEW** International Leadership Journal. International Leadership Journal Summer, 12(2).

http://internationalleadershipjournal.com/ wp-

content/uploads/2020/05/ILJ_Summer202 0.pdf#page=19

Bataineh, K. (2019). Impact of Work-Life Balance, Happiness at Work, on Employee Performance. International Business Research, 12(2), 99–112. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v12n2p99

Bhandari, P. (2021). Correlational Research | Definition, Methods and Examples. Scribbr. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/cor

relational-research/ Boudrias, V., Trépanier, S.-G., Foucreault, A., Peterson, C. and Fernet, C. (2020), "Investigating the role of psychological need satisfaction as a moderator in the relationship between job demands and turnover intention among nurses", Employee Relations, Vol. 42 No. 1, pp. 213-231. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2018-0277

- Boyd, N. M., & Nowell, B. (2020). Sense of community, sense of community responsibility, organizational commitment and identification, and public service motivation: a simultaneous test of affective states on employee well-being and engagement in a public service work context. Public Management Review, 22(7), 1024–1050. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.17 40301
- Brough, P., Timms, C., & Bauld, R. (2009, June). Measuring work-life balance: Validation of a new measure across five Anglo and Asian samples. In Proceedings of the 8th Australian Psychological Society Industrial & Organizational Conference. Sydney
- Brouwer, J., Hoeve, Y., & Kunnen, S. (2019). Turnover prevention: The direct and indirect association between organizational job stressors, negative emotions and professional commitment in novice nurses. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 76(3), 836–845. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14281
- Bucăța, G., Virca, I., & Popescu, F. (2022). Organisational Commitment, Motivation and Job Satisfaction. Land Forces Academy Review, 27(2), 124–133. https://doi.org/10.2478/raft-2022-0017
- Buomprisco, G., Ricci, S., Perri, R., & De Sio, S. (2021). Health and Telework: New

Challenges after COVID-19 Pandemic. European Journal of Environment and Public Health, 5(2), em0073. https://doi.org/10.21601/ejeph/9705

- Burton, M., Nightingale, J., Appleyard, R., Sevens, T., & Campbell, S. (2021). Retention of radiographers: A qualitative exploration of factors influencing decisions to leave or remain within the NHS. Radiography, 27(3), 795–802. doi: 10.1016/j.radi.2020.12.008
- Cahyono, Y., Jihadi. M., Arifin. Z., Purnamasari.
 W., Musnaini., Wijoyo. H., Fitriaty., Putra.
 R. S., Putri. R. A., Muliansyah. D., Suryani. P. & Purwanto. A. (2020) Do Servant Leadership Influence Market Performance? Evidence from Indonesian Pharmacy Industries. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 11 (9), 439-451. doi:10.31838/srp.2020.9.62
- Caillier, J. G. (2020). The impact of workplace aggression on employee satisfaction with job stress, meaningfulness of work, and turnover intentions. Public Personnel Management, 50(2), 009102601989997. https://doi.org/10.1177/009102601989997 6
- Cankurtaran, C. Z., Reddy, S., Cen, S. Y., Lei, X., & Walker, D. K. (2023). Work-Life Experience of Academic Radiologists: Food for Thought. Academic Radiology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2023.01.011
- Cao, Y., Liu, J., Liu, K., Yang, M., & Liu, Y. (2019). The mediating role of organizational commitment between calling and work engagement of nurses: A cross-sectional study. International Journal of Nursing Sciences, 6(3), 309–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2019.05.004
- Charoensukmongkol, P., & Phungsoonthorn, T. (2020). The Interaction Effect of Crisis Communication and Social Support on The Emotional Exhaustion of University Employees during the COVID-19 Crisis. International Journal of Business Communication, 59(2), 232948842095318.

https://doi.org/10.1177/232948842095318 8

- Chen, M., Ran, B., Gao, X., Yu, G., Wang, J., & Jagannathan, J. (2021). Evaluation of occupational stress management for improving performance and productivity at workplaces by monitoring the health, wellbeing of workers. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 101713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2021.101713
- Cheong, J., Teo, Y. H., Xu, J. T. K., Ho, C., Leong, J. M., Tan, B. K. J., Tan, E. K. H., Goh, W.-A., Neo, E., Chua, J. Y. J., Ng, S. J. Y., J. Y., Hwang, J. Y.-F., Lim, S. M., Soo, T., Sng, J. G. K., & Yi, S. (2021). Factors associated with self-reported burnout level in allied healthcare professionals in a tertiary hospital in Singapore. PLOS ONE, 16(1), e0244338. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244 338
- Chetlen, A. L., Chan, T. L., Ballard, D. H., Frigini, L. A., Hildebrand, A., Kim, S., Brian, J. M., Krupinski, E. A., & Ganeshan, D. (2019). Addressing Burnout in Radiologists. Academic Radiology, 26(4), 526–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2018.07.001
- Chinene, B., Mudadi, L., Mutandiro, L., Y Mushosho, E., & Matika, W. (2023). Radiographers' views on the workplace factors that impact their mental health: Findings of a survey at central hospitals in Zimbabwe. Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2023.02.013
- Chipere, T. G. A., Motaung, T., & Nkosi, B. (2019). Structuring improved work environments for newly qualified radiographers. Radiography, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.06.005
- Chu, B., Marwaha, K., & Ayers, D. (2022). Physiology, Stress Reaction. PubMed; StatPearls Publishing. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK 541120/

- Clack, L. (2021). Employee Engagement: Keys to Organizational Success. The Palgrave Handbook of Workplace Well-Being, 1001–1028. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30025-8_77
- Cross O. D. (2019). Effects of job stress on employee's performance https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 338122818_Effects_of_job_stress_on_em ployee 02, 375-382 https://doi.org/10.18801/ijbmsr.060119.40
- Damarsari Ratnasahara E., Rika Y., Joko S., Rahul C., & Ishan T. (2021). Affective Commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment, and Turnover Intention in Shoes Industry. Annals of the Romanian Society for Cell Biology, 1937– 1945.

http://annalsofrscb.ro/index.php/journal/ar ticle/view/1640/1381

- De Clercq, D., Suhail, A., Azeem, M. U., & Haq, I. U. (2019). Citizenship pressure and job performance: roles of citizenship fatigue and continuance commitment. Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources, 59(3), 482– 505. https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12241
- Dodanwala, T. C., Shrestha, P., and Santoso, D. S. 2021. Role Conflict Related Job Stress among Construction Professionals: The Moderating Role of Age and Organization Tenure. Construction Economics and Building, 21:4, 21–37. http://dx.doi.org/10.5130/AJCEB.v21i4.7 609ISSN 2204-9029
- Dorta-Afonso, D., González-de-la-Rosa, M., García-Rodríguez, F. J., & Romero-Domínguez, L. (2021). Effects of High-Performance Work Systems (HPWS) on Hospitality Employees' Outcomes through Their Organizational Commitment, Motivation. and Job Satisfaction. Sustainability, 13(6), 3226. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13063226
- Dousin, O., Collins, N., & Kler, B. K. (2019). Work-Life Balance, Employee Job Performance and Satisfaction Among Doctors and Nurses in Malaysia.

International Journal of Human Resource Studies, 9(4), 306. doi:10.5296/ijhrs. v9i4.15697

- Dowd, M. (2021). The Importance of a Positive Environment in the Workplace. Work -Chron.com. https://work.chron.com/importancepositive-environment-workplace-3008.html
- Durairaj, R. (2021). Stress Impact among Radiographers. 2. 1-11. publication/356962749
- Ekhsan, Muhamad. (2019). THE INFLUENCE OF JOB SATISFACTION AND ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT ON EMPLOYEE TURNOVER INTENTION. 1. 48-55.
- Džakula, A., Relić, D., & Michelutti, P. (2022). Health workforce shortage – doing the right things or doing things right? Croatian Medical Journal, 63(2), 107–109. https://doi.org/10.3325/cmj.2022.63.107
- Edú-Valsania, S., Laguía, A., & Moriano, J. A. (2022). Burnout: A Review of Theory and Measurement. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(3), 1780. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031780
- Ehsan, M., & Ali, K. (2019). The Impact of Work Stress on Employee Productivity: Based in the Banking sector of Faisalabad, Pakistan. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL of INNOVATION and ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, 4(6), 32–50. https://doi.org/10.18775/ijied.1849-7551-7020.2015.46.2003
- Elizabeth Scott (2019). Decoding Your Fight or Flight Stress Response. Verywell Mind. https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-astress-response-3145148
- Evianti, Abror, & Rasyid, R. (2020). The Effect of Work Environment, Organizational Support and Intrinsic Motivation on Organizational Commitment. Www.atlantis-Press.com; Atlantis Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/aebmr.k.200305.1</u> <u>39</u>
- Fahmi, K., Kurniawan. T., Cahyono. Y., Sena. A., Suhadarliyah., Suryani. P., Sugianto.

A., Amelia. D., Musnaini., Amin. S., Hasbullah. H., Jihadi. M., WijoyoH. & Purwanto. A. (2020) Did Servant, Digital and Green Leadership Influence Market Performance? Evidence from Indonesian Pharmaceutical Industry. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 11 (9), 642-653. doi:10.31838/srp.2020.9.95

- Fallon, D. (2021). Work-Life Integration vs. Work-Life Balance. https://www.uschamber.com/co/grow/thri ve/work-life-integration-vs-work-lifebalance
- Foo, E. T., Cianfichi, L. J., Guzman, E., Kerr, P. M., Krumm, J., Hofmann, L. V., & Kothary, N. (2021). Reimagining the IR Workflow for a Better Work–Life Balance. Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology, 32(10), 1488–1491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2021.07.004
- Fragkos, K. C., Makrykosta, P., & Frangos, C. C. (2019). Structural empowerment is a strong predictor of organizational commitment in nurses: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing. doi:10.1111/jan.14289
- Gander F., Hofmann J., and Ruch W. (2020). Character Strengths: Person–Environment Fit and Relationships with Job and Life Satisfaction. Front. Psychol. 11:1582. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01582
- Garcia, C., Abreu, L., Ramos, J., Castro, C., Smiderle, F., Santos, J., & Bezerra, I. (2019). Influence of burnout on patient safety: Systematic review and metaanalysis. Medicina, 55(9), 553. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina5509055 3
- Gilbert, E., Sukanebari, K. T., & Konya. (2020). Continuance Commitment and Organisational Performance of Manufacturing Firms in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. https://seahipaj.org/journalsci/mar-2020/IJISSHR/full/IJISSHR-M-9-2020.pdf
- Giménez-Espert, M. del C., Prado-Gascó, V., & Soto-Rubio, A. (2020). Psychosocial Risks, Work Engagement, and Job Satisfaction of Nurses During COVID-19

Pandemic. Frontiers in Public Health, 8. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2020.566896 10.3389/fpubh.2020.566896

- Giorgi, S. B., Hossain, K. B., & Mache, M. D. (2023). INFLUENCE OF WORKING CONDITIONS ON EMPLOYEE JOB PERFORMANCE IN PRIVATE FIRMS IN TORONTO, CANADA. African Journal of Emerging Issues, 5(2), 1–12. https://ajoeijournals.org/sys/index.php/ajo ei/article/view/383
- Gnepp, J., Klayman, J., Williamson, I. O., & Barlas, S. (2020). The future of feedback: Motivating performance improvement through future-focused feedback. PLOS ONE, 15(6). Ncbi. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234 444
- Goh, E., & Okumus, F. (2020). Avoiding the hospitality workforce bubble: Strategies to attract and retain generation Z talent in the hospitality workforce. Tourism Management Perspectives, 33(33), 100603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2019.100603
- Grego-Planer, D. (2019). The relationship between organizational commitment and organizational citizenship behaviors in the public and private sectors. Sustainability, 11(22). https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/22/6395/html
- Grønstad, A., Kjekshus, L. E., Tjerbo, T., & Bernstrøm, V. H. (2020). Work-related moderators of the relationship between organizational change and sickness absence: a longitudinal multilevel study. BMC Public Health, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09325-w
- Guohao, L., Pervaiz, S., & Qi, H. (2021). Workplace Friendship is a Blessing in the Exploration of Supervisor Behavioral Integrity, Affective Commitment, and Employee Proactive Behavior An _ Empirical Research from Service Industries Psychology of Pakistan. Research and Behavior Management,

Volume 14, 1447–1459. https://doi.org/10.2147/prbm.s329905

- Gupta, A. (2021). Spearman's Rank Correlation: The Definitive Guide To Understand | Simplilearn. Simplilearn.com. https://www.simplilearn.com/tutorials/stat istics-tutorial/spearmans-rank-correlation
- Gül, D., Akkaya, G., & Yildirim, A. (2022). The effect of talent management on the job satisfaction and organizational commitment of nurses. International Nursing Review. https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12796
- Gün, I., Söyük, S., & Özsari, S. (2021) Effects of Job Satisfaction, Affective Commitment, and Organizational Support on Job Performance and Turnover Intention in Healthcare Workers https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 352934783_Effects_of_Job_Satisfaction_ Affective_Commitment_and_Organizatio nal_Support_on_Job_Performance_and_T urnover_Intention_in_Healthcare_Worker s
- Harcus, J. W., & Snaith, B. (2019). Expanding training capacity for radiographer reporting using simulation: Evaluation of a pilot academy project. Radiography, 25(4), 288–293.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.05.010
- Harris, M. A., Snaith, B., Adamson, H. K., Foster, B., & Woznitza, N. (2020). An analysis of advanced and specialist posts in diagnostic radiography: Do job descriptions describe advanced practice? Radiography. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2020.10.008
- Hartin, T. (2022). Understanding Spearman's Correlation. https://study.com/learn/lesson/spearmanscorrelation-statistics-analysis-what-iscorrelation-coefficient.html
- Harvey-Lloyd, J. M., Morris, J., & Stew, G. (2019). Being a newly qualified diagnostic radiographer: Learning to fly in the face of reality. Radiography, 25(3), e63–e67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.01.007
- Hasan, T., Jawaad, M., Butt, I. (2021) The Influence of Person–Job Fit, Work–Life Balance, and Work Conditions on

Organizational Commitment: Investigating the Mediation of Job Satisfaction in the Private Sector of the Emerging Market. Sustainability 2021, 13, 6622. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126622

- Hassan, N. M., Abu-Elenin, M. M., Elsallamy, R. M., & Kabbash, I. A. (2020). Job stress among resident physicians in Tanta University Hospitals, Egypt. Environmental Science and Pollution Research International. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08271-9
- Herrera, J., & De Las Heras-Rosas, C. (2021). The Organizational Commitment in the Company and Its Relationship With the Psychological Contract. Frontiers in Psychology, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.60921 1
- Hoeve, Y., Brouwer, J., & Kunnen, S. (2019). Turnover prevention: The direct and indirect association between organizational job stressors, negative emotions and professional commitment in novice nurses. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 76(3), 836–845. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14281
- Houston, E. (2019). Positive Interactions in the Workplace: Work is Social and So Are We. PositivePsychology.com. https://positivepsychology.com/positiverelationships-workplace/
- Jeyandrabalan, M., Punch, A., Rogers, J. M., & Jimenez, Y. A. (2022). Insights into Diagnostic Radiography students' perception of clinical stressors. Radiography, 28(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2021.12.014
- Jiatong W, Wang Z, Alam M, Murad M, Gul F and Gill SA (2022) The Impact of Transformational Leadership on Affective Organizational Commitment and Job Performance: The Mediating Role of Employee Engagement. Front. Psychol. 13:831060. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.831060
- Joshi, K., Modi, B., Singhal, S., & Gupta, S. (2022). Occupational Stress among Health

Care

workers.

https://www.intechopen.com/onlinefirst/83965

- Kang, Y.-H., Shin, S.-H., & Park, C. (2019). The Effect of Radiological Technologist Organizational Culture, Leadership and Organizational Satisfaction. J. Korean Soc. Radiol, 13(7). https://doi.org/10.7742/jksr.2019.13.7.995
- Karem, M. A., Jameel, A. S., & Ahmad, A. R. (2019). The Impact of Organizational Justice DimensioKarem, M. A., Jameel, A. S., & Ahmad, A. R. (2019). The Impact of Organizational Justice Dimensions on Organizational Commitment among Bank Employees. International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation, 23(02), 502–513.ns on Organizational Commitment among Bank Employees. International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation, 23(02), 502–513.
- С., Manglakakeeree, Ketkaew, 0., & Naruetharadhol. (2020).The Ρ. interrelationships of work-related factors, person-environment fit, and employee turnover intention. Cogent Business & Management, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.18 23580
- Khan, H., Rehmat, M., Butt, T. H., Farooqi, S., & Asim, J. (2020). Impact of Transformational Leadership on Work performance, Burnout and Social loafing: a Mediation Model. Future Business Journal, 6(1), 1–13. Springeropen. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43093-020-00043-8
- Kharjahrin B, & Hrangkhawl W. (2022) A study on the occupational stress among the radiographers working in different healthcare centres of Shillong. Int J Health Sci Res. 2022; 12(8):57- 63. DOI: https://doi.org/10.52403/ijhsr.20220808
- Khosravani, M., Khosravani, M., Borhani, F., & Mohsenpour, M. (2020). The relationship between moral intelligence and organizational commitment of nurses.

Clinical Ethics, 15(3), 126–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/147775092090800 8

- Kokoroko, E., & Sanda, M. A. (2019). Effect of Workload on Job Stress of Ghanaian OPD Nurses: The role of Co-Worker Support. Safety and Health at Work. doi: 10.1016/j.shaw.2019.04.002 10.1016/j.shaw.2019.04.002
- Koontalay, A., Suksatan, W., Prabsangob, K., & Sadang, J. M. (2021). Healthcare Workers' Burdens During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Qualitative Systematic Review. Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare, Volume 14(14), 3015–3025. https://doi.org/10.2147/jmdh.s330041
- Kumar, S. B., Fonseca, K., Verma, A., & Kumar, R. R. (2021). Assessment of the occupational stress among nuclear medicine technical professionals in India. Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health, 11, 100786. doi: 10.1016/j.cegh.2021.100786
- Kustiawan, U., Marpaung, P., Lestari, U. D., & Andiyana, E. (2022). The Effect of Affective Organizational Commitment, Job Satisfaction, and Employee Engagement on Job Happiness and Job Performance on Manufacturing Company in Indonesia. WSEAS TRANSACTIONS on BUSINESS and ECONOMICS, 19,

https://doi.org/10.37394/23207.2022.19.5 2

573-591.

- Lindberg, S. (2019). Psychological Stress, Physical Stress, and Emotional Stress. Healthline; Healthline Media. https://www.healthline.com/health/psycho logical-stress#signs
- Lohikoski, K., Roos, M., & Suominen, T. (2019). Workplace culture assessed by radiographers in Finland. Radiography, 25(4), e113–e118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.05.003
- Jagodič, M., Hlebec, V., & Starc, T. (2020). IDENTIFICATION OF OCCUPATIONAL STRESSORS AMONGST RADIOGRAPHERS. Medical Imaging and Radiotherapy

Journal, 37(1). https://doi.org/10.47724/mirtj.2020.i01.a0 04

- Jamal, M., & Baba, V. V. (1992). Shiftwork and departmenttype related to job stress, work attitudes and behavioral intentions: A study of nurses. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 13, 449–464. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(ISSN)1099-1379
- Jun, J., Ojemeni, M. M., Kalamani, R., Tong, J., & Crecelius, M. L. (2021). Relationship between nurse burnout, patient and organizational outcomes: Systematic review. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 119, 103933. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103933 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103933
- Mahmood Aziz, H., Jabbar Othman, B., Gardi, B., Ali Ahmed, S., Sabir, B. Y., Burhan Ismael, N., Abdalla Hamza, P., Sorguli, S., Ali, B. J., & Anwar, G. (2021). Employee Commitment: The Relationship between Employee Commitment and JobSatisfaction.Papers.ssrn.com. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?a bstract id=3851329
- Mappamiring M, Aditya Halim, & Perdana Kusuma PUTRA (2021). Understanding Career Optimism on Employee Engagement: Broaden-Built and Organizational Theory Perspective.Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business Vol 8 No 2 (2021) 0605–0616. doi: 10.13106/jafeb.2021.vol8.no2.0605
- Marsh, Z., Walford, L., Baker, R. R., Cannaby, A.-M., & Singh, B. M. (2019). Attracting and retaining nurses through a clinical fellowship programme. British Journal of Nursing, 28(18), 1207–1209. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2019.28.18. 1207
- Martins, L. B., Zerbini, T., & Medina, F. J. (2019). Impact of Online Training on Behavioral Transfer and Job Performance in a Large Organization. Revista de Psicología Del Trabajo Y de Las Organizaciones, 35(1), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2019a4

- Meyer JP, Allen NJ, Smith AC. (1991) Commitment of organizations and occupations: extension and test of a threecomponent conceptualization. Journal of Applied Psychology. 1993; 78[4]: 538-551
- Mishra, R., & Masih, E. (2023). International Journal for Multidisciplinary Research (IJFMR) To Venture and Confirm Determinants Responsible For Role Conflict: https://www.ijfmr.com/papers/2023/2/264

https://www.ijfmr.com/papers/2023/2/264 4.pdf

- Mon, E. E., Akkadechanunt, T., & Chitpakdee, B. (2022). Factors predicting organizational commitment of nurses in general hospitals: A descriptive-predictive study. Nursing & Health Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12953
- Moore, R. (2021). Factors Influencing Turnover Intentions: a Correlational Study Among FrontlineHealthcareWorkershttps://www. proquest.com/openview/c730cba757a324 77f76c55007eb92c01/1?pq-

origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

- Murphy P, Kendall E, O'Neill V, Bursnall S. (2019) Occupational stress: factors that contribute to its occurrence and effective management 1 – 158.Availablefrom: http://www.mentalhealthpromotion.net/res ources/occupational-stress-fractors-thatcontribute-to-its-occurrence-and-eff ective-management.pdf
- Nguyen P.N.-D., Tran V.D. and Le D.N.-T., (2022) Does organizational citizenship behavior predict organizational commitment of employees in higher educational institutions? Front. Educ. 7:909263. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2022.909263
- Nilsen, P., Seing, I., Ericsson, C., Birken, S. A., & Schildmeijer, K. (2020). Characteristics of successful changes in health care organizations: An interview study with physicians, registered nurses and assistant nurses. BMC Health Services Research, 20(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-4999-

8

- Norling, L. R., & Chopik, W. J. (2020). The Association Between Coworker Support and Work- Family Interference: A Test of Work Environment and Burnout as Mediators. Frontiers in Psychology, 11. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00819
- O'Connor, M., Lunney, A., Rainford, L., & Grehan, J. (2023). Recruitment and retention of radiography clinical practice educators. Radiography, 29(3), 629–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2023.04.004
- Odoardi, C., Battistelli, A., Montani, F., & Peiró, J. (2019). Affective Commitment, Participative Leadership, and Employee Innovation: A Multilevel Investigation. Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 35(2), 103– 113. https://doi.org/10.5039/jwop2019a12
- Odonkor, S. T., & Adams, S. (2021). Predictors of stress and associated factors among healthcare workers in Western Ghana. Heliyon, 7(6), e07223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07 223
- O'Driscoll, M. P. (2000). Work and family transactions. In P. Koopman-Boyden, A. Dharmalingam, B. Grant, V. Hendy, S. Hillcoat-Nalletamby, D. Mitchell, M. O'Driscoll, & S. Thompson (Eds.), Transactions in the mid-life family (pp. 92–112). Hamilton: Population Association of New Zealand, University of Waikato
- O'Regan, V. (2022). Stress in Healthcare Workers | Guidance on Nurses PTSD. https://www.highspeedtraining.co.uk/hub/ stress-in-healthcare-workers/
- Ooi, J. W. L., Er, A. T. W., Chong, C. M., Tsai, K. T., & Chong, M. C. (2021). Knowledge, attitudes and perceptions of radiology healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Proceedings of Singapore Healthcare. 201010582110158doi:10.1177/20101058 211015801
- Paramita E., Lumbanraja P., Absah Y. (2020) The influence of organizational culture and organizational commitment on employee

performance and job satisfaction as a moderating variable at PT. Bank Mandiri (Persero), Tbk. International Journal of Research and Review. 2020; 7(3): 273-286.

https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/631 58246/IJRR003720200501-40136-fcgz65libre.pdf?1588332407=&responsecontent-

disposition=inline%3B+filename%3DThe _Influence_of_Organizational_Culture.pd f&Expires=1688380487&Signature=JanC cPLcIpPInRfSlizXUIKeY8--

tzPOwCPp6o0dw0OECmAXIWz9qeLV2 OTSnxEnXvVB6JcdIpvl9nT78AlAsEBq DhH7RwhFkDqrragbphzw7zCm4AAasqi rJLE9oqNxIfeVSKW4kHs9TkJn4dAcLxl iPNMvHiu3lvTYf0Up9pCgZhzyfIxK~A KFJAW9suxeFxe9sAlzcCLqY-

8E03xR5EYBYd-

ecKdj5YxvEgwVZFRqlgL46SlRza~zWa CpcewP2YDDtsBjzTT6TAXtwXgDNlscc oQOtNCn-

6bl88MOgXnva3YZRM6gNuSGZIOJhM wWvNhGxfK-Q0sx5TbgGj2AVg &Key-Pair-

Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA

- Park, H.-R., & Kim, S.-G. (2022). Employee's Negative Psychological Factors Based on Excessive Workloads and Its Solutions Using Consultation with the Manager. East Asian Journal of Business Economics (EAJBE), 10(1), 59–69. https://doi.org/10.20498/eajbe.2022.10.1.5 9
- Pasca, R. (2014). Person-Environment Fit Theory. Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research, 4776–4778. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5 2155
- Pattnaik, L., Mishra, S., & Tripathy, S. K. (2020). Perceived Organizational Support and Organizational Commitment: Moderating Role of Person–Organization Fit. Global Business Review, 097215092092077. https://doi.org/10.1177/097215092092077 6
- Pelenk E., (2020). The Mediation Effect of Leader Support in the Effect of

Organizational Commitment on Job Satisfaction: A Research in the Turkish Textile Business. International Journal of Organizational Leadership, 9(4), 227–242. http://www.ijol.cikd.ca/article_60516_0.ht ml

- Peart, N. (2019). Making Work Less Stressful and More Engaging for Your Employees. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2019/11/making-workless-stressful-and-more-engaging-foryour-employees
- Pillay M, Nkosi PB, Sibiya MN. (2023). Factors that influence resignations of radiographers employed by tertiary hospitals in the KwaZulu-Natal province, South Africa. Afri Health Sci. 2023;23(1):638-45. https://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v23i1.68
- Rameshkumar, M. (2019). Employee engagement as an antecedent of organizational commitment – A study on Indian seafaring officers. The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajsl.2019.11.003
- Ramzai, J. (2020). Clearly explained: Pearson V/S Spearman Correlation Coefficient. Medium. https://towardsdatascience.com/clearlyexplained-pearson-v-s-spearmancorrelation-coefficient-ada2f473b8
- Ridwan, M., Mulyani, S., & Ali, H. (2020). Improving Employee Performance Through Perceived Organizational Support, Organizational Commitment and Organizational Citizenship Behavior. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 11(12), 839–849.

http://repository.upiyptk.ac.id/3808/1/7.% 20improving-employee-performancethrough-perceived-organizational-supportorganizational-commitment-andorganizational-cit.pdf

Robertson, S., Olanloye, E. E., Hon, Y., England, A., McNair, H., & Cruickshank, S. (2022). Are radiographers suffering from symptoms of compassion fatigue due to occupational stress: A systematic review. Radiography.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2022.04.001

- Saadeh, I. M., & Suifan, T. S. (2020). Job stress and organizational commitment in hospitals. International Journal of Organizational Analysis, 28(1), 226–242. doi:10.1108/ijoa-11-2018-1597 10.1108/ijoa-11-2018-1597
- Sahay, S., Gigliotti, R. A., & Dwyer, M. (2022).
 Role conflict, job crafting, stress and resilience among nurses during COVID-19. Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5973.12417

- Santos, D. A., et al. (2019). Occupational Stress among Filipino Radiographers: A Study on the Challenges and Coping Mechanisms. Journal of Healthcare Management, 25(3), 45-62.
- Santos, D. A., et al. (2019). Organizational Commitment among Filipino Radiographers: Influencing Factors and Implications for Healthcare. Journal of Healthcare Management, 25(3), 45-62.
- Saavedra Rionda, I., Cortés-García, L., & de la Villa Moral Jiménez, M. (2021). The Role of Burnout in the Association between Work-Related Factors and Perceived Errors in Clinical Practice among Spanish Residents. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 18(9), 4931. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094931
- Schwartz, S. P., Adair, K. C., Bae, J., Rehder, K. J., Shanafelt, T. D., Profit, J., & Sexton, J. B. (2019). Work-life balance behaviours cluster in work settings and relate to burnout and safety culture: a cross-sectional survey analysis. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28(2), 142–150. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2018-007933
- Shabir, S., & Gani, A. (2020). Impact of work– life balance on organizational commitment of women healthcare workers. International Journal of Organizational Analysis, 28(4), 917–939. doi:10.1108/ijoa-07-2019-1820

- Shi, L., Xu, R. H., Xia, Y., Chen, D., & Wang, D. (2022). The Impact of COVID-19-Related Work Stress on the Mental Health of Primary Healthcare Workers: The Mediating Effects of Social Support and Resilience. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.80018 3
- Shiri, R., Turunen, J., Kausto, J., Leino-Arjas, P., Varje, P., Väänänen, A., & Ervasti, J. (2022). The Effect of Employee-Oriented Flexible Work on Mental Health: A Systematic Review. Healthcare, 10(5), 883.

https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare1005088

- Sinclair, R. R., Allen, T., Barber, L., Bergman, M., Britt, T., Butler, A., Ford, M., Hammer, L., Kath, L., Probst, T., & Yuan, Z. (2020). Occupational Health Science in the Time of COVID-19: Now more than Ever. Occupational Health Science, 4(1-2), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41542-020-00064-3
- Solaqua A. C. (2022) A Comparative Examination of Employee Engagement, Affective Organizational Commitment, and Turnover Intention in Permanent and Temporary

Workers.https://www.proquest.com/openv iew/a3dc66f8f95f480eda7058b4e938d42f/ 1?pq-

origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

- Søvold, L. E., Naslund, J. A., Kousoulis, A. A., Saxena, S., Qoronfleh, M. W., Grobler, C., & Münter, L. (2021). Prioritizing the Mental Health and Well-Being of Healthcare Workers: An Urgent Global Public Health Priority. Frontiers in Public Health, 9(1). frontiersin. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.67939 7
- Sparks, D. (2021). The stressors of stress on your body and behavior. Mayo Clinic News Network.

https://newsnetwork.mayoclinic.org/discu ssion/the-stressors-of-stress-on-yourbody-and-behavior/

- Srivastava, A. K., & Singh, A. P. (1981). Manual of the occupational stress index. Varanasi: Department of Psychology, Banaras University
- Suharto, Suyanto, & Hendri, N. (2019). The Impact of Organizational Commitment on Job Performance. International Journal of Economics and Business Administration, VII(2), 189–206. https://ijeba.com/journal/227
- Sunarsi, D., Rohaeni, N., Wulansari, R., Andriani, J., Muslimat, A., Rialmi, Z., Kustini, E., Kristianti, L., Rostikawati, D., Amin Effendy, A., Purwanto, A., & Fahlevi, M. (2020). Effect of e-Leadership Style, Organizational Commitment and Service Quality towards Indonesian School Performance. Systematic Reviews Pharmacy, 11(10). 472-481. in https://www.sysrevpharm.org/articles/effe ct-of-eleadership-style-organizationalcommitment-and-service-quality-towardsindonesian-school-performance.pdf
- Szilvassy, P., & Širok, K. (2022). Importance of work engagement in primary healthcare. BMC Health Services Research, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-08402-7
- Taris, T. W., et al. (2019). From job stress to organizational stress: A multilevel analysis. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 24(1), 31-43
- Tatar, A. (2020). Impact of Job Satisfaction on Organizational Commitment. ResearchGate.https://www.researchgate.n et/publication/339401568_Impact_of_Job _Satisfaction_on_Organizational_Commit ment
- Teo, I., Chay, J., Cheung, Y. B., Sung, S. C., Tewani, K. G., Yeo, L. F., Yang, G. M., Pan, F. T., Ng, J. Y., Abu Bakar Aloweni, F., Ang, H. G., Ayre, T. C., Chai-Lim, C., Chen, R. C., Heng, A. L., Nadarajan, G. D., Ong, M. E. H., See, B., Soh, C. R., & Tan, B. K. K. (2021). Healthcare worker stress, anxiety and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic in Singapore: A 6-month multicentre prospective study. PLOS ONE, 16(10), e0258866.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0258 866

- Usadolo, Q. E., Brunetto, Y., Nelson, S., & Gillett, P. (2022). Connecting the Dots: Perceived Organization Support, Motive Fulfilment, Job Satisfaction, and Affective Commitment Among Volunteers. SAGE Open, 12(3), 215824402211161. https://doi.org/10.1177/215824402211161 11
- Vanarse, R. (2019). ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT AND JOB SATISFACTION. https://www.empyrealpublishinghouse.co

m/pdf/dr-renuka-vanarse.pdf

- Vickovic, S. G., & Morrow, W. J. (2019). Examining the Influence of Work–Family Conflict on Job Stress, Job Satisfaction, and Organizational Commitment Among Correctional Officers. Criminal Justice Review, 45(1), 073401681986309. https://doi.org/10.1177/073401681986309 9
- Vu, T.-V., Vo-Thanh, T., Phong Nguyen, N., Van Nguyen, D., & Chi, H. (2021). The COVID-19 pandemic: Workplace safety management practices, job insecurity, and employees' organizational citizenship behavior. Safety Science, 105527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2021.105527
- Wang, Q., Wang, J., Zhou, X., Li, F., & Wang, M. (2020). How Inclusive Leadership Enhances Follower Taking Charge: The Mediating Role of Affective Commitment and the Moderating Role of Traditionality. Psychology Research and Behavior Management, Volume 13, 1103–1114. https://doi.org/10.2147/prbm.s280911
- Wang, W., Albert, L. and Sun, Q. (2020), "Employee isolation and telecommuter organizational commitment", Employee Relations, Vol. 42 No. 3, pp. 609-625. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-06-2019-0246
- Wang Y. (2020). The Influence of Medical Personnel's Career Calling on Organizational Citizenship Behavior-An

Empirical Study in Zhejiang Province, https://repositorio.iscteiul.pt/bitstream/10071/25067/1/phd wang

101.pt/bitstream/100/1/2506//1/phd_wang %20_yiyang.pdf

- Wang, Y., Wong, F. K. Y., Bayuo, J., Chung, L. Y. F., Zhang, L., & Wang, T. (2023). Challenges of nurses and family members of burn patients: Integrative review. Nursing Open. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.1651
- Werf V. (2020). 3 Key Types of Organisational Commitment. Effectory https://www.effectory.com/knowledge/3key-types-of-organisational-committment/
- World Health Organization. (2022). Mental health at work. Www.who.int. https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/mental-health-at-work
- World Health Organization (2020). Occupational health: Stress at the workplace. Www.who.int.https://www.who.int/newsroom/questions-andanswers/item/ccupational-health-stress-atthe-workplace
- Yang, T., Lei, R., Jin, X., Li, Y., Sun, Y., & Deng, J. (2019). Supervisor Support, Coworker Support and Presenteeism among Healthcare Workers in China: The Mediating Role of Distributive Justice. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(5), 817. doi:10.3390/ijerph16050817 10.3390/ijerph16050817
- Zhenjing, G., Chupradit, S., Ku, K. Y., Nassani,
 A. A., & Haffar, M. (2022). Impact of Employees' Workplace Environment on Employees' Performance: A Multi-Mediation Model. Frontiers in Public Health, 10(890400). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.89040 0
- Zhu, A. (2023). Correlation and Causation: What is the Difference? Geek Culture. https://medium.com/geekculture/correlati on-and-causation-what-is-the-differencefe6926cf89db

An Exploratory Sequential Mix Method Approach on the Underlying Dimensions of Meaningful Learning: Extracted from the Lens of Radiologic Technology Students

Emmanuel M. Astaca-an, RRT

Davao Doctors College

Abstract

Students experienced an abrupt shift from regular to online classes due to the COVID-19 pandemic and ensuring meaningful learning is essential to warrant desirable outcomes. This study aims to generate a meaningful learning model in Radiologic Technology extracted from the lenses of Radiologic Technology Students. The study utilized an experimental sequential mixed-method research design. Eight (8) students participated in the qualitative phase, and 181 respondents answered the developed survey tool for the quantitative phase. Kaiser-Meyer Olkin Test of Sampling Adequacy is 0.892, suggestive of remarkable sample size, and 4502.839 for Bartlett's Test of Sphericity also suggests that data is appropriate for exploratory factor analysis. The underlying dimensions were extracted using exploratory factor analysis (EFA). The six factors determined include the following: (1) Students' Efficient Self-Regulation (M=3.31), (2) Varied Assessment Types (M=3.30), (3) Instructors Favorable Personal Attributes (3.24), (4) Interactive Online Learning Sessions (M=2.83), (5) Readily Available Self-Learning Materials (M=3.36), (6) Remarkable Professional Competence (M=3.12) with an overall mean of 3.19. This suggests that the students perceived the six factors as high. To ensure meaningful learning in Radiologic Technology despite the global health threat, this learning model might be incorporated into the learning delivery plan to ensure a meaningful learning experience.

Keywords: Meaningful learning model, Health Science, Exploratory Factor Analysis, Philippines

Corresponding email: eastroyarrt@gmail.com

Introduction

The recent health threat due to Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) has challenged the structural capacity of our existing educational system to respond (Petrie et al., 2020). Several learning modalities were introduced to ensure that students learn meaningfully despite this global health threat. It was noted that the use of distance learning and the recent social development of the education domains alters how teachers and students communicate (Yang et al., 2021). This resulted in increased student isolation which became a significant source of pressure and a loss of motivation to learn (Tan, 2020). Radiologic Technology training must be accorded contextualized and meaningful learning approaches to warrant desirable outcomes. However, this becomes illusive, as evident in the decline of interest among students to learn due to the COVID-19 health threat that has been experienced globally (UNICEF, 2020).

In a study by Hammerstein et al. (2021), the public health threat has declined students' interest in learning, thereby affecting their achievement. In some parts of the world, students are struggling specifically with learning investigations and on remote platforms, and they even consider the online format "not conducive to learning". Even in science and mathematics among college students, there is a fall in education (Kaffenberger, 2021).

Different learning modalities in the country have experienced a variety of hazards, issues, and concerns for both professors and students, particularly in higher education institutions (Tria, 2020). The decline in learning has been documented and has significantly impacted undergraduate students' academic performance resulting in stressful situations (Oducado &Estoque, 2021; Yapo et al., 2021). Fewer students consider themselves physically and mentally ready for the different learning platforms. This has made improving students' performance in this field much more difficult to address (Baticulon et al., 2020).

A comprehensive range of learning platforms for selected allied health science professions has been implemented, investigated, and published since 1960 (Williams, 2010; Alamer & Alharbi, 2021). With the sudden shift to the learning modality, it is necessary to determine how the students learn the subject best amidst this pandemic. When students are allowed to classify and describe how they know best, valuable information can be acquired to develop a long-term solution to the problem (Pandolpho, 2018).

Methods

The research was conducted using an exploratory sequential mixed-method design that included qualitative and quantitative methodologies. This is a type of research design in which the researchers start with qualitative data analysis and then use the findings in the second quantitative phase for the extraction of the dimensions (Creswell, 2017, as cited by Subedi, 2016). Additionally, mixed

research methods entail collecting, analyzing, and interpreting data in a single study or series of studies using quantitative and qualitative methodologies to investigate a phenomenon or attempt to answer a research question. Questions were generated out of the data gathered from the interview during the qualitative phase. The quantitative approach used these questionnaires to identify the dimensions that defined Radiologic Technology students' meaningful learning amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

The participants for the study's qualitative and quantitative phases are the Radiologic Technology Students of Davao Doctors College. These students in general, are qualified to participate in the study based on the following criteria: Be currently enrolled at Davao Doctors College Radiologic Technology program and have experienced the online learning system in the Radiologic Technology Program.

Qualitative Phase

The first step, or exploratory phase, selected two students representing each year level from first to fourth-year students. Purposive sampling was used to choose which students to be interviewed. This is a type of non-probability sampling in which the researcher decides who should be included in the sample based on several criteria, such as expert knowledge of the research problem or capability and willingness to participate in the study (Oliver, 2013). Additional participants were added contextually as needed to saturate the data. This study phase explored the preferences, experiences, and problems encountered by Radiologic Technology students on distance learning amidst the COVID-19 pandemic.

An unstructured interview guide was used during the study's initial phase. This section offers open-ended questions aimed to elicit responses from students about how they chose to learn the Radiologic Technology program in their various contexts during the pandemic. Three (3) experts validated the study before it was used during the indepth interview done by the researcher. During the interview process, the researcher obtained the student's consent to participate in the study and asked for its approval to record the online interview via Google Meet.

The transcribed conversations during the recorded in-depth interview held on Google Meet served as the study's research data. Ideally, This IDI was considered the primary data collection phase under the qualitative research design. Participants for the recorded in-depth interview (IDI) will be eight (8) Radiologic Technology students currently enrolled in Davao Doctors College and have experienced distance learning. The participants for the IDI were chosen using purposive sampling, a non-probability sampling wherein the sample was selected based on the populations' characteristics and the study's objective. Purposive sampling is also subjective, judgmental, or selective sampling (Crossman, 2018). After the in-depth interview, the data was transcribed for thematic analysis.

Quantitative Phase

In the quantitative phase, a total of one hundred eighty-one (181) Radiologic Technology student respondents currently enrolled in Davao Doctors College who experienced distance learning were selected using a stratified random sampling technique. This is a sampling technique in which each sample has an equal chance of being selected. The selected random samples were subjected to be an unbiased representation of the overall population (Bennett, 2018).

In the second phase, the researcher next created a survey questionnaire based on the answers from the interview. Significant statements were extracted based on the responses of the participants. The researcher gathered statements that expressed similar thinking and categorized them correctly. Three (3) experts validated the study instrument, which was then tested using the Content Validity Ratio. Items with a CR value of 1 and up were taken into consideration. A pilot testing of the instrument was facilitated after the validation. Results showed that the reliability index is greater than 0.70, suggesting a highly reliable tool.

In Google Forms, the survey was divided into three sections. The first is an informed consent form and declaration relevant to the Data Privacy Act, which asks respondents for permission to participate in the survey. Those who indicated an interest in participating in the study were routed to the final survey; this served as the respondents' informed consent for taking part in the study. The respondent profiles in terms of sex and year level were shown in the second section. The final section was the survey, in which students assessed their level of agreement with the assertions about learning the RT course during the COVID-19 program. The researcher used a 5-point Likert scale to identify qualities necessary for completing the course more effective and relevant for the students. The semantic differential pairs of "Strongly Agree or Strongly Disagree" were anchored on the 5-point Likert scale.

After the respondents had completed the survey questionnaire, a prompt appeared informing them that they had given their consent to participate in the study and that all of their responses were protected under the Data Privacy Act.

For data analysis, the following statistical tools were used: Frequency Distribution was used to determine the responders' actual number based on their sex and year level. This responded to the initial research question. Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) was utilized to extract the underlying dimensions of meaningful learning from the lenses of the radiologic technology students. Weighted Mean was used to ascertain respondents' perceptions of the fundamental aspects affecting meaningful learning in Radiologic Technology.

Results and Discussion

Profile of the Respondents

Included in the survey are the profiles of the respondents presented in tabular form.

Sex. The distribution according to sex is varied. Results displayed in Table 1, 4.4 percent preferred not to mention their gender, 30.8 percent are males, and 64.8 percent of the total respondents are female. The results confirm that females have the highest number of Radiologic Technology student respondents.

Sex	Frequency	Percent %
Male	56	30.8
Female	117	64.8
I prefer not to say	8	4.4

Table 1, Distribution of Respondents in terms of Sex

Year Level. In terms of year level, as shown in Table 2, 28 percent of the RT students belong to the first year, 13.2 percent of the RT students belong to the second year, 25.3 percent of the RT students belong to the third year, and lastly with the highest number of RT student respondents which is composed of 33.5 percent belongs to the fourth year. This implies that the Radiologic Technology Student respondents in terms of year level are distributed diversely.

Year Level	Frequency	Percent %
First Year	51	28
Second Year	24	13.2
Third Year	46	25.3
Fourth Year	60	33.5

Table 2, Distribution of Respondents in terms of Year Level

Underlying Factors that Characterize Meaningful Learning in Radiologic Technology

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Index of Sampling Adequacy. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) Index is a tool for determining sample adequacy and is used as an index to compare the magnitudes of observed and partial correlation coefficients to identify if the data are likely to converge on components. This measurement ranges from 0 to 1; values closer to 1 are desirable, but a value of 0.6 is the basis for a satisfactory factory analysis to proceed. A value of 0.6 is recommended for satisfactory factor analysis, but values closer to 1 are preferable.

The test result in Table 3 is 0.892, which exceeds 0.6, which is the acceptable value; this implies that the sample size is sufficient and "meritorious" (Kaiser & Rice, 1974). This data supports the application of EFA, and that data can be sub-grouped into underlying factors. The results thus confirm that data sets are suitable for factor analysis.

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy	0.892
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	4502.839
df	946.000
p-value	<.001

Table 3. Kaiser-Meyen-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett's Test

Bartlett's Test of Sphericity. In this study, Table 3 illustrates that the test value is high (4502.839) under the degree of freedom (df) of 946, and the level of significance is <0.001. Therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected, and the data set is deemed appropriate for factor analysis (Stewart, 1981). Note that the significant value should be less than 0.05 for Bartlett's sphericity test to reject the hypothesis.

Latent Roots Criterion. The total value of the variances explained can be used to identify the expected outcome of exploratory factor analysis using the latent root criterion. The value of the Sum Square Loadings of the factors and the proportion variance of each factor are shown in the total variance explained. Table 4 shows that six factors can be retrieved from the set of items submitted for factor analysis using the latent root criterion. These six factors or dimensions account for 52.30 percent of the variance in the data.

Table 4. Factor Characteristics							
Factors	Sum	Sum Sq. Proportion var. Cumulative					
	Loadings						
1	4.925		0.112	0.112			
2	5.313		0.121	0.233			
3	5.048		0.115	0.347			
4	3.043		0.069	0.417			
5	2.543		0.058	0.474			
6	1.890		0.049	0.523			

Catell's Scree Plot



Figure 4. Catell's Scree Plot

The Cattell scree test plots the components as the X-axis and the corresponding eigenvalues as the Y-axis. As one moves to the right, the eigenvalues drop toward later components. When the drop ceases, and the curve makes an elbow toward a less steep decline, Cattell's scree test says to drop all further components after the one starting the elbow (Bartholomew, et al., 2008). Figure 5 shows that by laying a straight edge across the bottom portion of the roots, there are six (6) factors before the curve becomes approximately a straight line. All factors that have eigenvalues of 1.00 or higher were considered. Therefore, the results indicate that the extraction of six (6) factors is appropriate for this analysis.

Rotated Component Matrix

	Components					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
EFA40	0.798					
EFA43	0.745					
EFA41	0.667					
EFA44	0.644					
EFA42	0.644					
EFA34		0.676				

DDC Professional Journal Vol. 4 No. 2, August 2023 ISSN 1908-3130

EFA38	0.661				
EFA36	0.565				
EFA18	0.545				
EFA2		0.786			
EFA1		0.761			
EFA3		0.686			
EFA4		0.597			
EFA8		0.564			
EFA7		0.563			
EFA6		0.411			
EFA25			0.8		
EFA30			0.787		
EFA27			0.772		
EFA5			0.655		
EFA26			0.563		
EFA19			0.474		
EFA31				0.423	
EFA29				0.68	
EFA39				0.556	
EFA32				0.51	
EFA13					0.523
EFA16					0.519
EFA17					0.495
EFA9					0.442
EFA15					0.482

The 44 significant statements generated a total of six-factor structures. The extracted factors are then subjected to different labels according to each of the item's common theme of nature, namely: (1) Students' Efficient Self-Regulation, (2) Varied Assessment Types, (3) Instructors Favorable Personal

Attributes, (4) Interactive Online Learning Sessions, (5) Readily Available Self-Learning Materials, and (6) Remarkable Professional Competence.

FACTOR 1- Students' Efficient Self-Regulation

Table 6. Constructs and Loadings under the First Underlying Factor of Meaningful Learning Model forRadiologic Technology

Item	Students Efficient Self-Regulation	Coefficient
#		
40	I study on my own.	0.798
43	I make sure that everything is organized before the start of the class discussion.	0.745
41	I made my review from the notes provided by our instructor.	0.667
44	I am committed, disciplined, and motivated to study the course.	0.644
42	I accomplish my task ahead of time	0.644

Table 6 shows us that Factor 1 contains five extracted items. The pattern coefficient of the items under this factor ranges from 0.644 to 0.798. The item with the lowest coefficient is "I accomplish my task ahead of time" and "I am committed, disciplined, and motivated to study the course" with both 0.644, while the one with the highest coefficient of 0.708 is "I study on my own.". Each item under the first factor surpasses the acceptable value of +0.40 as the minimum requirement for the coefficient of the factor analysis. The five items grouped in Factor One have a common theme concerning the student's self-learning management and coping techniques. The factor structure is labeled as "Students **Efficient Self-Regulation.**"

In the study of Jung et al. (2017), academic self-efficacy and self-regulation have been recognized as strong non-cognitive factors of academic performance in college students and influence the relationship between personal attributes and academic performance among college students. This was supported by the study of Alipio (2020) in the context of Radiologic Technology learners in the Philippines, who concluded that self-regulation indirectly influenced self-efficacy through social support and motivation. Therefore, healthcare educators should design and promote techniques to boost students' adaptability and social support These can increase students' perceptions. Academic Self-Efficacy in both online and classroom settings. Faculty should also facilitate the establishment of online learning environments that are tailored to the needs and abilities of students (Warshawski, 2022). Notably, self-regulated learning does not begin on its own. It must cultivate or train students to be aware of their cognitive process and motivate them to participate actively in the process of achieving the desired objective of being selfregulated (DOE Victoria, 2022; Stephen & Szapkiw, 2021; Mou, 2021). Students must be able to self-regulate their learning in online learning settings because they must take responsibility for their learning (Mou, 2022). Learning institutions should concentrate on supporting self-regulated learning since it is relevant to the context of distant learning

(Berger,2021). Several ways to improve selfregulated learning have been established by previous researchers. These methods can be grouped into social connections, teaching techniques, and the educational environment (Mou, 2021; Panadero, 2017).

Amid a pandemic, it is critical to use motivation, monitoring, feedback, reflection, and metacognition to help students regulate their learning. Students set the learning goals they want to achieve through motivation or goal setting. This is the first step in self-regulated learning and serves as the foundation for all subsequent plans and behaviors. Monitoring includes both self-monitoring and monitoring by the teacher. Monitoring allows students to be aware of their learning process example of which is a learning diary which is a tool used for this purpose in many studies (Mou, 2021; Bruin et al., 2022; Kramarski & Rozen, 2018; Broadbent et al., 2020; Dignath et al., 2015). Additionally, Knowles, as cited by Stephen & Szapkiw (2021), suggested the use of a learning log-in to help students develop self-regulation in which students defined goals, identified the resources and tactics they'd need to attain them, and assessed their progress to link actions to outputs.

FACTOR 2- Varied Assessment Types

Table 7. Constructs and Loadings under the Second Underlying Factor of Meaningful Learning Model for Radiologic Technology

Item #	Varied Assessment Types	Coefficient
34	Essays are given during exams and activities	0.676
38	Identification types of questions are given during exams.	0.661
36	Enumeration and elaboration types of activities are given for learning evaluation.	0.565
18	Summative exams are given weekly	0.545

Table 7 shows us that Factor 2 contains four extracted items. The pattern coefficient of the items under this factor ranges from 0.545 to 0.676. The item with the lowest coefficient is "Summative exams are given weekly" with 0.545, while the one with the highest coefficient of 0.676 is "Essays are given during exams and activities." Each item under the first factor surpasses the acceptable value of +0.40 as the minimum requirement for the coefficient of the factor analysis. The four items grouped in factor two have a common theme about the assessment delivery. The factor structure is labeled as "**Varied Assessment Types.**"

Assessment has been a central part of the learning delivery process (Sekyi, 2016; Umar, 2017). It is better to have a deeper understanding of the relation of assessment to student learning since it has been found to significantly impact students' achievement (Nobre, 2021). Results of the study by Khankeh et al. (2019) revealed that educators are vital and significant components of assessment's educational influence. Their drive to conduct a proper assessment, competence to formulate test, attitude, understanding, and knowledge of the assessment's objective, as well as their clemency, can all have an impact on students' learning. Additionally, it has been found that assessment method characteristics such as format, content, score evaluation, duration of the

assessment, frequency, and the interval between assessments can have an impact on students' learning. Currently, Summative evaluations are the most typical assessments in universities. Summative assessments are used to determine what students have learned at the end of a course to go to the next level and guarantee they have satisfied the requirements for a degree (Umar, 2017). Lynch (2016) highlighted five critical points for a summative assessment to be effective. First is "Authenticity," in which assessment should reflect real-life practice. The second is "*Reliability*," which means consistency of results or standard results in a given condition. The third is "Volume," which refers to the educators avoiding overloading of exams. The fourth is "Validity," in which assessments should closely reflect the objective of the given topic. Lastly is "Variety", which has the largest impact on learners; thus intellectual, perceptual, and emotional learning domains should always be included while assessing.

FACTOR 3- Instructors' Favorable Personal Attributes

Table 8. Constructs and Loadings under the Third Underlying Factor of Meaningful Learning Model for Radiologic Technology

Item #	Instructors' Favorable Personal Attributes	Coefficient
2	The instructors are always available to answer student inquiries and concerns.	0.786
1	The instructors are approachable, understanding, and fair in every aspect.	0.761
3	The instructors are considerate regarding valid reasons (submission, financial, attendance) and provide enough time for the submission of activities and exams.	0.686
4	The instructor is strict with the deadline for submission.	0.597
8	The instructor maintains a healthy relationship with the students and constantly checks on us to see if we have learned something during lectures.	0.564
7	The instructor asks questions and randomly calls students to answer.	0.563
6	Frequent interactions between the instructor and the students during class immerse students in the learning process.	0.411

Table 8 shows us that Factor 3 contains seven extracted items. The pattern coefficient of the items under this factor ranges from 0.411 to 0.786. The item with the lowest coefficient is "Frequent interactions between the instructor and the students during class and immerse students in the learning process." with 0.411, while the one with the highest coefficient of 0.786 is "The instructors are always available to answer student inquiries and concerns.". Each item under the third factor surpasses the acceptable value of +0.40 as the minimum requirement for the

coefficient of the factor analysis. The seven items grouped in factor have a common theme about teachers' personalities towards students. With this, the factor structure is labeled as **"Instructors Favorable Personal Attributes."**

The instructor is both an educator and a scholar. In the classroom, however, students behave in the instructor's manner. During a course of study, the way the instructor acts, teaches the lesson and interacts with the student has a significant impact on their performance and learning goals (Maazouzi, 2019). More so, instructors' positive and negative behavior in the classroom impacts student learning to a considerable extent. Instructors' bad attitudes in the classroom may result in poor performance, while good attitudes expressed by teachers in the classroom may result in excellent performance. Therefore, a teacher's attitude, consciously or unconsciously, directly or indirectly affects students' academic performance. (OJO, 2018; Maazouzi, 2019; Ali, Ashraf, & Shuai 2019; Blazar & Kraft 2017). The study of Varga (2017), suggested that students' involvement and motivation in class will improve if positive relationships between teachers and students are built and maintained. Furthermore, the researcher observed the effects on the students' attitudes and demeanors after interventions were made. According to Maazouzi (2019), If an instructor has a pleasant attitude and strives to do his work

properly, he can make teaching more entertaining and productive. Furthermore, if he sees himself not only as an educator who imparts knowledge to students but also as an individual who is concerned about their needs and provides a healthy environment for learning (intrapersonal approach), he will achieve positive results (Madukwe, Onwuka & Nyejirime, 2019). Educators who can optimize students' learning capacity in a classroom setting are the best, and this can be accomplished by fostering academic success by creating a pleasant, respectful, and strong relationship with their students. But, this doesn't mean that teachers should neglect their teaching duties to become friends with their students. Instead, instructors who go out of their way to get to know their students on a personal level assist not only the learners' capacity to engage in the classroom but also the instructors' ability to engage the students (Sandlin, 2019).

FACTOR 4- Interactive Online Learning Sessions

Table 9. Constructs and Loadings under the Fourth Underlying Factor of Meaningful Learning Model forRadiologic Technology

Item	Interactive Online Learning Sessions	Coefficient
#		0.0
25	I here are scheduled laboratory activities that I could perform in the	0.8
	physical laboratory	
30	There are real-time virtual simulation software and makeshift lab	0.787
	equipment created by the students to stimulate real hospital/laboratory	
	applications.	
27	Synchronous/ live return demonstrations are done during laboratory	0.772
	assessments	
5	RT students undergo interactive synchronous classes frequently where	0.655
	cameras and microphones are turned on to stimulate real-time classroom	
	lectures and exams.	
26	There are laboratory activities that I could perform remotely using	0.563
	materials found in our home	
19	Cameras and microphones are turned on during synchronous	0.474
	examinations to stimulate face-to-face exams.	

Table 9 shows us that Factor 4 contains six extracted items. The pattern coefficient of the items under this factor ranges from 0.474 to 0.8. The item with the lowest coefficient is "Cameras and microphones are turned on during synchronous examinations to stimulate face-toface exams." with 0.474, while the one with the highest coefficient of 0.8 is "There are scheduled laboratory activities that I could perform in the physical laboratory." Each item under the fourth factor surpasses the acceptable value of +0.40 as the minimum requirement for the coefficient of the factor analysis. The six items grouped in factor four has a common theme regarding the utilization of various learning equipment and the application of interactive teaching technique. With this, the factor structure is labeled as **"Interactive Online Learning Sessions."**

Student involvement is one of the most significant factors in understanding how students respond to the teaching-learning process. Understanding student engagement at academic institutions will provide a better idea of how the university's instructions and academic procedures work, especially in an online environment (Delen & Liew, 2016; Delfino, 2019; Ginting, 2021; Kumar et al., 2021). According to Alamer & Alharbi (2021), most radiologic technology students evaluated distant online learning higher than traditional learning regarding instructorlearner interaction. Additionally, Interactive learning actively engages students, revitalizes the classroom for both students and instructors, encourages students to take charge of their learning, and fosters effective learning qualities (Begum, Ali & Panda, 2020). Various strategies for delivering interactive learning sessions during

online learning have been presented in the various research studies. Gray & DiLoreto (2016) described Interactive technology as an effective educational method for improving student meaningful learning outcomes and academic achievement. In the field of medical imaging technology, it was suggested that E-learning should be adopted by educational institutions, as well as innovative teaching tools and digital transformation. Technological advancements in radiography education must meet the issue of fostering remote or "off-site" radiography interpretative skills while encouraging selfmotivated study. Radiologic Technology educators should also continue to incorporate the usage of recorded cases, improve online lectures. purchase simulator-based training equipment, and create digital archives of educational cases. More so, various formats of interactive videos and multimedia animation have also been employed to improve information delivery and drive interactivity on multiple levels. With rich learner content and interactive video lectures, interaction can be enhanced. Teaching institutions should invest in relevant technology and incorporate the dynamic capabilities of an actual Radiology viewing platform, which enhances the medical imaging students' learning experience by simulating a real-life scenario case (Gaur et al., 2021; Hung & Chen, 2018; Tuma, 2021).

FACTOR 5- Readily Available Self-Learning Materials

Table 10. Constructs and Loadings under the Fifth Underlying Factor of Meaningful Learning Model for Radiologic Technology

Item #	Readily Available Self-Learning Materials	Coefficient
31	The instructors are hands-on in providing recorded video demonstrations and lectures performed inside the hospital and school facility.	0.423
29	I receive other learning materials such as modules and educational videos for self-study.	0.68
39	The activities and lectures are posted on a virtual classroom platform.	0.556
32	References and learning materials (books, websites, articles, PPTs, PDF files, notes, etc.) are provided by the instructor.	0.51

Table 10 shows us that Factor 5 contains four extracted items. The pattern coefficient of the items under this factor ranges from 0.423 to 0.51. The item with the lowest coefficient is "The instructors are hands-on in providing recorded video demonstrations and lectures performed inside the hospital and school facility." with 0.423, while the one with the highest coefficient of 0.51 is "References and learning materials (books, websites, articles, Ppt, Pdf files, notes, etc.) are provided by the instructor.". Each item under the fourth factor surpasses the acceptable value of +0.40 as the minimum requirement for the coefficient of the factor analysis. The four items grouped in factor five have a common theme regarding the utilization of self-learning materials and activities. With this, the factor structure is labeled as "Readily Available Self-Learning Materials."

Autonomous learning materials are critical to the successful implementation of independent learning goals and the development of student's ability and motivation for selfregulated learning. They became self-directed learners by providing them with relevant Autonomous learning materials to meet their selfevaluated learning needs (Xie, 2020). According to DepEd Secretary Leonor Briones, "The SLMs and other alternative learning delivery modalities are in place to accommodate the needs, situations, and resources of every student, and they will cover all the bases in ensuring that basic education will be accessible despite the current COVID-19 problem," (DepEd, 2020). About radiologic technology, various studies revealed that successful completion of the e-learning module and an increased number of sessions were predictive of improving Medical factors Radiation knowledge (CT, Radiation protection, and X-ray), where students preferred didactic lectures and clinical attachments to e-learning for medical radiation instruction. The development of a radiologic technology e-learning module is feasible and results in improved knowledge of radiation among medical medical undergraduates. Combining e-learning with more traditional educational programs, such as a clinical rotation, will likely enhance student learning (Kumar, Jothi, & Mathivanan, 2016; Leong et al., 2012; Fourré et al., 2020; Groth et al., 2018). Additionally, Xia (2020) suggested two important key factors to better deliver selflearning materials. First, instructors should be proficient at utilizing self-directed learning Second, in selecting selfmaterials. learning materials, schools and teachers should be evaluated. Different schools in distinct regions have different academic environments, with noticeable variances in students' cognitive levels. Therefore, students can improve their academic

performance by designing matching autonomous learning materials in a targeted manner and using

these resources in conjunction with the associated autonomous learning mode.

FACTOR 6- Remarkable Professional Competence

Table 11. Constructs and Loadings under the sixth Underlying Factor of Meaningful Learning Model for Radiologic Technology

Item	Remarkable Professional Competence	Coefficient
#		
13	Instructors provide a detailed explanation of every question asked by the	0.523
	students.	
16	An overview and introduction of the next topic are presented to the	0.519
	students before the day of its discussion.	
17	Pre-reading activities about the next topic are given before the day of the	0.495
	discussion.	
9	The topics are well-explained, and the instructor guides us during the	0.442
	learning process.	
15	The content of the instructor's presentation has creative visuals.	0.482

Table 11 shows us that Factor 6 contains five extracted items. The pattern coefficient of the items under this factor ranges from 0.482 to 0.523. The item with the lowest coefficient is "The topics are well-explained, and the instructor guides us during the learning process." with 0.442, while the one with the highest coefficient of 0.523 is "Instructors provide a detailed explanation of every question asked by the students.". Each item under the sixth factor surpasses the acceptable value of +0.40 as the minimum requirement for the coefficient of the factor analysis. The five items grouped in factor six have a common theme regarding instructors' strategy for delivering meaningful learning. With this, the factor structure is labeled as "Remarkable Professional Competence."

Teaching at every stage of education is intended to bring forth a fundamental shift in the learners' knowledge process. Teachers should use appropriate instructional strategies and methods that best suit specific aims and outcomes in every situation (Inyang, 2020). Learning will not be effective without a learning method. As

a result, numerous researchers have suggested various efficient learning approaches to ensure that the learning process runs smoothly. Every instructor must have a unique technique for delivering material to students. Therefore, instructors should apply methods of teaching such as Q & A, demonstration, training, recitation, small group discussion, problemscenarios, discussions based. case and (synchronous or asynchronous) which are very important in online teaching and many new methods that are emerging especially in the times of the pandemic (Sudjana, 2010 as cited by Munawaroha, 2017; Pressbook, n.d.; Wu, 2016; Tseng et al., 2019). According to the study by Bala et al. (2020), teaching technique has a significant impact on students' academic performance. The analysis demonstrates that discussion and demonstration teaching methods significantly improve students' academic performance over the passive and instructor lecture approach. Additionally, in the context of online learning, Wu (2021) suggested in his study that people have been unable to leave their homes

due to the outbreak. Instructors should implement an addition to synchronous activities in class during lectures, instructors should plan after-class asynchronous activities so that students can complete learning activities when they are unable to leave the classroom. More so, instructors should plan how they will respond to problems by adopting practical and experimental online courses.

As shown in Figure 5, with the use of Exploratory Factor Analysis, six factors characterize or comprise the meaningful learning model in Radiologic Technology. These six factors are labeled thematically with the following (1) Students' Efficient Self-Regulation, (2) Varied Assessment Types, (3) Instructors' Favorable Personal Attributes, (4) Interactive Online Learning Sessions, (5) Readily Available Self-Learning Materials, and (6) Remarkable Professional Competence.

These generated factors comprise a meaningful learning model for Radiologic Technology in the context of the pandemic, where distance education (blended, online, and modular) is implemented in every Radiologic Technology training institution across the country. This Meaningful learning model can be adopted by the Commission on Higher Education and every Radiologic Technology institution as a framework that would guide them in developing their approach and delivery in this sudden transition of educational delivery. With this, the researcher suggests that decision-makers and radiologic technology professional education society should prioritize the six factors in creating mandates and programs for the universities and colleges in the country.



Perception of Respondents to the Underlying Factors that Characterize Meaningful Learning in Radiologic Technology

Table 12 shows the descriptive results of the six generated factors that characterize meaningful learning of Radiologic Technology students. Their level is high based on the six factors' overall mean (M= 3.19). This means that most of the indicated items that characterize meaningful learning in radiologic technology are agreed upon by the RT students within the context of distance learning. This indicates that most of the 181 students who participated in the second phase of the study share the same perspective as to how radiologic technology courses can be made meaningful.

GENERATED FACTORS	Mean	Sd	Description
Students' Efficient Self-Regulation	3.31	0.58	Very High
Varied Assessment Types	3.30	0.52	Very High
Instructors' Favorable Personal Attributes	3.24	0.45	High
Interactive Online Learning Sessions	2.83	0.69	High
Readily Available Self-Learning Materials	3.36	0.49	Very High
Remarkable Professional Competence	3.12	0.62	High
1.00-1.75 Low 2.51-3.25 High;	1.76-2.50	Moderate	3.26-4.00 Very High

Table 12. Perception of Students on the Underlying Dimensions

Out of the six generated factors, the one with the highest average with an overall mean of 3.36 (SD=0.49) is the Readily Available Self-Learning Materials. This means that students agree significantly with the following items under this factor, namely: "The instructors are hands-on in providing recorded video demonstrations and lectures performed inside the hospital and school facility (M=3.17)", "I receive other learning materials such as modules and educational videos for self-study (M=3.25)", "The activities and lectures are posted on a virtual classroom platform. (M=3.55)", "References and learning materials (books, websites, articles, PPTs, PDF files, notes, etc.) are provided by the instructor (M=3.48)".

The factors that followed the Provision of Self-Learning Materials with a very high overall mean are the Students' Efficient Self-Regulation (M=3.31) and Varied Assessment Types (M=3.30). Meanwhile, the factors Instructors Favorable Personal Attributes (M=3.24) and Remarkable Professional Competence (M=3.12) have a high overall mean. The factor that garnered the lowest score based on descriptive statistics was Interactive Online Learning Sessions (M=2.83). According to Sugi et al. (2021), traditional medical imaging education teaching methods have not kept up with technological advances that promote successful transition into independent practice. The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated this gap, as the need for social distancing and the implementation of hybrid staffing models have reduced critical educational interactions. Online instructional methods have long been recognized as effective tools for learning; however, online learning can be difficult for students due to the lack of nonverbal communication.

Other factors, such as interactions between students and professors, material accessibility, and time management, can all have an impact on the opinions of online education participants (Khalil et al., 2020). Furthermore, some students have indicated that a lack of interaction is challenging for them, reflecting on their progress and personalities (Almahasees et al., 2021). According to Kumar et al., (2021), it is absurd to imagine learning without interaction since it is critical to the efficacy and effectiveness of today's blended learning systems. Learnercontent interaction is primarily responsible for the successful realization of expected learning outcomes.

Additionally, Effective teacher-student interaction is an essential requirement for deep

Conclusion and Recommendation

Based on the overall findings of the following conclusions study, the were formulated: In terms of gender profiling, Frequency distribution confirmed that out of 181 respondents, 117 or 64.8% were females, which dominates the number of participants in the study. In terms of year-level profiling, the highest number who participated in the study were the 4th-year students, 60 or 33% of the total respondents. The data presented implies that the Radiologic Technology Student respondents in terms of both sex and year level are distributed diversely.

Out of the extracted statements from the Radiologic Technology students, six (6) factors comprise the model of radiologic technology meaningful learning. The following are (1) Students' Self-Regulation and Efficacy, (2) Varied Assessment Types, (3) Instructors' Relations and Attributes, (4) Interactive Online Learning Sessions, (5) Provision of Self-Learning Materials, and (6) Professional Competence. Thus, with these factors, Radiologic Technology students perceived how meaningful education should be taught in the Radiologic Technology program. learning in the context of online education (Mu and Wang, 2019); it is the most potent factor in the online learning experience. Lin et al. (2017) revealed that interaction between online learners and teachers has a significant positive impact on both learning fulfillment and learning outcomes. According to Sun et al. (2022), the level of interaction between instructor and students has a positive impact on the learning involvement and mental environment. This demonstrates that the level of instructor-student interaction would affect students' learning effects in online education from a different dimension.

The descriptive result of the six generated factors that characterize meaningful learning of Radiologic Technology students has an overall mean of 3.19; described as a high level. This implies that most of the indicated items that characterize meaningful learning in radiologic technology are agreed upon by the Radiologic Technology students within the context of the Covid-19 pandemic. This indicates that most of the 181 students who participated in the second phase of the study share the same perspective as to how radiologic technology courses can be made meaningful. Furthermore, among the six factors of the learning model, the respondents identified the Provision of Self-Learning Materials as the most notable factor that characterizes meaningful learning in Radiologic Technology. On the other hand, Interactive Online Learning Sessions serve as the least notable factor.

Based on the findings and conclusions of the study, the following recommendations were presented: Commission of Higher Education officials may consider this learning model in their learning continuity plan and curriculum development for the Radiologic Technology Program. The study may serve as a framework and guide for them to better implement system protocols, provide guidelines and regulate standard rules in the instructional delivery of Radiologic Technology training, and provide a practical learning experience to the Radiologic Technology students of various training institutions.

Based on the results, various factors about the educators' professional ability and teaching character have been mentioned. School administrators may develop continuing professional training programs using in-house resources or outsource training from various professionals or experts in education training to improve and develop the necessary skills that are useful in the new mode of instructional delivery.

The factor that garnered the highest average in the perception of students regarding meaningful learning of Radiologic Technology is the Provision of Self-Learning Materials. Radiologic Technology educators and clinical instructors should consider developing printed and electronic learning materials as supplementals and references for the Radiologic Technology students, provided that these learning materials have undergone a series of planning and quality checks before distribution. This could help in the implementation of students' independent learning goals and may strengthen students' self-regulated learning skills, which are very useful in today's new mode of instructional delivery.

There should be extensive research and development of learning platforms that support Radiologic Technology training in the virtual setup in a comprehensive manner. This means that Radiologic Technology students' learning must not be limited to the analytical domain and that activities must be accessible and usable to all Radiologic Technology students.

It is suggested that future researchers may consider applying the same study in the context of other medical-related courses taught in Universities and colleges. Additionally, private and public training institutions may replicate the study to establish comparability of results to enhance the suggested learning model.

References

- Alamer, A., Alharbi, F. Synchronous distance teaching of radiology clerkship promotes medical students' learning and engagement. Insights Imaging 12, 41 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13244-021-00984-w
- Ali, M. R., Ashraf, B. N., & Shuai, C. (2019). Teachers' Conflict-Inducing Attitudes and Their Repercussions on Students' Psychological Health and Learning Outcomes. International journal of environmental research and public health, 16(14), 2534. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16142534
- Alipio, M. (2020, April 15). Structural Models of Self-Efficacy of Filipino Radiologic

Technology Educators, Current Learners, and Prospective Students in the Senior High School. https://doi.org/10.35542/osf.io/ezwgv

- Almahasees, Zakaryia & Mohsen, Khaled & Omer, Mohammed. (2021). Faculty's and. Students' Perceptions of Online Learning During COVID-19. Frontiers in Education. 6. 10.3389/feduc.2021.638470.
- Alsoufi, A., Alsuyihili, A., Msherghi, A., Elhadi,
 A., Atiyah, H., Ashini, A., Ashwieb, A.,
 Ghula, M., Ben Hasan, H., Abudabuos,
 S., Alameen, H., Abokhdhir, T., Anaiba,
 M., Nagib, T., Shuwayyah, A.,
 Benothman, R., Arrefae, G.,
 Alkhwayildi, A., Alhadi, A., Zaid, A., ...
 Elhadi, M. (2020). Impact of the COVID-

19 pandemic on medical education: Medical students' knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding electronic learning. PloS one, 15(11), e0242905. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.024 2905

Amir, L. R., Tanti, I., Maharani, D. A., Wimardhani, Y. S., Julia, V., Sulijaya, B., &

> Puspitawati, R. (2020). Student perspective of classroom and distance learning during COVID-19 pandemic in the undergraduate dental study program Universitas Indonesia. *BMC medical education*, 20(1), 392. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02312-0

- Amua-Sekyi, E. T. (2016). Assessment, Student Learning and Classroom Practice: A Review. Journal of Education and Practice, 7(2016), 1–6. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ11093 85.pdf
- Anwar, Kainat & Adnan, Muhammad. (2020). Online learning amid the COVID-19 pandemic: Students perspectives. Journal of Pedagogical Research. 1. 45-51. 10.33902/JPSP.2020261309.
- Arcadio, R., Leopando, Z., (2016). Current Status of Basic Medical Education in the Philippines. Issue 21 of NAST monograph series, ISSN 1655-4299. Retrieved from: https://issuu.com/maanalto/docs/final_7 _csbmep_2016
- Baticulon, R. E., Sy, J. J., Alberto, N., Baron, M., Mabulay, R., Rizada, L., Tiu, C., Clarion, C. A., & Reyes, J. (2021). Barriers to Online Learning in the Time of COVID-19: A National Survey of Medical Students in the Philippines. *Medical science educator*, *31*(2), 1–12. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40670-021-01231-z

- Begum, J., Ali, S. I., & Panda, M. (2020). Introduction of Interactive Teaching for Undergraduate Students in Community Medicine. Indian journal of community medicine: official publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine, 45(1), 72–76. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijcm.IJCM_232_ 19
- Berger, F., Schreiner, C., Hagleitner, W., Jesacher-Rößler, L., Roßnagl, S., & Kraler, C. (2021). Predicting Coping With Self-Regulated Distance Learning in Times of COVID-19: Evidence From a Longitudinal Study. Frontiers in psychology, 12, 701255. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.7012 55
- Blazar, D., & Kraft, M. A. (2017). Teacher and Teaching Effects on Students' Attitudes and Behaviors. Educational evaluation and policy analysis, 39(1), 146–170. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373716670 260
- Broadbent, J. & Panadero, E. & Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M. (2020). Effects of mobile-app learning diaries vs online training on specific self-regulated learning components. Educational Technology Research and Development. 68. 10.1007/s11423-020-09781-6.
- Bruner, J. (1960). The Process of Education. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J. (1997). The Culture of Education. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Burges, S. and Sievertsen, H.H. (2020), Schools, Skills, and Learning: The Impact of COVID-19 on Education, CEPR Policy Portal, Published: 01 April 2020, available at: https://voxeu.org/article/impact-covid-19-education (accessed September 15, 2021).
- Cadorin, L., Bagnasco, A., Tolotti, A., Pagnucci, N., & Sasso, L. (2016). Instruments for measuring meaningful learning in healthcare students: a systematic psychometric review. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 72(9), 1972–1990. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12926
- Carole Reeve, Torres Woolley, Simone J. Ross, Leila Mohammadi, Servando "Ben" Halili Jr, Fortunato Cristobal, Jusie Lydia J. Siega-Sur & A.-J. Neusy (2017) The impact of socially-accountable health professional education: A systematic review of the literature, Medical Teacher, 39:1, 67-

73, DOI: 10.1080/0142159X.2016.1231 914

- CHED (2018). POLICIESM STANDARDS AND **GUIDELINES** FOR THE BACHELOR OF SCIENCE IN RADIOLOGIC TECHNOLOGY (BSRT) EDUCATION PROGRAM Memorandum order No. 07. Retrieved from https://ched.gov.ph/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/CMO-No-07s.-2018-PSG-for-BS-Radiologic-Technology.pdf
- CHED. (2020). CHED COVID-19 ADVISORY NO. 3. Retrieved from https://ched.gov.ph/wpcontent/uploads/CHED-COVID-2019-Advisory-No.-3.pdf Cho, Yoonyoung; Kataoka, Sachiko; Piza, Sharon. 2021. Philippine Basic Education System: Strengthening Effective Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond. Philippines COVID-19 Monitoring Survey Policy Notes; World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/h andle/10986/35649 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.
- Cherry, S. J., & Flora, B. H. (2017). Radiography Faculty Engaged in Online Education: Perceptions of Effectiveness, Satisfaction, and Technological Self-

efficacy. Radiologic technology, 88(3), 249–262.

- Courtier, N., Brown, P., Mundy, L., Pope, E., Chivers, E., & Williamson, K. (2021). Expectations of therapeutic radiography students in Wales about transitioning to practice during the Covid-19 pandemic as registrants on the HCPC temporary register. *Radiography* (London, England: 1995), 27(2), 316–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2020.09.00 1
- Crawford, J., Butler-Henderson, K., Jurgen, R., Malkawi, B. H., Glowatz, M., Burton, R., Magni, P., & Lam, S. (2020). COVID-19: 20 countries' higher education intra-period digital pedagogy responses. Journal of Applied Learning & Teaching, 3. https://doi.org/10.37074/jalt.2020.3.1.7
- Daquis, M. A., Caparas, A. M., Zerrudo, J. I., & Mercado, L. (2016). Employability of BS Radiologic Technology Graduates from 2013 to 2015 as Input to Student Development Program. Asia Pacific Journal of Education, Arts and Sciences, 3(4), 91–99. http://apjeas.apjmr.com/wpcontent/uploads/2016/11/APJEAS-2016.3.4.13.pdf
- Delfino, A. (2019). STUDENT ENGAGEMENT AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE OF STUDENTS OF PARTIDO STATE UNIVERSITY. Asian Journal of University Education. 15. 42-55. 10.24191/ajue.v15i3.05.
- Delen, E., Liew, J. (2016). The Use of Interactive Environments to Promote Self-Regulation in Online Learning: A Literature Review. European Journal of Contemporary Education, 2016, Vol. (15), Is. 1, pp. 24-33, 2016.
- den Harder, A. M., Frijlingh, M., Ravesloot, C. J., Oosterbaan, A. E., & van der Gijp, A. (2016). The Importance of Human-Computer Interaction in Radiology Elearning. Journal of digital imaging,

29(2), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10278-015-9828-y

- DepEd prepares Self-Learning Modules for education's new normal. (2020, July). Retrieved June 7, 2022, from https://www.deped.gov.ph/2020/07/02/d eped-prepares-self-learning-modulesfor-educations-new-normal/
- De Sousa, A. T., Formiga, N. S., Oliveira, S. H., Costa, M. M., & Soares, M. J. (2015).Using the theory of meaningful learning in nursing education. *Revista brasileira de enfermagem*, 68(4), 626– 722. https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167.2015680420i
- Dignath, Charlotte & Fabriz, Sabine & Büttner, Gerhard. (2015). Fostering Self-Regulated Learning Among Students by Means of an Electronic Learning Diary: A Training Experiment. Journal of Cognitive Education and Psychology. 14. 10.1891/1945-8959.14.1.77.
- Dr. Isa, S. G., Dr. Mammam, M. A., Badar, Y. and Bala, T. 2020. "The impact of teaching methods on academic performance of secondary school students in Nigeria", International Journal of Development Research, Vol. 10, Issue, 06, pp. 37382-37385
- Ekperi, Paul & Onwuka, Ude & Wike Young, Nyejirime. (2019). Teachers' Attitude as a Correlate of Students' Academic Performance. III. 2454-6186.
- El Said, G. (2021). How Did the COVID-19 Pandemic Affect Higher Education Learning Experience? An Empirical Investigation of Learners' Academic Performance at a University in a Developing Country. Advances in Human-Computer Interaction. 2021. 1-10. 10.1155/2021/6649524.
- Fourré, Antoine & Fierens, Auriane & Vanden Dorpe, Noraly & Ris, Laurence & Dierick, Frédéric & Roussel, Nathalie. (2020). Feasibility and effectiveness of

an interactive e-learning module for the management of low back pain in health care professionals: a pilot study (Preprint). 10.2196/preprints.26444.

- FULL RESULTS: May 2021 Radtech, X-Ray Tech board exam list of passers, top 10. (2021, May 24). Https://Www.Thesummitexpress.Com/. https://www.thesummitexpress.com/202 1/05/full-results-may-2021-radtech-xray-tech-list-of-passers-top-10.html
- FundLife International. (2021, March 18). Fighting Against a World Without Education. Accessed from: https://reliefweb.int/report/philippines/fi ghting-against-world-without-education
- FutureLearn (2021, August 6). Explore: The education system in the Philippines. https://www.futurelearn.com/info/futurel earn-international/explore-philippineseducation-system
- Garcia, Manuel. (2017). E-Learning Technology Adoption in the Philippines: An Investigation of Factors Affecting Filipino College Students' Acceptance of Learning Management Systems. The International Journal of E-Learning and Educational Technologies in the Digital Media. 3. 118-130. 10.17781/P002374.
- Gepte, D. F. (nd). Medical Education in the Philippines. *Medical Research Information Center Global.* https://www.mricg.info/singlepost/2018/06/24/medical-education-inthe-philippines
- Ghazali, N., Mustakim, S., Nordin, M. (2020). DEVELOPMENT OF MEANINGFUL LEARNING SCALE (MeLearn). Journal of Critical Review. 7(9): 2107-2117 doi:10.31838/jcr.07.09.348 Retrieved from: https://www.bibliomed.org/mnsfulltext/ 197/197-1595052716.pdf?1632389404
- Ginting, D. (2021). Student Engagement and Factors Affecting Active Learning in English Language Teaching. VELES

Voices of English Language EducationSociety.5.215-228.10.29408/veles.v5i2.3968.

- Gray, J. & Diloreto, M. (2016). The Effects of Student Engagement, Student Satisfaction, and Perceived Learning in Online Learning Environments. International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation. 11. 89-119.
- Groth, M., Barthe, K. G., Riemer, M., Ernst, M., Herrmann, J., Fiehler, J., & Buhk, J. H. (2018). Critical Analysis of an e-Learning and Interactive Teaching Module with Respect to the Interpretation of Emergency Computed Tomography of the Brain, 190(4), 334https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0043-340. 124191
- Guinto, R. L. L. R. (2012, October 21). Medical education in the Philippines: medical students' perspectives. www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/artic le/PIIS0140-6736(13)60300-1/fulltext#articleInformation https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60300-1
- Halili S Jr, Cristobal F, Torres W, Ross J, Reeve C & A-J. Neusy (2017) Addressing health workforce inequities in the Mindanao regions of the Philippines: Tracer study of graduates from a socially-accountable, communityengaged medical school and graduates from a conventional medical school, Medical Teacher, 39:8, 859-865, DOI: 10.1080/0142159X.2017.1331035
- Hammerstein S, König C, Dreisörner T and Frey A (2021) Effects of COVID-19-Related School Closures on Student Achievement-A Systematic Review. Front. Psychol. 12:746289. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.746289
- Hung, I. C., & Chen, N. S. (2018). Embodied interactive video lectures for improving learning comprehension and retention. Computers & Education, 117, 116-131.

- Hui, D.S., Azhar, E.I., Madani, T.A., Ntoumi, F., Kock, R. and Dar, O. (2020), "The continuing 2019-nCoV epidemic threat of novel coronaviruses to global health – the latest 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak in Wuhan, China", International Journal of Infectious Diseases, Vol. 91 January 14, pp. 264-6.
- Huynh R. (2017). The Role of E-Learning in Medical Education. Academic medicine : journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges, 92(4), 430. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000 00001596
- Ilishkina, Daria & Bruin, Anique & Podolskiy, Andrey & Volk, Marina & Van Merrienboer, Jeroen J. G. (2022). Understanding self-regulated learning through the lens of motivation: Motivational regulation strategies vary with students' motives. International Journal of Educational Research. 113. 101956. 10.1016/j.ijer.2022.101956.
- Inyang, H. (2020, August 18). Cooperative Learning And Academic Performance Of Students In Biology. Https://Harrilibrary.Blogspot.Com/. Retrieved June 7, 2022, from https://harrilibrary.blogspot.com/2020/0 8/cooperative-learning-andacademic.html
- Japan International Cooperation Agency Nomura Research Institute, Ltd. (2015, May). Data Collection Survey for Higher Education Sector in the Philippines. Https://Issuu.Com/Maanalto/Docs/Final _7_csbmep_2016. https://openjicareport.jica.go.jp/pdf/122

33029.pdf

Joaquin J. J. B., Biana H. T., Dacela M. A. (2020) 'The Philippine Higher Education Sector in the Time of COVID-19', Frontiers in Education, 5, 208, 10.3389/feduc.2020.576371. Retrieved from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.33 89/feduc.2020.576371

- J. L. Siega-Sur, T. Woolley, S. J. Ross, C. Reeve & A-J. Neusy (2017) The impact of socially-accountable, communityengaged medical education on graduates in the Central Philippines: Implications for the global rural medical workforce, Medical Teacher, 39:10, 1084-1091, DOI: 10.1080/0142159X.2017.1354126
- Jung, K.-R., Zhou, A. Q., & Lee, R. M. (2017). Self-efficacy, self-discipline and academic performance: Testing a context-specific mediation model. Learning and Individual Differences, 60, 33–39.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2017.10.0 04

- Kaffenberger, M. (2021). Modelling the long-run learning impact of the Covid-19 learning shock: actions to (more than) mitigate loss. Int. J. Educ. Dev. 81:102326. doi: 10.1016/j.ijedudev.2020.102326
- Karl Nicole Nucum, Sep 2018, Radiologic Technology: What is this course about? Article retrieved from: https://portal.edukasyon.ph/blog/whatis-this-course-about-radiologictechnology
- Khalil, R., Mansour, A.E., Fadda, W.A. et al. The sudden transition to synchronized online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia: a qualitative study exploring medical students' perspectives.
 BMC Med Educ 20, 285 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02208-z
- Kordestani Moghaddam, A., Khankeh, H. R., Shariati, M., Norcini, J., & Jalili, M. (2019). Educational impact of assessment on medical students' learning at Tehran University of Medical Sciences: a qualitative study. BMJ open, 9(7), e031014. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031014

- Kumar, P. A., Jothi, R., & Mathivanan, D. (2016). Self-directed learning modules of CT scan images to improve students' perception of gross anatomy. Education for health (Abingdon, England), 29(2), 152–155. https://doi.org/10.4103/1357-6283.188778
- Kumar, P. & Saxena, C. & Baber, H. (2021). Learner-content interaction in e-learningthe moderating role of perceived harm of COVID-19 in assessing the satisfaction of learners. Smart Learning Environments. 8. 10.1186/s40561-021-00149-8.
- Lapitan, L., Jr., Tiangco, C. E., Sumalinog, D., Sabarillo, N. S., & Diaz, J. M. (2021). An effective blended online teaching and learning strategy during the COVID-19 pandemic. Education for Chemical Engineers, 35, 116–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ece.2021.01.01 2
- Lee, M., Hassan, F., & Vinokur, Z. (2020). Covid-19 Impact on Radiology Students' Distance Learning [Poster]. Covid-19 Impact on Radiology Students' Distance Learning. https://academicworks.cuny.edu/ny_pub s/603/
- Leong, Sum & Mc Laughlin, Patrick & O'Connor, Owen & Flynn, Siun & Maher, Michael. (2012). An Assessment of the Feasibility and Effectiveness of an E-Learning Module in Delivering a Curriculum in Radiation Protection to Undergraduate Medical Students. Journal of the American College of Radiology : JACR. 9. 203-9. 10.1016/j.jacr.2011.09.014.
- Lin, C. H., Zheng, B., and Zhang, Y. (2017). Interactions and learning outcomes in online language courses. Br. J. Educ. Technol. 48, 730–748. doi: 10.1111/bjet.12457
- Lorenzo-Alvarez, R., Pavia-Molina, J., & Sendra-Portero, F. (2018). Exploring the

Potential of Undergraduate Radiology Education in the Virtual World Second Life with First-cycle and Second-cycle Medical Students. Academic radiology, 25(8), 1087–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2018.02.02 6

Lynch, M. (2016, November 22). THE FIVE MAJOR FEATURES OF SUMMATIVE ASSESSMENTS.

Https://Www.Theedadvocate.Org/. Retrieved June 5, 2022, from https://www.theedadvocate.org/fivemajor-features-summative-assessments/

- Maazouzi, K. (2019). The Impact of Teacher's Personality and Behavior on Students' Achievement. Global Journal of HUMAN-SOCIAL SCIENCE: G Linguistics & Education, 19(9), 1–7. https://socialscienceresearch.org/index.p hp/GJHSS/article/download/3026/2915/
- Majumder, M., Gaur, U., Singh, K., Kandamaran, L., Gupta, S., Haque, M., Rahman, S., Sa, B., Rahman, M., & Rampersad, F. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on radiology education, training, and practice: A narrative review. World journal of radiology, 13(11), 354–370. https://doi.org/10.4329/wjr.v13.i11.354
- Marquez, L. P., Olivar, M. V. V., Brijuega, C. E., Ombao, R. P., Cerio, W. C., & Baes, F. D. (2020). Education and COVID-19: Experiences and insights from a developing country. ACCESS: Contemporary Issues in Education, 40(1), 84-90. https://doi.org/10.46786/ac20.5188
- Mou, Tsai-Yun. (2021). Online learning in the time of the COVID-19 crisis: Implications for the self-regulated learning of university design students. Active Learning in Higher Education. 146978742110512. 10.1177/14697874211051226.

- Mu, S., and Wang, X. J. (2019). Research on deep learning strategies in online learning. Distance Educ. China 10, 29–39+93.
- Munawaroh. (2017). The Influence of Teaching Methods and Learning Environment to the Student's Learning Achievement of Craft and Entrepreneurship Subjects at Vocational High School. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF **ENVIRONMENTAL** & **SCIENCE** EDUCATION, 12(4). 665-678. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ11448 59.pdf
- Nobre, V. (2021, January 11). Traditional Assessment And Its Characteristics. Https://Newroutes.Com. Retrieved June 4, 2022, from https://newroutes.com.br/covertopic/traditional-assessment-and-itscharacteristics/
- Nunnally, J. C. (1967). Psychometric Theory. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Oducado, R. M. F., & Estoque, H. (2021). Online Learning in Nursing Education During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Stress, Satisfaction, and Academic Performance. Journal Of Nursing Practice, 4(2), 143– 153.

https://doi.org/10.30994/jnp.v4i2.128

- Ogura, A., Hayashi, N., Negishi, T., & Watanabe, H. (2018). Effectiveness of an e-Learning Platform for Image Interpretation Education of Medical Staff and Students. Journal of digital imaging, 31(5), 622– 627. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10278-018-0095-6
- OJO, O. J. (2018). Teachers' Professional Attitudes and Students' Academic Performance in Secondary Schools in Ilorin Metropolis of Kwara State. eJournal of Education Policy, 1–7. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ12038 31.pdf
- Oliver, P. (2013). Purposive sampling. In V. Jupp (Ed.), The SAGE Dictionary of Social

Research Methods. Retrieved from https://methods.sagepub.com/reference/t he-sage-dictionary-of-social-researchmethods

- Panadero E. (2017). A Review of Self-regulated Learning: Six Models and Four Directions for Research. Frontiers in psychology, 8, 422. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.0042 2
- Papapanou, M., Routsi, E., Tsamakis, K., Fotis, L., Marinos, G., Lidoriki, I., Karamanou, M., Papaioannou, T. G., Tsiptsios, D., Smyrnis, N., Rizos, E., & Schizas, D. (2021). Medical education challenges and innovations during COVID-19 pandemic. *Postgraduate medical journal*, postgradmedj-2021-140032. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/postgradmedj-2021-140032
- Papillion, E., & Aaron, L. (2017). Student Perceptions of Online Radiologic Science Courses. *Radiologic technology*, 88(4), 366–372.
- Parentela, Gil & Vargas, Danilo. (2021). Pandemic Era (COVID-19) and Higher Education in the Philippines against the World Perspective: A Literature Survey Analysis. SSRN Electronic Journal. 10.2139/ssrn.3786765.
- Pressbook. (n.d.). Delivering Instruction in the Classroom.

Https://Iopn.Library.Illinois.Edu/.

Retrieved June 8, 2022, from https://iopn.library.illinois.edu/pressboo ks/instructioninlibraries/chapter/deliveri ng-instruction-in-the-classroom/

Rabe A, Sy M, Cheung W, Lucero-Prisno D, (2020) COVID-19 and Health Professions Education: A 360° View of the Impact of a Global Health Emergency, MedEdPublish, 9, [1], 148, https://doi.org/10.15694/mep.2020.0001 48.1

- Radiologic technologist. (n.d.). Https://Explorehealthcareers.Org/. Retrieved September 22, 2021, from https://explorehealthcareers.org/career/al lied-health-professions/radiologictechnologist/
- Rappler. (2021, April 11). [New School] On the lack of healthcare professionals in the Philippines. Retrieve from: https://www.rappler.com/voices/newschool/new-school-lack-healthcareprofessionals-philippines
- Retrouvey, M., Trace, A. P., Goodmurphy, C. W., & Shaves, S. (2018). JOURNAL CLUB: Redefining the Radiology Curriculum in Medical School: Vertical Integration and Global Accessibility. AJR. American journal of roentgenology, 210(1), 118– 122.

https://doi.org/10.2214/AJR.17.18211

- Reyes, A. L. T. (2018). The Current Status of Basic Medical Education in the Philippines [Slides]. Https://Www.Uermafusa.Com. https://www.uermafusa.com/convention-2018-chicago/cme/session1/5-Current% 20Status% 200f% 20Philippine % 20% 20Medical% 20Education.pdf
- Rogers, C. (1959). A THEORY OF THERAPY, PERSONALITY, AND INTERPERSONALRELATIONSHIPS, AS DEVELOPED IN THE CLIENT-CENTERED FRAMEWORK. McGraw Hill.
- Rotas, Erwin & Cahapay, Michael. (2020). Difficulties in Remote Learning: Voices of Philippine University Students in the Wake of COVID-19 Crisis. 15. 147-158. 10.5281/zenodo.4299835.
- Salinas, G. O. (2021). THE NIGHTMARE OF RADIOLOGIC TECHNOLOGY INSTRUCTORS AS NEW PEDAGOGY IS EMERGING: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY. Davao Doctors College, Inc.

- Sandlin, Cole, "Teacher Personality and Student Engagement: A Case Study" (2019). Digital Commons @ACU, Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 155.
- Santos, A. P. (2020, October 6). In the Philippines, distance learning reveals the digital divide. Retrieved in: https://eu.boell.org/en/2020/10/06/philip pines-distance-learning-reveals-digitaldivide
- Self regulated learning. (2022, March 20). Www.Education.Vic.Gov.Au. Retrieved June 3, 2022, from https://education.vic.gov.au/school/teach ers/teachingresources/high-abilitytoolkit/Pages/self-regulatedlearning.aspx
- Stephen, J. S., & Rockinson-Szapkiw, A. J. (2021). A high-impact practice for online students: the use of a first-semester seminar course to promote selfregulation, self-direction, online learning self-efficacy. Smart Learning Environments, 8(1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-021-00151-0
- Simbulan, N. P. (2020, June 4). The Philippines COVID-19 and Its Impact on Higher Education in the Philippines. Accessed from: https://headfoundation.org/2020/06/04/c ovid-19-and-its-impact-on-higher-

education-in-the-philippines/

- Sugi, M.D., Kennedy, T.A., Shah, V. et al. Bridging the gap: interactive, case-based learning in radiology education. Abdom Radiol 46, 5503–5508 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00261-021-03147-z
- Sun, H. L., Sun, T., Sha, F. Y., Gu, X. Y., Hou, X. R., Zhu, F. Y., & Fang, P. T. (2022). The Influence of Teacher-Student Interaction on the Effects of Online Learning: Based on a Serial Mediating Model. Frontiers in psychology, 13, 779217.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.7792 17

- Tan, Consilz. (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on student motivation, community of inquiry and learning performance. Asian Education and Development Studies. ahead-of-print. 10.1108/AEDS-05-2020-0084.
- Teo, L. W., Pang, T., Ong, Y. J., & Lai, C. (2020).
 Coping with COVID-19: Perspectives of Student Radiographers. *Journal of medical imaging and radiation sciences*, 51(3), 358–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2020.05.00 4
- Tzohar-Rozen, M & Kramarski, B. (2018). Metacognition, Motivation, and Emotions: Contribution of Self-Regulated Learning to Solving Mathematical Problems.
- Joaquin JJB, Biana HT and Dacela MA (2020) The Philippine Higher Education Sector in the Time of COVID-19. Front. Educ. 5:576371. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2020.576371
- Tuazon, B. M. (2020). A true national emergency bill. Inquirer.Net. https://opinion.inquirer.net/129630/atrue-national-emergency-bill
- Tuma F. (2021). The use of educational technology for interactive teaching in lectures. Annals of medicine and surgery (2012), 62, 231–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2021.01.0 51
- Tseng, H., Yi, X., and Yeh, H.-T. (2019). Learning-related Soft Skills Among Online Business Students in Higher Education: Grade Level and Managerial Role Differences in Self-Regulation, Motivation, and Social Skill. Comput. Hum. Behav. 95, 179–186. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2018.11.035
- Umar, A. (2018). The Impact of Assessment for Learning on Students' Achievement in English for Specific Purposes A Case

Study of Pre-Medical Students at Khartoum University: Sudan. English Language Teaching. 11. 15. 10.5539/elt.v11n2p15.

- UNESCO Institute of Statistics. (2020). Education and literacy: Philippines. Data for the Sustainable Development Goals. http://uis.unesco.org/en/country/ph
- UNESCO. (2020). COVID-19 Educational Disruption and Response. Retrieved from https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationr esponse
- UNESCO. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on ECCE sector: Lesson learned and promising practices from the Asia-Pacific. https://en.unesco.org/sites/default/files/u nesco-covid-19 ed-webinar-14-unesco-
- bangkok.pdf Varga, M. (2017, May). The Effect of Teacher-Student Relationships on the Academic Engagement of Students. Graduate Programs in Education Goucher College. https://mdsoar.org/bitstream/handle/116 03/3893/VargaMeagan_paper.pdf?seque nce=1
- Vinokur, Z. (2016). Educational Challenges in Radiologic Technology. International Conference on Oncology Nursing, Cancer Care & Radiology and Imaging, 5(5). https://doi.org/10.4172/2324-9110.C1.002
- Ward, T. C. (2021, August). Virtual Technology in Radiologic Technology Classrooms: The Educational Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic. https://etd.auburn.edu/bitstream/handle/ 10415/7851/Dissertation_TW_Final7-16-21.pdf?sequence=2
- Warshawski S. (2022). Academic self-efficacy, resilience and social support among firstyear Israeli nursing students learning in online environments during COVID-19 pandemic. Nurse education today, 110, 105267.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.1052 67

- Williams, S. (2006). The Effectiveness of Distance Education in Allied Health Science Programs: A Meta-Analysis of Outcomes. American Journal of Distance Education. 20. 127-141. 10.1207/s15389286ajde2003 2.
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak (https://www.who.int) retrieved as on September 15, 2021.
- Worldometer (2021). Coronavirus Update. Worldometer. Available online at: https://www.worldometers.info/coron avirus/ (accessed September 15, 2020).
- Wu, Sheng-Yi. (2021). How Teachers Conduct Online Teaching During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Case Study of Taiwan. Frontiers in Education. 6. 10.3389/feduc.2021.675434.
- Wu, S.-Y. (2016). The Effect of Teaching Strategies and Students' Cognitive Style on the Online Discussion Environment. Asia-pacific Edu Res. 25 (2), 267–277. doi:10.1007/s40299-015-0259-9
- Xie, Z. (2020) Effectiveness of autonomous learning materials for students during the COVID-19 pandemic: A case study of the Daxie Second Elementary School in Ningbo, Zhejiang, China. Sci Insigt Edu Front 2020; 6(1):613-624.
- Yang C, Chen A, Chen Y (2021) College students' stress and health in the COVID-19 pandemic: The role of academic workload, separation from school, and fears of contagion. PLoS ONE 16(2): e0246676. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.024

c *c*

Yapo, Franz & Tabiliran, John & Dagami, Arianne & Navales, Krizia & Tus, Jhoselle. (2021). The Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation of the Graduating College Students during the COVID-19 Pandemic in the Philippines.

6676

InternationalJournalOfAdvanceResearchAndInnovativeIdeasInEducation.7.2021.10.6084/m9.figshare.14784885.v1.